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          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Good morning. I

          3  am Council Member Archie Spigner and I chair the

          4  Committee on Housing and Buildings.

          5                 Today's hearing will be in two parts:

          6  The first we will be looking at three bills that I

          7  expect to vote out today. All three of these bills

          8  continue, they continue tax exemption and abatements

          9  under what is commonly referred to as J-51 an 421-A

         10  programs that have been in effect for a number of

         11  years.

         12                 Intro. No. 458 extends the J-51

         13  program for multiple dwellings. Intro. No. 460

         14  extends what is often referred to as J-51 for single

         15  room occupancy housing, SROs, and proposed Intro.

         16  No. 461-A extends the law lifting the band on the

         17  allowance of 421-A benefits for new constructions in

         18  Manhattan and in zoning districts where base Floor

         19  Area Ratios, FAR, of 15 or greater are permitted as

         20  of right.

         21                 The Department of Housing

         22  Preservation and Development will testify on these

         23  tax proposals, and then I will call for a vote.

         24                 When we have completed this portion

         25  of the hearing, we will hear testimony on proposed

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  Intro. No. 363-A regarding illegal conversions.

          3                 We are joined by Council Member

          4  Thomas Ognibene, the leader of the Republican

          5  Council, Council Member John Sabini is with us, and

          6  other members are in attendance at other business at

          7  this time.

          8                 Seated at the table, I see officials

          9  from the Department of Housing Preservation and

         10  Development. Gentlemen, if you will identify

         11  yourselves for the record, we will then be delighted

         12  to hear your statement on J-51, 421-A, Intro numbers

         13  458, 460 and 461-A.

         14                 MR. GARDELLA: Good morning, Mr.

         15  Chair, and members of the Committee. I am James

         16  Gardella, Director of Intergovernmental Affairs at

         17  HPD, and with me is Jamie Smart, Director of Tax

         18  incentive Programs at HPD.

         19                 We are very pleased to have the

         20  opportunity to be here today to testify on behalf of

         21  extending a very important program that renovates

         22  and keeps healthy the City's housing stock, so we

         23  will get to it because I know you have a full agenda

         24  today.

         25                 MR. SMART: Good morning, Chairman
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          2  Spigner, and members of the Housing and Buildings

          3  Committee.

          4                 As Jim said, my name is Jamie Smart,

          5  and I am Director of Tax Incentive Programs at HPD.

          6  I am speaking today on behalf of Commissioner

          7  Richard Roberts of the Department of Housing

          8  Preservation and Development.

          9                 I appreciate the opportunity to

         10  testify in favor of Intro. No. 458, which amends

         11  section 11-243 of New York City's Administrative

         12  Code.

         13                 By extending the J-51 law, this bill

         14  would preserve what is the principle catalyst for

         15  accomplishing housing rehabilitation in New York

         16  City, the J-51 tax exemption and abatement program.

         17                 Intro. No. 58 will extend the law

         18  through December 31st, 2003. In June of 1998, the

         19  State Legislature extended and Governor Pataki

         20  signed the Giuliani Administration Program

         21  legislation, which authorizes section 489 of the New

         22  York State Real Property Tax Law to be extended

         23  until December 31st, 2003, so long as similar

         24  extender legislation is passed by the City Council.

         25                 The current J-51 local law will
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          2  sunset in December of 1999. We strongly urge passage

          3  of Intro. No. 458 to extend the J-51 program in New

          4  York City.

          5                 Since 1955, the City's J-51 tax

          6  exemption and abatement program has encouraged

          7  owners of multiple dwellings to upgrade and renovate

          8  their building in exchange for significant

          9  reductions in, or elimination of their annual

         10  property tax bill.

         11                 J-51 provides both tax abatement and

         12  tax exemption benefits that approximate the dollar

         13  cost of the rehabilitation performed on multiple

         14  dwellings.

         15                 Originally conceived of as a way to

         16  encourage property owners to convert cold water

         17  flats to centrally heated housing, the J-51 program

         18  has evolved to encompass nearly every housing

         19  system, from building-wide recycling systems to

         20  replacements of windows, wiring and boilers in

         21  apartment buildings.

         22                 Since the Council last took action by

         23  extending the J-51 law of 1995, approximately

         24  325,000 units of housing have received improvements

         25  or upgrades through J-51 tax expenditures worth
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          2  about $300,000 million.

          3                 In any given fiscal year, between 80

          4  and 100,000 units of housing would be renovated with

          5  the assistance of J-51.

          6                 The J-51 law provides other benefits

          7  to apartment dwellers in New York. For example, in

          8  order to receive J-51 tax benefits, property owners

          9  must prove that their housing is free of serious

         10  hazardous building and housing maintenance code

         11  violations.

         12                 Property owners must also establish

         13  that their tax bills are up-to-date.

         14                 This ensures that any housing

         15  receiving J-51 tax benefits is safe and that it is

         16  not subject to any potential foreclosure action by

         17  the City.

         18                 In addition, property owners must

         19  subject their rental units to rent stabilization to

         20  receive J-51 tax benefits, unless units are already

         21  luxury de-controlled.

         22                 Therefore, J-51 provides an important

         23  benefit for tenants in apartment buildings,

         24  especially as market rents continue to rise.

         25                 However, notwithstanding all of the
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          2  impressive achievements of the J-51 program in the

          3  past, that program will end this year, unless the

          4  Council now passes Intro. No. 458, which will extend

          5  the J-51 laws to the end of Calendar Year 2003.

          6                 Therefore, on behalf of Commissioner

          7  Roberts, I urge passage of Intro. No. 458 as soon as

          8  possible.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, thank you,

         10  Mr. Smart. Your statement is very comprehensive and

         11  clear, even I can understand it. And it is like

         12  motherhood, I don't imagine any members would have

         13  any objection.

         14                 Do any members of the Council have

         15  any questions for Mr. Smart?

         16                 All right, Mr. Smart. Do you now want

         17  to testify on 421, since there are no questions from

         18  the members of the Committee?

         19                 MR. GARDELLA: We are testifying now

         20  on 488-A, the extension of 488-A, which is Intro.

         21  No. 480. Intro. 480, which as the chairman correctly

         22  stated in the beginning, in essence, is J-51 for

         23  SROs.

         24                 MR. SMART: I also appreciate the

         25  opportunity to testify in favor of Intro. No. 480,
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          2  which amends Section 11-244 of New York City's

          3  Administrative Code.

          4                 This bill would prevent the SRO tax

          5  exemption program from sunsetting at the end of

          6  December 1999. By also extending the program through

          7  December 2002. In June of 1998, the State

          8  Legislature extended the enabling legislation,

          9  Section 488-A of the New York State Real Property

         10  Tax Law until December 31st, 2002.

         11                 The law, which was also signed by the

         12  Governor, mirrors the bill that is before you today.

         13                 Passage of Intro. No. 480 is required

         14  to extend this program in New York City.

         15                 Under this program, SRO owners

         16  receive tax abatement and exemption for improving

         17  and rehabilitating their property. Eligible

         18  improvements include but are not limited to heating

         19  system replacements, rewiring, replacement or

         20  upgrading of plumbing and other substantial

         21  rehabilitations --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Excuse me, Mr.

         23  Smart.

         24                 You mentioned 460 and 480 in another

         25  portion or your testimony.
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          2                 MR. SMART: I am sorry.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is it 460 or

          4  480. I think it is 460, right?

          5                 MR. SMART: Yes, it us 460, sir.

          6  Sorry.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you want to

          8  start at the second paragraph?

          9                 MR. SMART: Yes.

         10                 Under this program, SRO owners

         11  receive tax abatement and exemption for improving

         12  and rehabilitating their properties.

         13                 Eligible improvements include, but

         14  are limited to -- but are not limited to-- excuse me

         15  -- heating system replacements, rewiring,

         16  replacement or upgrading of plumbing and other

         17  substantial rehabilitation of buildings.

         18                 Recognizing that these buildings are

         19  overwhelmingly occupied by low-income persons, the

         20  program prohibits rent increases based on the cost

         21  of improvements, unless the improvements are funded

         22  by a government loan.

         23                 In the case of applicants receiving

         24  government loans, rents are regulated by HPD and

         25  rental assistance provided as available.
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          2                 These tax benefits enable owners to

          3  upgrade SRO housing without displacing low-income

          4  tenants. It is in the City's interest to preserve

          5  this low-income housing resource.

          6                 The 488-A program is quite small.

          7  Since the Council last extended the 488 law, only

          8  two SRO projects received assistance to the program.

          9  One reason for the small size of 488-A is that

         10  renovations of SRO and similar type supportive

         11  housing projects are also assisted by federal

         12  low-income housing tax credits.

         13                 Such low-income housing credit

         14  qualify the projects to receive tax benefits under

         15  section 420-C of the New York State Real Property

         16  Tax Law.

         17                 Since 1995, approximately 3,000

         18  renovated SRO units Citywide have received 420-C tax

         19  exemptions. Intro. No. 460 would extend the 488 law,

         20  thereby ensuring that property owners, developers

         21  and operators of SRO housing, that they will have a

         22  multitude of tax benefit options available whether

         23  488-A, J-51 or 420-C, with which to carry out the

         24  all important and ongoing renovation of the City's

         25  SRO housing stock.
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          2                 Therefore, passage of Intro. No. 460

          3  is urged as soon as possible.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Smart. Clearly, in your testimony and personal

          6  experience we clear in our mind that the value of

          7  these public policy measures have been proven and

          8  are deserving of being extended.

          9                 So, does any member of the Committee

         10  have a question or a comment at this time?

         11                 All right, Mr. Small, and your

         12  colleague, Mr. Gardella, are excused, and we want to

         13  thank you, and give our best to Commissioner

         14  Roberts.

         15                 MR. GARDELLA: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We are just

         17  going to take a brief recess for five-minutes.

         18                 (Recess taken.)

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We will not

         20  resume our hearing. We are joined now by members,

         21  Council Member Leffler, Council Member Nelson, who

         22  is a member of the Housing and Buildings Committee,

         23  Council Member Provenzano, and others.

         24                 So, Council Member Leffler has asked

         25  to be recognized.
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          2                 Council Member Leffler, do you want

          3  to be recognized?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I will be

          5  glad to. Thank you.

          6                 I would like to speak in favor of

          7  Intro. 458, authorizing the City to provide J-51 tax

          8  benefits to eligible conversion, alterations or

          9  improvements on existing multiple dwellings.

         10                 J-51 tax benefits provide a necessary

         11  incentive for owners of multiple dwellings to

         12  improve and maintain the City's housing stock.

         13                 These incentives are critically

         14  important, given the current housing crisis in the

         15  City, in order to maintain affordable housing.

         16                 Tax exemption and abatement programs

         17  are but one mechanism to attack the housing crisis

         18  that we suffer from. I have suggested other ways to

         19  increase the diminishing housing stock in testimony

         20  recently before the Assembly Housing Ways and Means

         21  Committee.

         22                 To keep New Yorkers in their homes we

         23  have to maintain rent regulations as well. I also

         24  support the illegal conversion measure, Intro.

         25  363-A, before us today. But I think the measure with
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          2  respect to the J-51 tax benefit, Intro. 458, would

          3  also be worthwhile in order to maintain our

          4  residences and hopefully curb existing illegal

          5  conversions and alterations.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          8  Council Member Leffler.

          9                 We will now have a roll call on

         10  Intro. 461-A, proposed Intro. 461-A, Intro. 45-A and

         11  Intro. 460.

         12                 Mr. Clerk, will you please call the

         13  roll.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Spigner.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: For a variety of

         16  reasons, primarily because are programs that have

         17  demonstrated their value and worth in strengthening

         18  New York City's housing situation, I am delighted to

         19  vote aye.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CHERRY: Marshall.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: For all of

         22  the reasons that our chairman stated, I certainly

         23  vote aye. We need as much help as we can in gaining

         24  housing and certainly this is an important piece of

         25  legislation in that direction; I vote aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Provenzano.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Aye.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Nelson.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: All

          6  legislation should be as common-sensical as this. I

          7  vote aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Ognibene.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Mr.

         10  Chairman, may I be excused to explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, Council

         12  member.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: I am going

         14  to vote aye on 458, 460 and 461-A. Although, at

         15  times I have had some philosophical differences with

         16  them, I think under the circumstances of housing in

         17  the City of New York that they have been effective,

         18  and I believe they should be continued.

         19                 Also, Mr. Chairman, as you know, we

         20  discussed earlier that I have some matters on the

         21  state level as part of my duties with the State

         22  Buildings Codes Council and I will have to leave

         23  after the vote.

         24                 However, I did want to comment on a

         25  proposed legislation before us on which we are going
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          2  to be having a hearing on 363-A, and if, with your

          3  permission, if I could just briefly comment on it?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: At the

          5  conclusion of the roll call.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you

          7  very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Continue the

          9  roll call.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: By a vote of

         11  five in the affirmative, none in the negative, with

         12  no abstentions, the items are adopted. Please sign

         13  the reports.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Since we

         15  still have a few of our members who are on their

         16  way, we will keep the roll call open for a

         17  reasonable period of time.

         18                 Now, again, I am the Chair of the

         19  Housing and Buildings Committee, and this is the

         20  second part of our hearing at this portion of

         21  today's hearing. We will be considered proposed

         22  Intro. No. 363-A, a bill proposed by the Queens

         23  Borough President, in relation to illegal apartment

         24  conversions.

         25                 This bill strengthens the requirement
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          2  when filing tax conveyances on buildings with six or

          3  fewer legal apartments and SROs by requiring

          4  affidavits from buyers and sellers and when

          5  applicable the sellers real estate agent, stating

          6  the number of units in the building, and the

          7  certificate of occupancy.

          8                 It also seeks to increase the ability

          9  to enforce against contracts who do illegal

         10  conversions by amending the consumer protection law

         11  so that home improvement contracts who violate a

         12  stop work order will be deemed to be involved in

         13  unlicensed activity.

         14                 Finally, the bill seeks to decrease

         15  the fines assessed on those individuals who live in

         16  houses with a violation for an illegal apartment,

         17  those who have taken steps to evict the illegal

         18  tenant and cure the violation. I am sure there will

         19  be a lot of testimony discussed here today, that is

         20  fine. This is the first hearing on the bill and the

         21  Committee will not be voting on this today.  There

         22  are a number of people who want to testify on this

         23  bill and we will try to hear everyone. I will,

         24  however, ask you to be considerate and to keep your

         25  comments as short as possible, especially if you are
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          2  repeating points made by earlier speakers.

          3                 As our first witness, I was looking

          4  for the Queens Borough President who wanted to make

          5  statements, I don't see her in the room at this

          6  time.

          7                 I am informed that the Department of

          8  Buildings, the Department of Consumer Affairs will

          9  be testifying and then we will take testimony from

         10  the members of the public.

         11                 Before that I have members of the

         12  Committee, two of them in particular, the Minority

         13  Leader, who wants to make a statement on this

         14  legislation, and then followed by a member of the

         15  Council, John Sabini.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER OGNIBENE: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman.

         18                 As you know, the problem of illegal

         19  conversions has been a daunting one, particularly

         20  for those of us in Queens County and certainly in

         21  certain sections of my community, particularly

         22  Richmond Hill and Ridgewood Queens, where they seem

         23  to proliferate.

         24                 As a result, two years ago we passed

         25  legislation in August of 1997, giving greater
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          2  authority to the Buildings Department to pursue and

          3  to root out illegal conversions.

          4                 As of this date I am told that it has

          5  been successful, but we are sure that we can do

          6  things that can increase the potential for more

          7  rational enforcement.

          8                 I have had the opportunity to review

          9  this legislation, and I know it is just an initial

         10  draft and will be subject to lengthy hearings at

         11  this Council, and must say that although it is a

         12  well-intentioned piece of legislation, and I think

         13  there are some good provisions with it, I do have

         14  some difficulty with some portions of it.

         15                 As an attorney whose practice for 25

         16  years in Queens County, I am always suspect of

         17  documents that may encumber the transfer of real

         18  estate and documents to be delivered at the time of

         19  closing, particularly when they are affidavits from

         20  persons who may not otherwise be fully familiar with

         21  the real estate transaction or fully involved in the

         22  real estate transaction, having them testify to

         23  things which may not be totally within their

         24  knowledge, and in a sense it attempts to create a

         25  perjury trap when there are other methods to do
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          2  enforcement. I know particularly with buyers and

          3  sellers and for buildings built before 1938, there

          4  are problems with exactly what constitutes the legal

          5  occupancy of the building, since there were no C of

          6  O's and there are many constructions that are done

          7  to the real property, which are either legal or can

          8  otherwise be legal and some that no matter what you

          9  do cannot be.

         10                 And these records are particularly

         11  within the province of the Building Department and

         12  should be handled more forthrightly that way than

         13  having an affidavit.

         14                 I understand that real estate brokers

         15  sometimes overstep their bounds in regards to the

         16  selling of the building, I think, though, that to

         17  encumber and otherwise prevent a real estate

         18  transaction from consummating by requiring them to

         19  sign an affidavit may be going a bit too far, and it

         20  may be a degree unfair to both the buyers and the

         21  sellers and to some degree to the real estate

         22  brokers, who unlike other jurisdictions are not

         23  intimately involved in the real estate transaction.

         24                 There are mechanisms through the

         25  Secretary of State to punish real estate brokers who
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          2  deliberately provide false or misleading information

          3  to buyers and particularly buyers and real estate

          4  transactions of one to three-family dwellings.

          5                 There are also some other provisions

          6  of this bill with regard to enforcement, which I

          7  think have been unduly unfair to both sides of the

          8  transactions with regard to illegal apartments and

          9  relegates them to landlord court where fines

         10  increase on a daily basis until such time as we can

         11  have our L&T courts which move rather cumbersomely

         12  to provide an eviction. I think it would be much

         13  better with regard to illegal apartments if there

         14  were a vacate order issued by the Buildings

         15  Department and that the building was vacated by the

         16  City of New York after a short reasonable period for

         17  the parties to defend themselves at the ECB.

         18                 With regard to provisions involving

         19  the attachment of property held by the contractors,

         20  my understanding is that that may be problematic. It

         21  may be able to be worked out, I don't know, but I

         22  know that the agencies in the City of New York feel

         23  there has to be a little more work done in that

         24  respect, before you start seizing property of

         25  contractors and subcontractors who may not be fully
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          2  aware of what is involved in the construction.

          3                 I think it is a well-intentioned bill

          4  and I look forward to the hearings on it and hope

          5  that we can modify it to make it acceptable.  In its

          6  present form, I would say it is not acceptable to

          7  me.

          8                 But thank you, Mr. Chairman, for

          9  allowing me to enter my thoughts on the record.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         11  we thank you for your testimony.

         12                 Now the Queens Borough President has

         13  arrived.

         14                 Reconvening the open roll call, Mr.

         15  Clerk, will you please call the name of Council

         16  Member Boyland for purposes of voting on those three

         17  bills.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: Boyland.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: I vote aye.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: On 461-A, 458

         21  and Intro. 460.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK BOYLAND: And I vote

         23  aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK CHERRY: The vote now

         25  stands at six in the affirmative.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, Council

          3  Member Sabini has got to run, so bear with us a

          4  moment, Borough President.

          5                 Councilman Sabini.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. Not being a member of the Committee, I

          8  appreciate the courtesy you are extending to me as

          9  one of the prime sponsors of this legislation, and I

         10  will be shuttling back and forth because I am the

         11  author of a resolution in the next room that is

         12  about to be heard.

         13                 I just wanted to point out a couple

         14  of things to sort of frame debate on this

         15  legislation.

         16                 This effort and the effort that was

         17  done a number of years ago by this Committee is a

         18  result of very thoughtful work coming out of an

         19  interagency and civic task force that the Queens

         20  Borough President put together, Elisa Preston of my

         21  staff worked very hard on that, and this bill seeks

         22  to strengthen parts of our last effort, modify other

         23  parts of it. I particularly am happy with the stop

         24  work order provisions of this bill and also the

         25  prohibition against new building permits for
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          2  violators, flagrant violators of the law. But to

          3  frame this action in two ways, which is the goal of

          4  my statement; one is, I wish that we didn't have to

          5  do this and that we had, or the Mayor had agreed

          6  some years ago to what I believe would have been a

          7  very good solution to this, which is to tax people

          8  who don't live in one and two family homes at a

          9  different rate than the single family home owner who

         10  lives there pays. That would have taken the profit

         11  out of the system, and frankly would have made a lot

         12  of these efforts needless.

         13                 And I am still hopeful that some day

         14  we will see the light on that and use the class one

         15  tax, which is a preferred tax rate that we give to

         16  people who want to own homes and raise families and

         17  keep our neighborhoods stable, and not give that tax

         18  rate to people who destabilize, who don't live in

         19  the building, who seek to use the building as a

         20  profit measure rather than a dwelling. That is

         21  number one.

         22                 Number two, there is a lot of talk on

         23  this issue that loses the essential, sort of nubb of

         24  the issue.

         25                 This issue was started as a result of
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          2  certain neighborhoods, and sometimes I felt like

          3  Kevin McCarthy in the Invasion of the Body Snatchers

          4  yelling they are coming, they are coming, the

          5  illegal conversions are coming, because now people

          6  all over Queens, in neighborhoods that never would

          7  have supported efforts like this are now supporting

          8  it because it has arrived in their neighborhoods;

          9  and that is, that these conversions do so many

         10  things to destabilizing neighborhood in terms of

         11  fire code, where we have 20 people living in a wood

         12  framed house which may have been built for six or

         13  eight; in terms of sanitation; in terms of fire; in

         14  terms of police; in terms of education; in terms of

         15  the health care delivery system - the whole order of

         16  planning of our neighborhoods is thrown off by

         17  scores of people living where small numbers were

         18  supposed to live. That is why those areas are zoned

         19  that way. That is why those buildings were built

         20  that way, and to frame this as a housing shortage

         21  issue or some kind of other issue, really makes us

         22  lose sight of the essential problem; and that is,

         23  buildings that were converted that were meant to

         24  house a small number of people, housing a large

         25  number of people cause a whole cafeteria of other
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          2  problems in the neighborhood, that is why the issue

          3  is such an important one, that is why the methods to

          4  address this issue have to be so tough, because we

          5  are dealing in effect with the quality of life and

          6  the delivery of so many services in our

          7  neighborhoods by these buildings that were designed

          8  to house two families or three families housing

          9  scores of people.

         10                 That is why the issue is so important

         11  and I hope we don't lose sight of that fact as this

         12  issue is debated and people try to bring in other

         13  forms of hysterical issues to cloud the essential

         14  issues. The essential issue is these houses were

         15  built with a specific number of people intended, and

         16  the neighborhoods were zoned with a specific number

         17  of people intended. That is how they were built,

         18  that is how they were planned for, the services were

         19  planned for and that is why this issue is so

         20  important to many of our neighborhoods around the

         21  City, and I thank you, Mr. Chairman, for the

         22  opportunity of hearing me and of hearing this bill.

         23                 Thank you. And I congratulate the

         24  Borough President on her fine work on this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member.

          3                 Borough President Clair Schulman. If

          4  you will identify yourself, we are pleased to have

          5  you with us, and this is your bill so we want to

          6  give you an opportunity to express yourself on it.

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Good

          8  morning. And I want to thank Councilman Sabini for

          9  his testimony. He has worked with us all along

         10  trying to correct the situation. And I want to thank

         11  Councilman Spigner and the Committee for holding

         12  this hearing and for allowing me to address the

         13  growing problem of illegal conversions.

         14                 At the outset, I would like to make

         15  it clear that the proliferation of illegal

         16  apartments is a danger and a problem, both to the

         17  people who live in these dwellings and to their

         18  neighbors.

         19                 Illegal apartments often exist in

         20  cellars and basements of old wood framed houses,

         21  with inadequate electrical wiring. This creates

         22  dangerous conditions for residents in terms of fire,

         23  and often the existing infrastructure cannot satisfy

         24  the neighborhood need.

         25                 In 1997, recognizing the imminent
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          2  threat to health and safety posed by illegal

          3  apartments, we enacted Local Law 65.

          4                 The law increased the criminal and

          5  civil penalties for the creation of illegal

          6  apartments, including the imposition of per diem

          7  fines.

          8                 It also made it more difficult for

          9  such apartments to be created in the first place.

         10  Councilman Spigner and Speaker Vallone were

         11  instrumental in getting Local Law 65 adopted and I

         12  thank them for their work on this important issue.

         13                 After two years of experience with

         14  the new law, we have discovered that some

         15  refinements are needed. These refinements are the

         16  substance of Intro. 363-A. As an additional

         17  amendment which I have attached to my testimony.

         18                 These provisions were drafted after

         19  lengthy discussion by my illegal conversion task

         20  force and are meant to address some issues which

         21  have arisen under the 1997 law.

         22                 We look forward to working with the

         23  Council and with various City agencies to fine-tune

         24  these proposals, and to develop a tough but fair

         25  program to combat illegal apartments.
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          2                 The refinements in Intro. 363 and the

          3  amendment will continue the course of Local Law 65

          4  by strengthening the City's enforcement hours

          5  against illegal conversions, making it easier for

          6  illegal situations to be rectified and requiring

          7  disclosure when a property is sold.

          8                 The intro would increase penalties

          9  for illegal conversions by allowing the Building

         10  Department to better enforce stop work orders and

         11  prohibit violators from obtaining new building

         12  permits.

         13                 It would also allow home owners to

         14  correct existing violations by allowing a limited

         15  waiver of the per diem penalties once a first-time

         16  offending home owner takes action to correct the

         17  problem.

         18                 The proposed amendment to the bill

         19  will extend this waiver to home owners who are

         20  seeking to legalize these apartments without

         21  evicting the current tenants.

         22                 The Intro. Would also protect

         23  home-buyers from unknowingly purchasing homes with

         24  illegal apartments. It would do this by requiring

         25  the purchaser and the seller of the property, as
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          2  well as the real estate agent facilitating the sale

          3  to certify its closing that a home does not have any

          4  illegal dwelling units.

          5                 Of course the ultimate solution to

          6  the problem of illegal apartments in the City is to

          7  create more affordable housing.

          8                 I will continue to work with the

          9  City, the state and the federal representatives to

         10  create new housing programs that will stimulate and

         11  encourage the production of affordable housing,

         12  while preserving the existing affordable housing

         13  stock.

         14                 But the illegal conversion of

         15  residential homes is not the answer, and we must

         16  continue with the actions we took two years ago to

         17  eliminate these conversions.

         18                 Intro. 363 and the proposed amendment

         19  to the Intro. are two more steps in this process.

         20  They will address the problems which have arisen

         21  with the law we passed two years ago, while

         22  continuing to address the problem of illegal

         23  conversions in our neighborhoods.

         24                 I again want to thank the Committee

         25  members for your commitment to the issue and for
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          2  allowing me to testify this morning.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          4  Borough President Shulman.

          5                 Maybe you weren't in the room when

          6  Councilman Ognibene spoke, but he made reference to

          7  the difficulties that would be imposed by if we

          8  required agents and others to sign to conditions

          9  that they may or may not have the ability to acquire

         10  the information on and the problems that this would

         11  cause. Have you thought this out?

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Yes, we

         13  have thought about it. And remember what I said

         14  before, that this bill will probably stand for

         15  amendments for some, refining of some of the issues.

         16  But with regard to real estate brokers, our

         17  experience in Queens, and not all, but some, use the

         18  illegal apartments as a selling point. They know

         19  they are doing it. They -- the poor buyer is the

         20  victim here, because the seller knows and the real

         21  estate agent knows but the person buying the

         22  property often times does not know and then is stuck

         23  with something that is a real problem, in terms of

         24  legalizing.

         25                 So, I think that however we do it, we

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  have to make those professionals who are licensed by

          3  the state responsible for their actions, because

          4  they are in the business of selling houses, and I

          5  think they know, most of them know what they are

          6  doing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are you saying

          8  that there are some brokers that would encourage

          9  marginal buyers to purchase beyond their means based

         10  on anticipated income from what the agent knows is

         11  illegal or goes against the code?

         12                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Yes, there

         13  are two problems with this, Councilman Spigner.

         14  Number one, you are quite right, they are selling

         15  the property based on the income that that property

         16  can produce when they probably know that the person

         17  buying has a difficult time making the monthly

         18  payments.

         19                 There are some people in the City of

         20  New York, that knowingly do this and sell the same

         21  house over and over again, over a certain period of

         22  time. In other words, they sell to a person who

         23  cannot maintain the payments, they foreclose and

         24  they sell the house again and then they foreclose

         25  and they sell the house again. So, we really have to
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          2  protect our people from abuses of this kind.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And to protect

          4  them from theirselves in their desire to own a

          5  building and acquire a home, they take on

          6  obligations beyond what they can afford.

          7                 Council Member Marshall, you can ask

          8  your questions.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chairman, and I, too, want to applaud our

         11  Borough President who has taken the bull by the horn

         12  and attacked this very serious problem.

         13                 Probably, as you heard my colleague

         14  John Sabini talk, even in my Council District which

         15  adjoins him is probably where most of the illegal

         16  conversion began. And for many years I thought I was

         17  speaking to air, but now it has spread throughout

         18  the borough.

         19                 The reason I am concerned about this

         20  bill is because, first of all, the people are

         21  becoming victims. Many of them do not speak English,

         22  they don't understand, they just need a place to

         23  live. They are paying through the nose for little

         24  cubicles in which to live.

         25                 To give you an example, in my
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          2  district we found a two-family house. On the second

          3  floor level there were eight little cubicles, nine

          4  people living in them, everyone using one bath and

          5  one kitchen.

          6                 On the first floor of the two-family

          7  house, there were 11 cubicles. The landlord was

          8  already working to divide up the basement and we saw

          9  him dividing up the attic. The people are paying

         10  $100 a week to live like this. It was wrong.

         11                 In addition to that, its impact on

         12  the local community is devastating. When my

         13  grandchildren visit me from California, they are two

         14  boys, my house probably gets more wear and tear

         15  during those couple of weeks that they are with us

         16  than it does the rest of the year. Certainly when

         17  you put 20 people into a two-family house, the wear

         18  and tear on the building is immense. There is no one

         19  you can point to, garbage is in the front yard,

         20  there is cars parked all over the street, in the

         21  side yard, it really deteriorates the entire

         22  neighborhood.

         23                 And so for those reasons, I really,

         24  and I get calls from people all the time, and it is

         25  responding to that that I even started a small task
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          2  force with the Jackson Heights Beautification and

          3  our Community Board people in Board 3. The Borough

          4  President did a bigger job by bringing all of Queens

          5  together and sitting us down at a table, and I am a

          6  proud sponsor of the first bill, and I am a proud

          7  sponsor of this bill.

          8                 The question of realtors, realtors

          9  are probably the most vicious part of this entire

         10  operation, because they even rent those little

         11  cubicles to people and collect the fee for doing it.

         12  Their advertisements are even bold enough to be put

         13  in the newspaper as to how many units a house can

         14  have, even though it is in violation. They actually

         15  print it in our local papers, I have evidence of

         16  this.

         17                 And the realtors even are crossing

         18  and messing up, they are actually contradicting

         19  their own jurisdictions and violating their own

         20  jurisdictions. They are becoming the people who are

         21  selling, the people are speculators who buy the

         22  buildings, and then they are selling. It is a real

         23  contradiction of their own licensing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Do you have a

         25  question, Council member.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I was

          3  really responding to the question of the -- I have

          4  to talk about this, Archie, you understand that?

          5                 The question of realtors, they are

          6  not innocent people standing by and just watching

          7  this happen, they are active participants in this

          8  process, and we definitely have to deal with them.

          9                 This bill represents the problems

         10  that we weren't able to take care of in our first

         11  piece of legislation.

         12                 Now, I know there are some problems,

         13  and those problems were brought to my attention,

         14  legitimate landlords and people are being called in

         15  for violations that really they shouldn't be called

         16  in for, and when I go to the ECB board it is loaded.

         17  So, I think that some things do need to be

         18  corrected, this is a complaint-driven operation and

         19  it certainly has improved. We as Council people do

         20  get an inspector a half a day a month, and it has

         21  improved considerably, people are responding, and I

         22  think we are going to continually amend this bill

         23  until we get it right.

         24                 That is the procedure of developing

         25  legislation in the state and here. And so I applaud
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          2  the Borough President.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You need not

          4  respond, Borough President Shulman.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes.

          6                 Unless she chooses to.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Chairwoman

          8  Marshall says if you choose to.

          9                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: I want to

         10  clarify what Helen has responded to. We are

         11  concerned with the home owner who actually lives on

         12  the property, and we would hope to be able to help

         13  those folks, if making those apartments legal is

         14  allowable. Some of it is not.

         15                 The problem that Helen talked about

         16  are the landlords who do not live on the property.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Exactly.

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: And use

         19  the property for profit-making and illegal.

         20                 I mean, there is a company in the

         21  City of New York that has done this in Queens over

         22  and over and over again, and the name of that

         23  company is "Sue Me," which shows you that many of

         24  the people that are exploiting the real estate,

         25  thumbing their nose at the City government.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          3  Boyland, a member of the Committee, has a question

          4  for you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Yes, hi.

          6  Welcome to the City Council.

          7                 The question that I had, and I think

          8  you addressed it in your statement, was I was

          9  looking at New York 1 yesterday and they were doing

         10  a series on affordable housing, especially in the

         11  Borough of Brooklyn, and we were fortunate, the

         12  Assemblyman and myself, to take part in that great

         13  movement, and you mentioned the need for partnership

         14  housing, the need for City homes, the need for the

         15  glorified HPD programs that have come into my

         16  community and into the Borough of Brooklyn to expand

         17  the opportunity for affordable housing and

         18  subsidized housing for people, especially poor

         19  people, to begin to move into home ownership.

         20                 I am not really fully aware of the

         21  available land mass in Queens, but I am sure at some

         22  point in time there is going to be some discussion

         23  further, as you stated, with the Partnership, with

         24  HPD, to build some affordable housing so you don't

         25  have a situation where you have, as Council Member
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          2  Marshall mentioned, 20 people living in one house,

          3  at $100 a week times four times 12, these are the

          4  same kinds of numbers that can add up to people

          5  owning their own houses or people paying into rental

          6  properties that can lead them into home ownership. I

          7  am sure that is something that the Borough of Queens

          8  and this bill will enforce all throughout the City.

          9                 The other question that I had for

         10  you, that was a statement, but this question is in

         11  terms of landlords. How do we protect the tenants if

         12  there are penalties that are going to be sort of

         13  waivered, the per diem penalties sort of waivered

         14  towards the landlord? Is there some sort of

         15  protection to the tenants, because they are the

         16  victims at this particular point when they are

         17  evicted from, as Council Member Marshall again

         18  mentioned, 20 people living in one home, they are

         19  evicted.  If these penalties are put upon the

         20  landlord, the first thing he is going to do is move

         21  all of these people out and then you have another

         22  situation because it creates homelessness in your

         23  borough.

         24                 Is there some sort of clarity or some

         25  sort of solution in which we are going to move
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          2  forward to dealing with that issue?

          3                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: First of

          4  all, let's say that we do have property in the

          5  Borough of Queens, and we have been building

          6  partnership housing for a long time, it is not

          7  nearly enough to satisfy the need, our population

          8  continues to grow. There is no current program that

          9  can -- where we can build housing, other than

         10  partnership now, in the City of New York other than

         11  Manhattan.

         12                 The 80/20 program that exists doesn't

         13  work in the outer boroughs because the people in the

         14  Boroughs cannot afford the 80 percent rent to carry

         15  the 20 percent of the lower income folks. And so

         16  there has to be a new program devised and we are

         17  working on that because the current programs simply

         18  don't work. It doesn't create enough housing to

         19  really make it worthwhile.

         20                 The second thing you mentioned about

         21  the people being evicted what we try to do in our

         22  amendment, say you are a home owner and you have a

         23  one family house and some relative or whatever is

         24  renting an apartment in your house that can be

         25  legalized. If you go to the Building Department and
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          2  do all of the things that the Building Department

          3  says you have to do to legalize it, then you would

          4  do that and we would stop the fines.

          5                 The problem you mentioned are all of

          6  these folks that are living in subhuman conditions,

          7  that should not continue under any circumstances,

          8  and taking them out and putting them somewhere else

          9  is probably an improvement.

         10                 I think that you will remember the

         11  case of these young Mexican people that were brought

         12  into Queens and were living in what Helen so aptly

         13  described in a two-family house we had many, many

         14  families. Well, they were taken out and they were

         15  put into a local hotel and I want to tell you, I

         16  went over and looked and they were living in far

         17  better conditions after they were removed than they

         18  had been living before.

         19                 So, we have to make provisions for

         20  these people. But as government, we can't sit idly

         21  by and allow these folks to be placed in inhuman

         22  conditions for which they pay a lot of money.

         23                 The other thing I want to say to you

         24  is that because the ECB and the enforcement of these

         25  fines are so difficult, and because a lot of people
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          2  just don't pay them until they are ready to sell the

          3  property, this goes on for years and years and

          4  years, there is a bill in the State Legislature to

          5  convert these fines into tax liens, and we hope that

          6  in this section of the State Legislature we will be

          7  able to pass those bills in both the Assembly and

          8  the Senate.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         13  Stabile.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Madam Borough

         15  President, good morning.

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Good

         17  morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I do not

         19  support illegal conversions, I am definitely

         20  anti-illegal conversion throughout my Council

         21  district in the Rockaways, Richmond Hill, parts of

         22  Woodhaven, Ozone Park and even Howard Beach we have

         23  a problem with illegal conversions.

         24                 Yet, I don't totally agree with all

         25  of the points of 363-A, like I explained the other
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          2  day at the Borough Board meeting.

          3                 I don't like the idea that we are

          4  moving, or lessening the per diem rate per day. I

          5  feel we are giving the landlord an edge. And why I

          6  am imposed to this is it is basically an insurance

          7  issue. If the City of New York, and maybe your

          8  people who worked on the bill can clarify it for me,

          9  if we say it is okay for them to stay in that

         10  apartment for another 120 days, God forbid there is

         11  a fire, electrical or whatever, who becomes liable?

         12                 The insurance companies are certainly

         13  going to say, look, that is an illegal building, it

         14  was two-family, we are going to null and void the

         15  insurance, they only took the policy as a

         16  one-family, or a two-family; who then becomes the

         17  liable person? Does the City become the liable one

         18  for giving them the permission to stay?

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: I don't

         20  know the answer to that. But I think what you are

         21  looking at is, if the apartment is able to be

         22  legalized, why would we evict the tenant who then

         23  will have no place to live.

         24                 We would have to figure out how to do

         25  that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, on the

          3  situation with the fines, lessening the fines,

          4  giving them the option if they put an application in

          5  to try to legalize the apartment, what I have found

          6  out through the Building Department is most of these

          7  illegal apartments cannot be legalized. They are low

          8  grade, or they are attic apartments that don't have

          9  the right floor space or the exiting and entering

         10  the apartment is only one way. There are no windows

         11  or whatever. I think all of this becomes a factor

         12  and given the landlord the option to put an

         13  application in, say I am going to try to legalize

         14  it, equally knowing that it is not going to be

         15  legalized and equally knowing that the Building

         16  Department went down there and cited them with

         17  seven, eight violations already on the building,

         18  where I believe honestly we are giving the landlord

         19  the upper hand now. He doesn't have to be fined the

         20  amount that he is being fined.

         21                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: I would

         22  say to you, Councilman, that the Building Department

         23  is not going to give a permit to anybody who is

         24  trying to legalize an apartment that cannot be

         25  legalized.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay.

          3                 So, you are saying then, so we will

          4  evict them then?

          5                 In other words, if the complaint goes

          6  in that we are going to evict them, we are not going

          7  to give them the waiver to try to have it legalized

          8  or anything else then?

          9                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: If they

         10  cannot legalize the unit, then they have to evict.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, my

         12  other thing is basically in the Borough of Queens

         13  almost 50 percent of our buildings don't have C of

         14  O's because they were built prior to 1938. Now, in a

         15  situation like that, checking with the title

         16  company, Chicago Title and two of the other title

         17  companies, they had told me that when a person goes

         18  for a closing, they are fully aware of what they are

         19  buying. They are buying a one-family, two-family,

         20  three-family or whatever they are buying, it is on

         21  the closing statement.

         22                 Also, the mortgage company who is

         23  supplying the money to buy this also knows that this

         24  is a one-family, two-family or whatever type of

         25  house. Why are we putting the only responsibility
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          2  not only on the owner or the buyer, but the real

          3  estate broker? If he is telling him something which

          4  is not correct, it is going to come out at the

          5  closing, isn't it?

          6                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: I don't

          7  think you can justify a real estate broker acting in

          8  an illegal way, number one.

          9                 And number two, there are many people

         10  lending money, mortgages, for apartments that are

         11  not legal.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: So, shouldn't

         13  we go after the lenders also then?

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Look, you

         15  want to move with this bill and include the lenders,

         16  that is fine. I am just trying to stop it at where

         17  it starts, and it starts in the advertising of these

         18  houses in a way that encourages people to buy a

         19  one-family house that they don't know is a

         20  one-family house, but has two additional units to

         21  help pay the mortgage.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Excuse me,

         23  Councilman Stabile, before you continue I want to

         24  recognize Terzah Nasser, the Counsel to this

         25  Committee, for the purposes of calling the names of
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          2  Council Member Larry Warden and Council Member

          3  Malave-Dilan to vote on the measure that we

          4  previously discussed.

          5                 MS. NASSER: We just want to add to

          6  the vote on the coupled items, proposed intro.

          7  461-A, Intro. 458 and Intro. 460.

          8                 Council Member Malave-Dilan.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MALAVE-DILAN: Mr.

         10  Chairman, I vote yes on all.

         11                 MS. NASSER: And Council Member

         12  Warden.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Aye on all.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Thank you.

         15                 I just have a serious problem with

         16  letting a landlord be able to collect rent while he

         17  is going through a Building Department procedure

         18  that may not even turn fruitful while he is still

         19  collecting rents for an illegal apartment.

         20                 I also have a problem when you are

         21  saying that someone is buying a one-family home, and

         22  then what Council Member Marshall had just said,

         23  also doesn't sit well with me. A landlord now buys

         24  the house, starts dividing the basement or dividing

         25  the second floor or dividing it into cubicles, he is
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          2  well aware of what he is doing. He definitely knows

          3  exactly what he is doing.

          4                 Are we going to allow him to continue

          5  on doing it for another 120 days? Or are we going to

          6  say, no, you are being fined and that is it?

          7                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: You cannot

          8  legalize something that the zoning does not approve

          9  of.

         10                 All of these things are taken into

         11  consideration. I mean, you can't have a five-family

         12  house in an R2 district.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: You are 100

         14  percent right.

         15                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: So, I mean

         16  that you would never get a permit to legalize those

         17  apartments.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay, the

         19  other question is with the seizure of the

         20  contractors equipment. In this method you are saying

         21  if there is an order to stop work, then consumer

         22  affairs will go there and seize the contractors,

         23  truck, trailer, whatever and everything else, and

         24  his tools included; correct?

         25                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Hold on a
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          2  minute.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Okay.

          4                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: My staff

          5  is briefing me.

          6                 We have so many experiences in the

          7  borough. We have one right now, as a matter of fact,

          8  where the stop work order has been issued by the

          9  Building Department to the people working on the

         10  site, and so there is no question about whether or

         11  not they know about the stop work order, you know,

         12  they are handed a stop work order. So, I don't know

         13  what the question --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: If it is

         15  handed to the contractor, I could definitely support

         16  that, but if it is handed to the building owner, or

         17  the building owner was notified, how would a

         18  contractor be aware of a stop work order?

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Because

         20  the Building Department brings the stop work order

         21  to the site and the people are working on the site.

         22  Frequently the landlord is nowhere to be seen, it is

         23  just the folks that are working on the site. I mean,

         24  that 99 percent of the time that is the situation.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: What about
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          2  the one percent of the time that it is not? That the

          3  owner is notified and the contractor is not

          4  notified?

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Then when

          6  you start to refine this legislation, you can take

          7  that one percent into account if you think that it

          8  is worth consideration.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: The only last

         10  question I have, do you think it is fair to ask the

         11  real estate industry to be building inspectors also?

         12  Do you think it is fair for a real estate broker who

         13  is advertising a two-family house, who sells it as a

         14  two-family house, and then the landlord goes ahead

         15  -- the buyer goes ahead and makes it into a

         16  three-family on his own, that now it is the real

         17  estate's (sic) fault?

         18                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: That is

         19  after the fact and that is not what we are

         20  discussing.

         21                 We are discussing the fact that a

         22  broker will sell a one-family house knowing full

         23  well that there are three families in that building,

         24  and telling the buyer that those rents will help to

         25  pay the mortgage.
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          2                 We are not talking about after the

          3  transaction is done and then those apartments are

          4  constructed, that is not the real estate broker's

          5  fault.

          6                 We are talking at the time of the

          7  sale, what are we doing.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SPIGNER: And you

          9  believe that most of it is done at the time of the

         10  sale?

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Oh, it is

         12  always done at the time of the sale.

         13                 I mean, what we are saying is, when

         14  you sell a house and you buy a house and the broker

         15  is involved, that all three parties know exactly

         16  what that house is. What happens after that is

         17  something else.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: Well, that is

         19  exactly what I am saying. Everyone really knows that

         20  it is only a one-family or a two-family house, the

         21  buyer and the seller.

         22                 So, if he decides to buy this house

         23  as a two-family and makes it into a three-family

         24  because he can't afford it, that shouldn't be the

         25  responsibility of the community or anything else,
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          2  that person should not be able to make that into an

          3  illegal building, plain and simple.

          4                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: I know but

          5  that is not the question. The question is whether or

          6  not the broker is liable when they advertise the

          7  house as a three or four family, knowing full well

          8  that it is a one or two-family, and they sell it

          9  under those circumstances, they should be liable for

         10  the advertising that is misleading.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STABILE: I just think

         12  the bill has to be refined.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You can go on

         14  the second round, but it is clear in my mind that

         15  when people are buying or selling a house, they know

         16  what they are doing, or at least they should know

         17  what they are doing.

         18                 Council Member Clarke wants to be

         19  recognized.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you so

         21  much, Mr. Chairman.

         22                 As you know, I do not serve on this

         23  Committee, but was asked and invited by the

         24  Caribbean-American community in Queens to talk about

         25  these conversions and what they meant to them, and I
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          2  just wanted to go on the record as saying, that in

          3  our discussion they are clear that the Buildings

          4  Department has a role to play in making sure that

          5  those buildings are safe, that there is appropriate

          6  egress. But they also see it as a sense of

          7  harassment when they have large families that in the

          8  mornings early somebody will come to check how many

          9  members are in their family, the fact that family

         10  members come on vacation and stay with them, whether

         11  it is for temporary or to look to remain in the

         12  United States. I just want to go on record as saying

         13  to you that they are willing to sit to talk with all

         14  of those persons on both sides of the hall to fathom

         15  out what are all of these requirements, but that

         16  there is great resentment on the fact that they feel

         17  that they are being put up on as new immigrants of

         18  the United States of American. Queens have become

         19  the mecca of new immigrants from all over the world,

         20  and certainly whatever rules and regulations are

         21  being made, I think it must be made clear and they

         22  should be educated about what is needed before a lot

         23  of these conversions takes place at the time that

         24  they are buying or they are selling, that they

         25  should be clear what they are buying and what is
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          2  being sold to them, but that they should not be

          3  harassed once they have occupied that housing.

          4                 And so I want to go on record as

          5  saying I want to learn more about it. I want to work

          6  in concert with to educate the community about what

          7  all of these rules and regulations are, and so I

          8  just wanted to come to today's hearing. I think it

          9  is your first hearing on the matter and think that

         10  the bill will need some refinement and if there is a

         11  role that I can play in educating, if there is a

         12  role that I can play in educating and helping the

         13  community to better understand what all of this is,

         14  and what the impact will be on them in any

         15  investment they make, is for me what I would like to

         16  ask, and appropriately so.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         18  Council Member Clarke.

         19                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: May I

         20  respond?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes. I just want

         22  to thank Council Member Clarke. I want to assure

         23  Council Member Clarke that the Chair is from Queens,

         24  and that the Chair is in communication with those

         25  persons that you have mentioned and I am very much
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          2  aware of their concern. The Chair is very much aware

          3  of their concerns, and has made plain my sensitivity

          4  to their needs, and my ability and availability to

          5  work with them in trying to reach what represents

          6  good public policy, which often means no one is

          7  happy.

          8                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT SHULMAN: Could I

          9  just respond, because I have the same concerns that

         10  you do.

         11                 First of all, we are running seminars

         12  for first home buyers, so that they know exactly

         13  what they are responsible for and what the

         14  government and the private market is responsible

         15  for, and what to look for so that they don't get

         16  hurt.

         17                 Most of the folks that you are

         18  talking about in some cases have been victimized by

         19  unfair practices. Every ethnic community in the

         20  Borough of Queens feels that they are being

         21  targeted, but I try and explain to them that this is

         22  not something that the government is doing, all of

         23  these inspections are complaint driven, so somebody

         24  in the neighborhood is calling the Building

         25  Department and saying, the house next door to me has
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          2  six families, only supposed to have two.

          3                 I mean, that is what has happened.

          4  So, most of the ethnic groups, and we have so many

          5  immigrants in the Borough of Queens, feel that they

          6  are being targeted here and it is simply not the

          7  case.

          8                 The other thing is that we are

          9  printing instructions for all of our groups in the

         10  languages that they can understand because we don't

         11  want them to be stuck with something that they can't

         12  possibly address.

         13                 This is not an easy problem, we

         14  understand that. We know that there are frequently

         15  very large families, those are not the people that

         16  the government should be going after. It is the

         17  people that are exploiting these people by selling

         18  them what they know they cannot legalize, that is

         19  really the issue, and that is really what we are

         20  trying to correct.

         21                 It is not fair to sell somebody a

         22  house that they can't possibly afford by telling

         23  them that they have got three rents coming in, and

         24  then to find out that those apartments are not

         25  legal.
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          2                 So there are a lot of abuses here and

          3  a lot of injustices here and I had met with the

          4  communities that you are referring to and we meet

          5  with them just as often as they would like to meet

          6  with us, trying to explain what it is they have to

          7  do. And that is one of the reasons that we added an

          8  amendment to this bill, so that those folks that can

          9  legalize, that have a legal apartment but is not

         10  mentioned in their C of O, they can go to the

         11  Building Department, they have 120 days to legalize

         12  so what the amendment says is that the tenant does

         13  not have to be evicted in that process.

         14                 So, we are trying to protect those

         15  folks from being out in the street.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         17  Council Member Clarke.

         18                 Council Member Watkins seeks to be

         19  recognized, and then Council Member Marshall wants

         20  to be recognized for a second time.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.

         23                 One of the concerns that many of us

         24  who represent these areas in Queens have, bottom

         25  line is safety, and no matter what the reason for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  rental of some of these basement apartments and I

          3  mean rental, I don't mean your son or your nephew

          4  sleeping there, is to prevent the kind of near

          5  tragedy that occurred in my district, in Springfield

          6  Gardens, in January of this year.

          7                 Many of you are aware of the fact

          8  that we have had excessive flooding in my district

          9  and in Councilman Spigner's district. Now, we had

         10  any number of families when that flood came, the

         11  waters came so swiftly, we almost lost a life

         12  because of someone sleeping that Sunday in a

         13  basement apartment, and the water closed the door so

         14  that the people on the main floor couldn't even get

         15  the door opened. The Fire Department had to be

         16  called and we are not exaggerating when we say that

         17  there was between 12 and 15 inches of air space left

         18  and the woman was actually trying to tread water to

         19  save her life.

         20                 Everybody reads about the fires, but

         21  there is also the problems with the flooding, and

         22  there is another problem that we have to be

         23  cognizant of, and that has to do with the fact that

         24  many of these homes have their heating systems in

         25  those basements and there is a problem we have also
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          2  faced with carbon monoxide poisoning of small

          3  children.

          4                 I raise these issues because Queens

          5  probably had, definitely had the most diverse

          6  population in the country and so we all represent a

          7  mixture of people, but many of us are looking for

          8  answers and it is quite true that someone is saying

          9  in one ear to me, how can I survive, the inspectors

         10  have come in and said I have to take out the stove,

         11  I have to take out the bathroom, and I can't afford

         12  to pay my mortgage if I do that.

         13                 On the other hand, it is neighbors on

         14  that very same block who have a meeting, invite us

         15  to the meeting and say we don't want our block

         16  destroyed because there are four or five families

         17  living in that one family or two-family home, and it

         18  is the neighbors who are calling, because they are

         19  concerned about the fact that they don't know

         20  anymore who lives there, people that they can't

         21  recognize, and more and more people are up and down

         22  and in and out the block, so if some of the people

         23  who are going to testify have some answers for how

         24  do we rationally deal with this problem I know I,

         25  for one, will be very glad to hear, but it is not a
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          2  cut and dried issue that can be easily solved. We

          3  are also responsible for protecting the safety of

          4  people, and this has become an increasing problem in

          5  these overcrowded, illegal conversions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          7                 Council Member Marshall, you have a

          8  final question?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes. Queens

         10  is heralded as the most ethnically diverse community

         11  in our City, Borough in our City, and certainly my

         12  district is the epitome of that, and I would like to

         13  say and I am proud to say that we are enriched by

         14  the addition of cultures and certainly we have

         15  evidence of it all over our community and all over

         16  the borough and it is something that we are very

         17  proud of.

         18                 Sometimes we have problems, and this

         19  is one of those problems that we are trying to

         20  settle and to work out to the benefit of all.

         21                 The question of illegal conversions.

         22  If I am a home owner, and this is what we found and

         23  that is the reason that we have a waiver to which is

         24  objected by some of my colleagues, many people don't

         25  even realize, and these are not people who are
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          2  immigrants, these are people who have been living in

          3  these houses sometimes for 40 years, they don't

          4  realize that certain things in their houses are not

          5  really up to code and they need to be corrected.

          6                 Once the inspector sees it, he

          7  immediately issues a fine on it, and you have to go

          8  and try to plead your case before the ECB Board.

          9                 We want to give home owners, whether

         10  they are old or new, the opportunity to correct the

         11  situation.

         12                 This is a democracy, we are not

         13  barbarians and we want to give people an opportunity

         14  to correct situations, as the Borough President

         15  says, that can be corrected. We do need an

         16  information network.

         17                 I have made a suggestion that when

         18  people pay their taxes, that they get an information

         19  -- there be an information booklet in it,

         20  explaining to them what things are illegal and what

         21  things are -- and what measures can be taken, they

         22  should take measures to correct them.

         23                 Borough President, one of the things

         24  that is inherent in the whole inspection of housing

         25  is that it is complaint-driven. It would seem to me,
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          2  and I don't know how we can do that, but I do feel

          3  maybe if it was more cyclical --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have done

          5  cyclical, we have had measures requiring cyclical

          6  instruction, so we could do that as well.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay.

          8                 Do we already have --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Right now it is

         10  purely complaint driven, I can't overemphasize that

         11  to the opponents of this measure, and the Department

         12  of Buildings is obligated to respond to complaints

         13  of violation.

         14                 Can we wrap up and move on? I have a

         15  rather lengthy list of speakers here today.

         16                 Borough President, I want to thank

         17  you for your time and for your contributions.

         18                 We have the Administration. Is the

         19  Administration here? Will the Administration please

         20  take the table and identify yourselves, and give us

         21  the Administration's view on this measure?

         22                 The Administration is the Mayor's

         23  Office, people. Often times it is either the

         24  Department of Buildings --

         25                 Would you identify yourselves,
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          2  gentlemen, and tell us who you represent? We would

          3  be happy to hear your statement.

          4                 MR. SHOR: Good morning, Chairman

          5  Spigner and members of the Committee. My name is

          6  Stanley Shor.  I am the Chief of Staff of the

          7  Department of Buildings, and with me is Charles

          8  Fraser, the Department's Assistant Commissioner for

          9  Enforcement.

         10                 MR. HABERMAN: Good morning, Chairman

         11  Spigner. My name is Mike Haberman, I am the Director

         12  of Policy, Planning and Intergovernmental Relations

         13  at the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Start, please,

         15  and identify yourself again.

         16                 MR. SHOR: My name is Stanley Shor, I

         17  am the Chief of Staff of the Department of

         18  Buildings.

         19                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         20  speak on Intro. 363-A.

         21                 As you are undoubtedly aware, the

         22  Department has been actively addressing the problem

         23  of illegally created dwelling units.

         24                 These illegal conversions are clearly

         25  unsafe and severely impact upon the quality of life
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          2  in many residential neighborhoods around the City.

          3                 Some examples of the negative impact

          4  on the quality of life are overcrowding in schools,

          5  parking congestion, increases in household garbage

          6  at curbside, and the increased strain on the water

          7  and sewer systems.

          8                 What is more important, however, are

          9  the unsafe conditions caused by illegal conversion,

         10  which is faulty wire and inadequate egress. That

         11  leads to the loss of life and property through

         12  fires.

         13                 In reaction to these negative impacts

         14  and unsafe conditions, this Administration pushed

         15  hard for the enactment of Local Law 65 of 1997,

         16  which increased penalties for illegal conversions.

         17                 In March of 1997, the Department

         18  created the quality of life inspection team to

         19  address illegal conversion.

         20                 Since its inception, this team has

         21  performed approximately 27,800 field visits and

         22  written more than 16,900 violations.

         23                 This bill before us, Intro. 363-A

         24  would amend Local Law 65 or '97. We at the

         25  Department of Buildings have some major concerns
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          2  about the proposed amendments.

          3                 Our first concern is regarding the

          4  per diem penalties. Intro. 363-A would authorize a

          5  waiver of a portion of the per diem penalty for

          6  illegal conversion violations in owner occupied

          7  units, if the owner has not previously received this

          8  violation, commences eviction proceeding, the

          9  occupancy continues without the owner's consent, and

         10  the owner secures a permit to correct the condition.

         11                 The provision appears to be designed

         12  to provide relief to the small owner occupant who is

         13  trying to correct the illegal occupancy through an

         14  eviction proceeding.

         15                 While this provision is well

         16  intended, our concern is that it may be easily

         17  abused. An owner wishing to have the per diem

         18  penalties waived may not genuinely wish to evict his

         19  or her tenants. Instead the owner and tenants might

         20  well conspire to file an eviction proceeding and

         21  allow the case to pend in Housing Court for an

         22  extended period, simply to trigger the waiver

         23  provision.

         24                 It would be extremely difficult for

         25  the Environmental Control Board to distinguish
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          2  between such a sham and a truly honest attempt at an

          3  eviction.

          4                 Another major concern relates to

          5  provisions that would prohibit the Department of

          6  Buildings from approving plans or issuing permits

          7  where the owner let's the condominium unit owner or

          8  co-op shareholder has outstanding fines, except

          9  where the applicant agrees to a payment schedule and

         10  the Commissioner finds that approval is necessary to

         11  correct an illegal or dangerous condition or to

         12  prevent undue hardship.

         13                 Rather than promoting compliance, it

         14  is our fear that this provision would result in an

         15  increase in the amount of construction performed

         16  around the city without a permit. Since those

         17  unwilling or unable to pay fines are likely to avoid

         18  the Department all together.

         19                 There are also problems created by

         20  rendering the Department's permitting process

         21  discretionary in this fashion.

         22                 Introduction of discretion opens the

         23  door for possible corruption.

         24                 This provision is also vague in that

         25  it does not specify its reach. For example, if an
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          2  applicant owes fines and properties other than the

          3  one that is the subject of the application, can the

          4  application be denied? It is our belief that the

          5  desired effect of this proposal, the enhanced

          6  collection of fines would better be achieved by

          7  treating these fines with tax liens.

          8                 And as the Borough President

          9  mentioned, the legislation has been introduced in

         10  Albany to achieve this goal.

         11                 Our final concern is that the bill,

         12  as written, would retroactively amend the penalty

         13  provisions.

         14                 We believe that such retroactivity

         15  would be inappropriate since it could cause the

         16  reopening of more than 1,500 cases at the

         17  Environmental Control Board, that we believe were

         18  properly adjudicated.

         19                 The Department's staff is prepared to

         20  sit down with the staff of the Borough President and

         21  the Council to discuss our concerns in greater

         22  detail, and we will be happy to answer any

         23  questions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, my question

         25  is this: On page one, at the bottom of paragraph
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          2  two, you speak of, since the inception of Local Law

          3  65 of 1997, that you have performed approximately

          4  27,800 field visits, and you have issued more than

          5  16,900 violations. How many complaints have you

          6  received that figured the 27,800 field visits?

          7                 MR. SHOR: Well, the field visits can

          8  be a multiple of the number of complaints. I can't

          9  tell you the exact number of complaints but we have

         10  had many and we have had certainly thousands and

         11  thousands of complaints.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I understand. Is

         13  it a one to one? Is the conclusion --

         14                 MR. SHOR: No, we make more than one

         15  field visit. Often times we have trouble getting

         16  access.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And have you

         18  been able to respond to all complaints?

         19                 MR. SHOR: We have been responding. We

         20  set up a special team, we have addressed, most of

         21  the complaints I would say that had been outstanding

         22  in Queens, we have moved into Brooklyn and done --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, most of the

         24  complaints made by neighbors are responded to?

         25                 MR. SHOR: Yes. We take them very
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          2  seriously.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

          4                 What about gaining access?

          5                 MR. SHOR: Gaining access is always

          6  difficult at people's homes. If people are not home

          7  -- we cannot -- well, we would go back to try to

          8  get access, we will at times get a warrant if we

          9  feel we have enough evidence that there is a

         10  condition that our inspector can sign an affidavit

         11  and we can go for a warrant. But ultimately if

         12  somebody doesn't want to open their door, it becomes

         13  difficult too.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are not

         15  breaking doors down?

         16                 MR. SHOR: We can't break doors down.

         17  No, not in people's homes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Are you standing

         19  outside at 6:00 in the morning to count adults,

         20  unrelated adults? I don't know how you identify

         21  that.

         22                 MR. SHOR: We have ways of gathering

         23  evidence to see that the number of doorbells, the

         24  number of meters, we have --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You also go

          3  at night?

          4                 MR. SHOR: We go in the evening and on

          5  the weekends.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I see Larry

          7  Warden, Council Member Warden and Provenzano, in

          8  that order.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: It just

         10  appears that from what I am hearing and from my

         11  experience and in my own county, there is a fact

         12  that a number of people that have purchased houses

         13  or converted houses without going through the

         14  appropriate permit process, and I think the

         15  objective of what we are trying to develop is a

         16  public policy that would really be designed to get

         17  everybody up to code, correct?

         18                 MR. SHOR: That's correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WARDEN: Okay. Maybe I

         20  am taking it from a more user friendly approach, but

         21  wouldn't the idea of say a period of amnesty with a

         22  public education that would suggest to anyone who

         23  was a home owner who has this problem, has X number

         24  of days, weeks, months, whatever, to be able to make

         25  the filing without the Buildings Department
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          2  harassment, using that term pejoratively, give them

          3  an opportunity to get their architect or get their

          4  construction person, get the filing done and get the

          5  job done, if it can be done. And then if it can't be

          6  done, then they have to tear it down. After that

          7  period of amnesty, then we go back to the

          8  inspections and the penalties, et cetera, et cetera.

          9                 MR. SHOR: We are willing to look at

         10  the provisions. We don't feel that the provision as

         11  written would be affected because of the possibility

         12  of a sham.

         13                 We are not saying that there aren't

         14  other ways of modifying the penalties to fit the

         15  crime or the violations or however you want to put

         16  it, but we are not satisfied with the current

         17  legislation.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Haberman,

         19  you have a statement you would like to make from the

         20  Consumer Affairs

         21  Department?

         22                 MR. HABERMAN: Good morning, Chairman

         23  Spigner, and members of the Housing and Building

         24  Committee. My name is Michael Haberman, and I am the

         25  Director of Policy, Planning and Intergovernmental
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          2  Affairs at the Department of Consumer Affairs.

          3                 The Commissioner asked me to express

          4  his regret that he was unable to attend and thank

          5  you for this opportunity to testify on Intro. 363-A.

          6                 This bill would amend various

          7  provisions of the City Administrative Code in an

          8  attempt to address the problem of illegally created

          9  dwelling units.

         10                 One of the provisions would amend the

         11  Home Improvement Contractor Licensing Law that

         12  Consumer Affairs enforces, and I will limit my

         13  remarks to the ramifications of this provision.

         14                 The proposed amendment to the Home

         15  Improvement Contractor Law, included in Section 2 of

         16  the bill, appeared simple enough. It would amend

         17  paragraph three of subdivision 20-401.1 by expanding

         18  the definition of unlicensed activity to include any

         19  activity that violated a stop work order issued by

         20  the Department of Buildings.

         21                 Violations of such orders currently

         22  trigger a criminal penalty and there are mechanisms

         23  in place to directly enforce violations of such

         24  orders.

         25                 Under the current law, the vehicles

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  of unlicensed contractors can already be seized.

          3  Thus, the effect of this provision would be to

          4  expand the Department's pre-hearing seizure

          5  authority by also authorizing the Department to

          6  conduct a seizure when a licensed contractor

          7  violates the stop work order.

          8                 The proposal would declare that work

          9  performed in violation of a stop work order would be

         10  deemed unlicensed activity, even if it is performed

         11  by a licensed contractor.

         12                 We certainly understand and support

         13  the objectives of this proposal, which is to

         14  strengthen the City's efforts to combat illegal

         15  conversion of residential dwellings. We are however

         16  concerned that this apparently simple and

         17  straightforward proposal contains obstacles that

         18  will make it difficult, if not impossible, to

         19  achieve those objectives.

         20                 I will just summarize and highlight

         21  some of these obstacles.

         22                 As the law now defines it for the

         23  purpose of triggering the vehicle seizure authority,

         24  unlicensed activity has the normal and ordinary

         25  meeting that anyone would attach to the phrase,
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          2  conducting activity without a license.

          3                 The expanded definition, however,

          4  attaches to that phrase any work done in violation

          5  of a stop work order by any person. Would it apply

          6  to those contractors who are not required to be

          7  licensed by the Department of Consumer Affairs?

          8  Would it apply to work done that would not be deemed

          9  home improvements, such as commercial construction?

         10                 If the answer were no, then the

         11  expanded authority would not apply to significant

         12  construction activity involved in illegal

         13  conversions. If the answer were yes, the proposal

         14  would expand the Department's jurisdiction to

         15  include activities that are otherwise outside the

         16  scope of the HIC law.

         17                 The problems this causes can be

         18  illustrated by discussing the requirement of proper

         19  notice before a vehicle is seized, Council Member

         20  Stabile touched on this earlier.

         21                 As specifically provided in the

         22  current law, a vehicle may be seized only, and I am

         23  quoting, upon service on the owner or operator of

         24  the vehicle of a notice of violation for engaging in

         25  unlicensed activity.
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          2                 This requirement clearly contemplates

          3  that the vehicle owner be specifically put on notice

          4  of the illegal conduct prior to the seizure.

          5                 This notice requirement is relatively

          6  easily satisfied under current law, because we can

          7  presume that anyone engaging in home improvement

          8  contractor activity knows that they must have a

          9  license, and knows that they are violating the law

         10  if they don't possess that license.

         11                 However, under the proposed

         12  amendment, the vehicle would be seized because of a

         13  violation of the stop work order. In this case we

         14  cannot presume that the owner of the vehicle being

         15  seized was aware that a stop work order had been

         16  issued. What if the stop work order was issued to

         17  the general contractor who never told the truck

         18  contractor who we are now targeting; can we take

         19  this vehicle?

         20                 The current seizure provision also

         21  requires that at the hearing to be held subsequent

         22  to the seizure, a specific determination be made

         23  that the seized vehicle was used in connection with

         24  such violation.

         25                 While this requirement may again be
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          2  relatively easily met when the seizure involves an

          3  unlicensed contractor, it may be far more difficult

          4  to establish that connection in the expanded

          5  circumstances contemplated in this bill.

          6                 The last issue is the question of

          7  what would actually be accomplished by seizing the

          8  vehicle of a licensed contractor and charging them

          9  with unlicensed activity.

         10                 To explain this point, I must give

         11  you some background. The Home Improvement Contractor

         12  Law is primarily a consumer protection law. It is

         13  designed to ensure that if a contractor defrauds a

         14  consumer, we have the necessary authority to resolve

         15  the problem.

         16                 Therefore, our current seizure law is

         17  used primarily to ensure that unlicensed contractors

         18  get licensed. If a vehicle is seized, the owner can

         19  come in, pay the fine for being unlicensed, and as

         20  long as they file for a license the vehicle is

         21  returned.

         22                 Now, how would this work with a

         23  licensed contractor who violated a stop work order?

         24                 The vehicle would be seized, the

         25  owner would come in and present his or her license,
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          2  and then what? How do they get the vehicle back? Can

          3  they get the vehicle back?

          4                 The bottom line is that the

          5  Department's goal is to ensure that all contractors

          6  are licensed, but this thrust would be complicated

          7  if the new law requires the Department to declare

          8  that licensed contractors are now unlicensed in

          9  certain circumstances.

         10                 I reiterate that we do support the

         11  goals of this bill and proposal, and I will say that

         12  the obstacles we have outlined may not be

         13  insurmountable, but the proposal would have to be

         14  revised to address the obstacles that I have

         15  outlined.

         16                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         17  testify and I will be happy to answer any questions.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I don't have any

         19  questions at this time.

         20                 Mr. Shor, the Department of Buildings

         21  has on occasion been required, I think even by one

         22  of our budget memorandums of understanding to do

         23  cyclical inspections; is that a possibility? The

         24  cyclical inspections we are talking about were

         25  primarily directed to multiple dwellings, Class 2
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          2  properties, not Class 1 properties, how would you

          3  think how effective, or do you think it would be

          4  practical to impose cyclical as opposed to a

          5  complaint driven process for this issue?

          6                 MR. SHOR: Well, the problem with not

          7  going by complaint driven inspections is that we

          8  have approximately a million buildings in this City,

          9  and I know you are going to a subgroup, but when we

         10  have the responsibility then to go to every building

         11  and a group of buildings, number one, we have a

         12  large number of complaints that we need to address

         13  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So, you are

         15  saying it wouldn't work?

         16                 MR. SHOR: It would be difficult. I

         17  can't say it wouldn't work, but it would be

         18  difficult.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I tend to agree

         20  with you. Then you would have to isolate a certain

         21  section, and there would be howls in that section of

         22  town saying why us and not some other section, okay.

         23                 Since there is no member of the

         24  Committee requesting an opportunity to ask questions

         25  based on your testimony, we want to thank both of
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          2  you. Our best to your Commissioner.

          3                 MR. HABERMAN: Thank you.

          4                 MR. SHOR: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We will begin

          6  now with the general public, with the admonition,

          7  please, that we have a large number wishing to

          8  speak.

          9                 Mr. Kawal Totaram.

         10                 MR. TOTARAM:  Mr. Chairman, members

         11  of the City Council, it is indeed a great honor and

         12  a privilege to address this august body.

         13                 I bring you greetings from the Queens

         14  Caribbean Bar Association, and its President Mr. Nan

         15  Bidice, who is unable to make it today.

         16                 My name is Kawal Totaram, and I am

         17  the Public Relations --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I know the last

         19  one, I can deal with that, but the first one sort of

         20  escaped me.

         21                 MR. TOTARAM: Kawal, K-a-w-a-l.

         22                 And I bring you greetings on behalf

         23  of that association.

         24                 Mr. Chairman, the Queens Caribbean

         25  Bar Association is made up of over 30 lawyers of
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          2  Caribbean descent who have been practicing primarily

          3  in the Queens Jamaica area for over ten years, and

          4  this body represents numerous immigrant population

          5  and the Caribbean population, and we are overtly

          6  concerned of the intent and purposes of this

          7  amendment and the legislation as a whole.

          8                 Let me make it clear that we do not

          9  condone the subdivision of one or two-family houses

         10  into multiple dwellings and rooming houses. We, as

         11  lawyers, do understand the risk of safety and health

         12  hazards. Rather, our focus should be on the question

         13  of the application of this law and the way it is

         14  being done in the Queens area.

         15                 The Bar Association feels that this

         16  would have an adverse effect on buyers and sellers

         17  in the Queens area.

         18                 The amendment, as it stands presently

         19  before us, seeks to punish the purchaser,

         20  so-to-speak, when he signs an application at a time

         21  of transfer.

         22                 There is a thing in this country

         23  called due process, Mr. Chairman, and if we are to

         24  allow the purchaser to sign an affidavit admitting

         25  that there are no illegal conversions when as a
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          2  layman he doesn't know the legal implications and

          3  nobody has visited the place, why is it then later

          4  on, Mr. Chairman, when he is given a violation he is

          5  called to a hearing?

          6                 It is unfair, because then the

          7  prosecutor or the government body will pick up the

          8  affidavit and say you can't go anywhere, you have

          9  attested it. That is in essence the denial of a due

         10  process.

         11                 This act would also have severe

         12  affect on the housing market, and I think the other

         13  speakers will speak elaborately on that.

         14                 But I want to address some of the

         15  concerns that have been raised by members of the

         16  City Council, in terms of time limits.

         17                 When this legislation was first

         18  articulated, and sent in a community, I wrote a

         19  memorandum, the Queens Caribbean Bar Association

         20  wrote a memorandum to the Borough President, whereby

         21  we tried to see how we can resolve these situations.

         22  And one of the proposals is that if you can create a

         23  narcotics court, if you can create several

         24  administrative bodies, why don't we create a court

         25  to expedite the handling of the basement issue?
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          2  Because when one goes to court, first of all, we

          3  can't go to landlord and tenant court.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Why not?

          5                 MR. TOTARAM: Because most of these

          6  things are illegal conversion, it is going to a

          7  multiple family and it is not registered to a

          8  multiple family, the court doesn't have

          9  jurisdiction. First we serve 30-days notice, and

         10  after 30 days notice, we have to give them a further

         11  20-days notice. Now, to the 20-days notice, if the

         12  person doesn't answer, we have to give 45 days when

         13  we put it before the inquest calendar. If the person

         14  doesn't turn up, we get a judgment. The lawyer now

         15  submits a warrant to the court with a proposed

         16  judgment, the marshal takes sometimes one to one and

         17  a half months to execute, then comes the tenants in

         18  court and say I have not been served. Well, no big

         19  problem. When you go to conferences the judge will

         20  says, well, counselor, do you know that I have the

         21  right to give this person two months extra? And what

         22  do you do then? You can't appeal to the judge, your

         23  Honor, the law states they are cracking down on

         24  basement in Richmond Hill or this other area, we

         25  can't say that. So, one has to appreciate the
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          2  problems we are encountering, for on the one hand,

          3  while we want to help the situation, the

          4  administrative and the bureaucratic body is pressing

          5  down, you are not having a chance so-to-speak.

          6                 Mr. Chairman, we are very much

          7  concerned in the application. Now, what is

          8  happening, we feel strongly, very strongly that this

          9  act is malicious. The framers of this act are very

         10  -- I would withdraw the word malicious, did not

         11  have honorable intentions so-to-speak.

         12                 And it tends to depopulate the

         13  Richmond Hill area. This is not the first time in

         14  this country this thing has been happening. If we go

         15  back to our history in the south, it has been used

         16  by the people in the south against the

         17  Afro-American, it has been used in Eastern Europe

         18  during the communist rule, and it has been used in

         19  other situations in Germany during the Third Reich.

         20                 And it is a situation where it is

         21  overbearing, and so it is time that the City Council

         22  pays attention to what the members are doing. And I

         23  want to say in your deliberations, to examine the

         24  application and the implementation because we feel

         25  strongly that Richmond Hill, southern Queens, has
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          2  been targeted. And the record will show, Mr.

          3  Chairman, you did ask the people from the

          4  Administration about the question of complaints. It

          5  would be wise in your deliberations to ask them,

          6  where these complaints are coming from and how the

          7  complaints are not coming from other parts of

          8  Queens.

          9                 I thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I can

         10  answer any questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

         12  much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I have a

         14  question.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Just a moment.

         16                 Let me hear from Trevor, who has got

         17  the table as well. Trevor Rupnarain, also a leading

         18  voice from the Richmond Hill community.

         19                 MR. RUPNARAIN: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 Mr. Chairman, elected officials, good

         22  morning.

         23                 The last time I was here, Mr.

         24  Chairman, was in the capacity of the President of

         25  the Queens Caribbean Bar Association, supporting a
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          2  call for amnesty. Today I am here as an attorney who

          3  has been practicing real estate law for over eight

          4  years in the South Queens area, and have closed real

          5  estate titles in over 5,000 houses, the issue of

          6  illegal conversion certainly warranted concern for

          7  our immigrant community.

          8                 For us to understand the seriousness

          9  of this issue, it is essential that we understand

         10  the history of our community.

         11                 Richmond Hill and its immediate

         12  environs is densely populated by West Indian and

         13  Asian immigrants.

         14                 Over 15 years of migration into this

         15  community has increased the demand for housing which

         16  in turn increased the price of houses. And as a

         17  result of the high prices of the house, first-time

         18  home buyers were forced to consider the rental of

         19  available space in their new homes to subsidize

         20  their mortgage payments, closing costs and general

         21  living expenses.

         22                 Even the people who reside in illegal

         23  basements are generally grateful for the opportunity

         24  to live affordably.

         25                 So, this practice mutually benefitted
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          2  the home owner and the low-income families who

          3  rented the basement.

          4                 After the first time home buyers

          5  acquired a firm financial footing, they usually move

          6  up to a single-family home. In his house he would

          7  usually renovate it and typically use the basement

          8  or the cellar for recreational, cooking, religious

          9  purposes or to accommodate visitors.

         10                 There is no doubt that the laws

         11  relating to illegal conversions are for safety and

         12  health. The legislators initiated and framed such

         13  laws at that time in our history when no one can

         14  predict the growth and economic progress of our

         15  population.

         16                 The City's statement in support of

         17  the law suggests that there are tens of thousands of

         18  illegal apartments in New York City. No doubt the

         19  fines and violations would rid the homes of the

         20  illegal occupants. The question is, is the City of

         21  New York prepared to offer to provide alternative

         22  housing for these people that would be displaced?

         23                 Is the City and federal government

         24  prepared for the social and economic consequences of

         25  homelessness, subsidized homes, foreclosure and
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          2  maybe abandoned properties?

          3                 The City also advances the argument

          4  that illegal conversions and danger to health and

          5  safety because the construction fails to meet the

          6  safety standards of the fire and building codes.

          7                 The safety of the tenant is priority,

          8  there are no statistics to show how many persons

          9  died from illegally converted apartments, as opposed

         10  to say plane crashes, car accidents or pollution. I

         11  firmly believe that there are qualified engineers

         12  who can establish certain guidelines and implement

         13  safety measures that meet or exceed established fire

         14  and building codes, and I would urge the City to

         15  give some consideration to this approach.

         16                 The City claims that municipal

         17  services are strained. Yes, that is a fact, by why

         18  can't the City hire more people? The City collects

         19  New York City local income taxes from these

         20  residents who probably contribute much more than

         21  they receive in benefits. If they are displaced, in

         22  what way would tens of thousands of people, income

         23  taxes and other contributions adversely effect the

         24  City?

         25                 I am also confident that a homeowner
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          2  with an illegal conversion would not mind paying a

          3  modest increase in real estate taxes to offset the

          4  cost for more people in municipal services.

          5                 School overcrowding, available street

          6  parking, sanitation problems and other reasons

          7  advanced by the city are indeed legitimate concerns,

          8  but I believe the same is a result not necessarily

          9  of illegal conversions, but a lack of proper

         10  planning by City officials.

         11                 Neglect by the City of New York to

         12  provide alternative housing and/or low-cost housing

         13  is a principle cause of our dilemma.

         14                 The proposed legislation has two

         15  major flaws. As an attorney I would object to an

         16  affidavit executed by the grantor and grantee

         17  certifying that a number of dwelling units in the

         18  building does not exceed the number permitted in the

         19  certificate of occupancy.

         20                 This section would only create

         21  fraudulent filings that accommodate the transfer of

         22  real estate, primarily because the grantor and

         23  grantee more often than not are not all as

         24  acquainted with the certificate of occupancy.

         25                 An migrant community such as ours was
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          2  never governed by such stringent building codes and

          3  as such would never understand the impact of the

          4  codes until he is fined.

          5                 A purchaser's ultimate decision to

          6  purchase a house is based primarily on affordability

          7  and a place to live, not necessarily on the C of O.

          8                 The second flaw in the legislation

          9  proposed bill, inasmuch as a waiver of the per diem

         10  penalties provided for in the proposed bill is a

         11  welcome relief, the period of application for 120

         12  days is insufficient, given the current situation in

         13  the courts, as my colleague here established

         14  earlier.

         15                 It is highly unlikely to have a

         16  tenant evicted in 120 days in New York City, given

         17  such legal instruments as order to show cause.

         18                 I would suggest a separate court be

         19  established to deal with illegal apartments, to

         20  facilitate simple and explanative hearings. However,

         21  I believe that original legislation on the building

         22  codes is much more defective, archaic and needs to

         23  be modified.

         24                 Why should a home owner who does

         25  nothing more but maintain the bathroom in his
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          2  basement be fined for illegal conversion. Why should

          3  a home owner be fined for occupancy contrary to C of

          4  O when all he does is to maintain a microwave and a

          5  TV in his basement? These are actual cases.

          6                 Please explain to us, how can a TV

          7  and a microwave and a bathroom in a basement be a

          8  safety concern, cause overcrowding or sanitation

          9  problems. How is public policy adversely affected by

         10  bathrooms in a basement?

         11                 I can understand that a basement

         12  tenant has to go because the law is to be observed,

         13  but why should a homeowner who is protected by the

         14  constitution, the right to own property and privacy

         15  be subject to fines and violations after spending

         16  thousands of dollars to upgrade his home not destroy

         17  it for no objective reasons whatsoever.

         18                 Now that we have restored New York

         19  City Housing inventory, now that we have updated our

         20  homes, now that we have reinvigorated our

         21  neighborhoods, and now that we have achieved some

         22  civic pride, it seems somewhat unfair that draconian

         23  measures will now be utilized to enforce the laws.

         24                 The methods of the enforcement of the

         25  laws have to be ironed out. The Building Department
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          2  has to exercise caution, discretion and tolerance.

          3                 Needless to say, the enforcement is

          4  creating unnecessary hostilities between the home

          5  owners and the City, as in the case of Bashia

          6  Hussain, index 23907/1999 in the Supreme Court of

          7  New York.

          8                 His home was entered into on

          9  September 11th by New York City Housing and Building

         10  inspectors, and he was issued two violations. He

         11  subsequently received a warrant of inspection dated

         12  October 26th, four to five days after his home was

         13  entered into.

         14                 This warrant of October 26th, alleged

         15  prior attempts to gain entry to conduct an

         16  administrative search was unsuccessful. On November

         17  4th, NYC Housing and Building inspectors issued

         18  three more violations.

         19                 Any attempt by an administrative

         20  agency to violate the rights of people, or any

         21  attempts by that agency to profile a community

         22  should be denounced.

         23                 New York City Housing and Building

         24  Inspectors serving notice and knocking on doors

         25  during the wee hours of the morning and evening have
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          2  demonstrated total disregard for the religious

          3  practices of the Hinduism and Muslims. If our

          4  community were not conscious of their ignorance, I

          5  am positive that their conduct may be seen as a

          6  religious persecution.

          7                 Harassment and severe penalties or

          8  bully tactics are certainly not means to be used for

          9  compliance with the laws.

         10                 Another very important factor that

         11  the members of the Housing community must consider

         12  census 2000. I believe that the Building

         13  Department's desire to restore premises to their

         14  original condition will displace thousands of

         15  families. Can New York City afford to subsidize the

         16  housing for these low-income families? Can New York

         17  City afford not to count these people who do not

         18  know where they will be dwelling next?

         19                 The Mayor indicates that New Yorkers

         20  pay more and get less from the federal and state

         21  governments than those living elsewhere, can we

         22  afford this housing crisis now and risk not counting

         23  hundreds of thousands of people?

         24                 Mr. Chairman, the laws must be

         25  revisited and adjustments made.
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          2                 Inasmuch as the City has a concern on

          3  the safety at issue, the new faces of New York City

          4  are coming from all over the world to achieve their

          5  dream. The Mayor in his plan for the City alluded to

          6  the plight of immigrants, they work and pay taxes

          7  like any other American, but are denied federal

          8  assistance. Are we now going to deny them affordable

          9  housing?

         10                 I plead with the Housing Committee to

         11  revisit the laws. Let us all work together, the

         12  architects, engineers, social workers, analysts and

         13  lawyers, to do more research on this issue, and find

         14  more viable solutions. Because I fear the

         15  implementation of these laws may create a greater

         16  and unmanageable social economic crisis.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Rupnarain.

         20                 I have extended to Mr. Rupnarain and

         21  Mr. Totaram a generous amount of time because they,

         22  in my opinion, are recognized as spokespersons on

         23  this issue from their various communities. So, Mr.

         24  Rupnarain, the question is, is the City of New York

         25  prepared to offer or provide alternative housing to
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          2  these people? The answer is clearly no, but still

          3  they come, sir. Still they come. We are inundated.

          4  Our population is not growing from your progeny or

          5  this or that, they are growing from people coming

          6  from all over the world, not just the guy in the

          7  east community and the Muslim community, they are

          8  coming from all over the world. What are we to do? I

          9  mean, what are we to do? Are we to permit a

         10  condition that if it is imposed will destroy the

         11  dream for all, and the quality of life not only for

         12  those who are coming and those who are here but

         13  those who yet want to come? Those are the limits

         14  that we as public officials have to wrestle with as

         15  we embark on this journey.

         16                 Council Member Nelson has a question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, in a

         18  way.

         19                 You obviously are well spoken, you

         20  are gentlemen, I am sure you are honorable, there is

         21  no doubt in my mind, but on the characterizations of

         22  being malicious or dishonorable I think is a little

         23  stretch. I don't think anybody in this audience or

         24  out on the street has those type of intentions at

         25  all, and to make comparisons I think to apartheid or
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          2  Nuremburg I think is absurd, to be euphemistic.

          3                 There are a lot of difficulties here,

          4  there are quality of life issues, no doubt, for the

          5  tenants, so-called illegal tenants as well as the

          6  people who live in the area, it is almost a

          7  contractual situation I believe that when you buy a

          8  home in a one or two-family area, you have a

          9  contract with the City that that is what it is zoned

         10  for, and if you lay out, whatever you lay out,

         11  $100,000, $200,000, $1 million, $20,000, there is an

         12  obligation on behalf of the City to ensure that you

         13  get what you pay for.

         14                 So there are a lot of difficulties.

         15  Affordable housing stock, which I think the

         16  government has been in failing in through the years

         17  and hopefully in the near future we can address this

         18  issue in a positive way, and find homes for people

         19  who cannot really afford to live decently, that is I

         20  think the ultimate priority and one of my goals,

         21  well, am I doing my tenure hopefully in this

         22  Council.

         23                 The safety issues for the people

         24  living there, of course it is an extremely important

         25  issue, I think we are just waiting for disasters to
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          2  happen.

          3                 Anyway, I shouldn't be the Hatfields

          4  and the Coyes here, we have to come up with some

          5  solemnness solution.

          6                 MR. TOTARAM: Let me just address the

          7  question of the Nuremburg situation. I was not

          8  drawing that analogy, so-to-speak, in terms of this,

          9  but let me give you some facts.

         10                 When someone, if someone is sleeping

         11  on a Sunday morning and there is a knock on the door

         12  and you see an inspector there. Sunday morning is

         13  the Sabbath for our people, and it is not an

         14  isolated fact. If someone doesn't know that someone

         15  is coming, and any time, 8:00 in the night someone

         16  comes, is it not a similar analogy that happens

         17  during those times in terms of that?

         18                 I am not drawing the severity of the

         19  matter, but I am saying the tactics being used is

         20  like a Gestapo tactics where you can come in

         21  people's homes all the time. And the malicious, I

         22  withdraw that remark.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: The

         24  sensitivity should be addressed, you are absolutely

         25  correct about that.
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          2                 Of course the ultimate solution,

          3  whatever you want to call it, is absurd. But that

          4  should be addressed, the sensitivity of religious

          5  issues.

          6                 MR. TOTARAM: And alluding to, Mr.

          7  Spigner, your comment about housing. There are other

          8  people coming into this Country and before they

          9  arrive here they have housing already prepared for

         10  them. And why not these other people who have a

         11  problem in this situation?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Who are the

         13  other people?

         14                 MR. TOTARAM: The federal records and

         15  the City records are repleted with those

         16  information, and I need not answer that question in

         17  terms of that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: If you want to

         19  be more specific, Mr. Totaram, I am certainly happy

         20  to entertain any specifics.

         21                 MR. TOTARAM: I would leave the

         22  comment to that where it stands.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chair.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 MR. TOTARAM: Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          5                 Council Member Marshall.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Good

          7  evening, gentlemen. And I am very proud of you,

          8  because, I, too, am of Guyanese descent. I was born

          9  in this country but both of my parents were born in

         10  Georgetown British Guyana.

         11                 MR. TOTARAM: Good.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: They married

         13  here and I was born of that marriage.

         14                 First of all, I don't think it is at

         15  all fair or proper to refer to the framers of this

         16  legislation and compare them with Nazis and

         17  communists, and also with the struggle that went on

         18  in this country.

         19                 MR. TOTARAM: I didn't say that, Ms.

         20  Marshall.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, that

         22  is clearly the implication that I got. Even compared

         23  it to --

         24                 MR. TOTARAM: I said the operation --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Allow me to
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          2  finish my statement, okay?

          3                 To compare them also with the

          4  oppressors who oppressed our people in the south of

          5  this country. I would say that that is very unfair.

          6  And when we make unrealistic kinds of accusations,

          7  it minimizes your argument.

          8                 Now, no one in this world buys a

          9  house without looking at it. If they do, I have a

         10  question about the whole transaction. Both of you

         11  are attorneys, people have to hire attorneys to

         12  handle their closings for them, it is your

         13  responsibility to look out for your clients.

         14  Mortgage institutions want very often a professional

         15  inspection filed on file showing exactly what

         16  conditions existed or did not exist in that house

         17  prior to issuing a mortgage to people who are trying

         18  to borrow money.

         19                 Now, some of the points that you

         20  bring up are very good and important. For instance,

         21  problems with removing a tenant from an illegal

         22  apartment are problems that my office gets. My

         23  office gets that, both from the tenant and from the

         24  owner of the building. Many owners in our one and

         25  two-family houses, one and two-family houses have
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          2  far less restrictions on them than multiple

          3  dwelling, and so therefore basically all a buyer has

          4  to say is that I want to bring my family in and I

          5  need that apartment for my family, et cetera.

          6                 You talked about the question of, and

          7  I believe we worked many ways to try to bring that

          8  to satisfactory for all parties involved.

          9                 Now, access has already been a real

         10  problem. We asked for evening and weekend

         11  inspections. Now, eight o'clock in the morning on

         12  Sunday, I would say that violates my sabbath too,

         13  and I don't really feel that anybody should be

         14  awakened at eight o'clock in the morning for an

         15  inspection on a Sunday morning or a Saturday

         16  morning, which is a sabbath for other people. But

         17  certainly a reasonable time on the weekend and the

         18  evenings has proven to be very helpful.

         19                 Many times it is impossible to get

         20  hold of people who live in the house because they

         21  are working people and this is the only time you can

         22  do it. And I would not compare that with what went

         23  on in Nazi Germany.

         24                 Now, no one should get a fine for

         25  having a TV or a microwave in their basement. But if

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            103

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  you have a bathroom in your basement and that has

          3  been a problem, there are people who bought their

          4  homes with bathrooms in their basement and some of

          5  them even bought their homes with a kitchen in the

          6  basement. If those homes were bought before a

          7  certain time, before 1938 and if those homes had

          8  those existing conditions before 1938, then they are

          9  grandfathered in. And I have had to go to the ECB

         10  Board and people had to bring copies of their floor

         11  plan, et cetera, and their deed to show what

         12  pre-existed. There is a way to deal with that,

         13  right?

         14                 It is complaint-driven and many times

         15  a neighbor will, because they don't like another

         16  neighbor, will turn them in.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member,

         18  will you ask your question, please? We don't want to

         19  engage in a debate.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: You also

         21  said that -- you referred to people who have housing

         22  here waiting for them. There might be some of them,

         23  and we do have some protected immigrants who come

         24  in, but that is very, very minimal. The greatest

         25  majority of people that come in here have to find a
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          2  place to live, and the district that I represent

          3  does not have a large Guyanese or Indian community,

          4  it basically has a large Hispanic community. And so

          5  therefore the same things that are happening to you

          6  are happening in many places. In Brooklyn the

          7  Russian immigrant community has the same thing. So

          8  it is very important how you frame your argument,

          9  okay?

         10                 We have worked hard, very hard, to

         11  try to find a seat for every child who comes. We

         12  have a very caring state. We have a compulsory

         13  education law that removes any kind of implications

         14  on your immigration process. That child must be

         15  educated because they are standing on the ground of

         16  the United States of America, particularly the State

         17  of New York. We have done, we bought synagogues, we

         18  have done all kinds of things, hospitals, converted

         19  them into schools and it is a constant, constant

         20  effort that we are going through.

         21                 Now, I think that some of the

         22  arguments that you have, that is the reason -- this

         23  is a democracy, this is a hearing, this is a public

         24  institution that represents the legislation of our

         25  City, that is why we invite you here. If you have
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          2  some very specific things that you would like to

          3  give us that will improve the law, we welcome that.

          4  You are lawyers and therefore you are familiar with

          5  the law. Give us information that you think will be

          6  helpful. Join the task force that the Borough

          7  President has organized to help us and maybe you

          8  will learn and maybe we will learn but there will

          9  clearly be an exchange.

         10                 That is the only way a democracy can

         11  work.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

         14  Council Member.

         15                 Council Member Leffler.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Good morning.

         17                 MR. RUPNARAIN: Good morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: There are

         19  limited number of provisions in the legislation. One

         20  of them is the certification, which seems to me to

         21  basically try to address a worthwhile problem, and

         22  that is that people who sell and buy, you know,

         23  homes should realize that they are entering into an

         24  important transaction, and should look at the

         25  transaction and see to it that it is a lawful
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          2  transaction, the buyer should see to it that in fact

          3  the property is in conformity with the applicable

          4  zoning and the seller should also not be selling a

          5  home which he knows has unlawful residences.

          6                 You know I have read your testimony

          7  on that, and I am not convinced.

          8                 It seems to me that the purpose here

          9  has been achieved, for example, in connection with

         10  smoke detectors, which is was modeled on, which we

         11  passed in the Public Safety Committee any number of

         12  years ago and which has led not to everybody having

         13  a smoke detector in his home, but to people

         14  generally realizing that they should have smoke

         15  detectors, they certify it. A lot more smoke

         16  detectors have been put in, there are a lot fewer

         17  fires in the City that we have.

         18                 Hopefully if people here also realize

         19  that they are obliged not to have unlawful

         20  apartments, there will be fewer unlawful apartments.

         21                 Why isn't the model with smoke

         22  detectors used as a model, and why would this not be

         23  a fair responsibility to impose on both the buyer

         24  and the seller?

         25                 MR. TOTARAM: Councilman, let me just

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            107

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  respond quickly to that. If we are to take the

          3  properties in our community, and I do agree with

          4  you, the buyer should be aware of the condition of

          5  the property, but if we are to take that scenario,

          6  we would never be able to close any real estate in

          7  Richmond Hill or the immediate environments.

          8                 Almost every single one of the houses

          9  have some illegality, what is an extension, an

         10  enclosed porch, an illegal basement, something

         11  there.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: What we would

         13  want is the illegalities be legalized. We don't want

         14  illegalities to continue to the next generation. You

         15  know, that was the case with the smoke detectors

         16  too. There was a requirement that there be smoke

         17  detectors in homes and people said, well, why should

         18  we impede sales in homes if we require it to be an

         19  affidavit? But the only way to see to it that in

         20  fact people comply with the law is to have some

         21  certification, and I think the statistics bear out

         22  that there are more smoke detectors and fewer fires,

         23  and I would think the same thing would happen here.

         24  Not that everybody will comply but you will have

         25  more legalization and people will just face up to
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          2  the fact that when they buy a home they are

          3  responsible for something. And there are

          4  responsibilities of living in the society as well.

          5                 MR. TOTARAM: Executing the smoke

          6  detector affidavit at the closing does not

          7  necessarily mean there is a smoke alarm on the

          8  property, and I believe the same effect here will be

          9  on that certificate of occupancy requirement.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It does

         11  require it. You are supposed to see to it that you

         12  have an operating smoke alarm in your home.

         13                 MR. TOTARAM: But it has been a custom

         14  for buyers and sellers just to sign it, just to get

         15  the deed recorded. Whether in fact it existed or not

         16  may be a different question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You are a

         18  lawyer, I am a lawyer. I mean, you should never sign

         19  something and certify that it is the case without in

         20  fact seeing to it that it is the case.

         21                 I mean, I bought a home also after

         22  this went into effect, and I there was no smoke

         23  alarm, we saw to it that there was a smoke alarm put

         24  in. That is what we want, and here, too, somebody

         25  should come and look at the home, and if in fact it
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          2  is only in a one-family zone, then, you know, both

          3  buyer and seller should be responsible for saying,

          4  yes, it is a one-family home.

          5                 It seems to me that getting people to

          6  acknowledge that is worthwhile.

          7                 MR. TOTARAM: I don't feel that the

          8  smoke alarm and the C of O is different. The smoke

          9  alarm, if they execute the affidavit, you could

         10  purchase a smoke alarm for ten bucks and install it

         11  the day of closing.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right.

         13                 MR. TOTARAM: The C of O is not easily

         14  done like that. It takes time. You will never be

         15  able to close the house. It takes months of time to

         16  get a certificate of occupancy or permit from the

         17  Building Department.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I think that

         19  what you would get is that setting up a C of O

         20  requirement would see to it that there would be more

         21  conformity with certificates of occupancy, which is

         22  what we want.

         23                 I mean, you know, zoning is intended

         24  to establish a certain quality of life in a

         25  community. There is a certain level of service in a
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          2  community, there is a certain level of fire

          3  protection that you need and the like. I mean, if

          4  you have a home, why would you want everybody else

          5  nearby to be selling and having multiple illegal

          6  occupancies along the block. You could have a fire,

          7  you could have -- you have all sorts of other

          8  undesirable impacts on your block, it seems to me we

          9  all have a stake in this. In the way that we see to

         10  it that responsibilities are discharged is by having

         11  a legal document, so that people say I certify that

         12  I am selling you a one-family home, if that is what

         13  it is, or a two family in a two-family zone, and not

         14  an illegal residence.

         15                 It would seem to me you would have a

         16  stake in that also. You would want to maintain a

         17  quality of life.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Can we conclude

         19  this debate?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: I am just

         21  trying to communicate because it seems to me this is

         22  a feasible type of requirement which would tend to

         23  promote the conformity of the law.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your point has

         25  been made, Councilman.
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          2                 MR. TOTARAM: One of the last points I

          3  want to make, I am put to wonder very often that the

          4  moment somebody of immigrant derivation buys a

          5  house, the inspector comes the next day to give him

          6  a violation and he never goes to that person who

          7  sells the house all of these years.

          8                 It has happened continuously that the

          9  moment someone purchases a house in our community he

         10  is issued a violation. And I have hundreds of cases

         11  to that effect.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Sir, I think

         13  the purpose of trying, of getting a certification by

         14  both is that both be responsible. Both are getting

         15  the benefit of the government of the society. I

         16  mean, homes, we both live in Queens, homes cost

         17  hundreds of thousands of dollars, is it too much for

         18  somebody who is getting hundreds of thousands of

         19  dollars, protected by the society, to say we are

         20  doing something in accordance with law? After all,

         21  the buyer may be a fly-by-night operator, we may not

         22  be able to enforce this against the buyer, the

         23  seller is getting hundreds of thousands of dollars

         24  out of the transaction, why should he not be

         25  required to see to it that it is in conformity with
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          2  the zoning? I don't think that is too much for

          3  somebody realizing a couple of hundred thousand

          4  dollars.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I am going to

          6  conclude.

          7                 Gentlemen, thanks very much.

          8                 MR. RUPNARAIN: Thank you.

          9                 MS. TOTARAM: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Rupnarain,

         11  did you put in two slips, one on 127-18 and at one

         12  at 127-12.

         13                 MR. RUPNARAIN: Someone may have done

         14  so for me.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Or are there two

         16  Trevors here today?

         17                 MR. RUPNARAIN: No.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         19                 Okay, we move now then to a

         20  gentleman, Jim Wrinn, representing Assemblyman Mark

         21  Weprin.

         22                 MR. WRINN: Mr. Chairman, and members

         23  of the Committee, thank you. On behalf of the

         24  Assemblyman, I would like to thank you for allowing

         25  me to come before you and express the Assemblyman's
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          2  support of Intro. 363-A in relation to illegal

          3  apartment conversions.

          4                 I am the elected representative for

          5  the 24th Assembly District in Queens where the

          6  problem of illegal conversions is one of the top

          7  concerns in the area that I represent. The

          8  proliferation of illegal apartment conversion and

          9  the hardships placed upon the City's services, as a

         10  result of their existence are numerous, not to

         11  mention onerous.

         12                 The disastrous Domino effect begins

         13  with the overcrowding --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Excuse me, Mr.

         15  Wrinn. Would you describe what portions of the

         16  borough does Assemblyman Weprin represent?

         17                 MR. WRINN: He is basically in

         18  Northeastern Queens, which is a single family home

         19  owner district for the most part.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And that

         21  includes the communities of?

         22                 MR. WRINN: Bayside, Hollis Hills,

         23  Jamaica Estates, those areas. There are also some

         24  garden-type apartment complexes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay. Sorry to
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          2  interrupt.

          3                 MR. WRINN: That's okay. It is an area

          4  that has been greatly affected, as with Council

          5  Member Sheldon Leffler's area, by this type of

          6  development over the last several years.

          7                 The disastrous Domino effect begins

          8  with the overcrowding of our public schools,

          9  increased demand on our water and sewer systems,

         10  sanitation services and regulatory agencies, and

         11  ends with a general decline in the quality of life

         12  for all New Yorkers.

         13                 I have seen firsthand the obvious

         14  signs of existing illegally converted residences.

         15  All you have to do is look at the bags of garbage

         16  and filth strewn in the gutters, the lack of parking

         17  spaces in residential areas, and read the Board of

         18  Education reports of overcrowding in our schools.

         19                 The end of illegal conversions needs

         20  to be given a high priority. Exponentially, as

         21  illegal conversions have become more proliferic,

         22  quality of life issues have become more eroded.

         23                 Those persons who illegally convert

         24  space for occupancy are breaking the law, pure and

         25  simple. The flagrant violation of existing zoning
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          2  laws and the blatant disregard for the negative

          3  impact on the neighborhood at large by unscrupulous

          4  developers has been ignored as infractions for too

          5  long.

          6                 The plain and simple truth is that

          7  the lives of these occupants are in danger from fire

          8  and disease, the message of tolerance by any city

          9  administration is intolerable and unacceptable. The

         10  solution is to punish those who ignore our laws and

         11  endanger our citizens.

         12                 For the sake of brevity, I will not

         13  reiterate the specifics of the legislation.

         14                 As you are well aware, the key

         15  components of the legislation, things such as

         16  certification at closing, stop work orders, per diem

         17  penalties, prohibition against new building permits

         18  for violators, have emerged as necessary measures

         19  from the Coalition of Boroughwide Civic

         20  Associations, regulatory agencies, City agencies and

         21  elected officials.

         22                 The Queens Borough President's Task

         23  Force of which I am a member has monitored several

         24  locations and seen the arrogance and audacious

         25  behavior exhibited by individuals who believe that
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          2  nothing can be done to them.

          3                 The accepted mode of operation

          4  illegally convert the building, pay any fines

          5  imposed as a matter of doing business and continue

          6  to construct fire hazards and unhealthy living

          7  conditions for profit.

          8                 These men and women are blatantly

          9  violating the law. They are not paying their share

         10  of taxes and steeling services from the City which

         11  are paid for by the general public.

         12                 The Council must act and provide the

         13  legal remedies to stop this now. Council Member

         14  Archie Spigner's legislation is a move in the right

         15  direction.

         16                 This is just the first step in

         17  getting control of communities and protecting the

         18  rights of its residents.

         19                 Intro. 363-A must be enacted and the

         20  funding must be provided to enable the Department of

         21  Buildings and the Department of Finance to send a

         22  clear message - illegal conversion practices will no

         23  longer be tolerated in the City of New York.

         24                 I have been working with my

         25  colleague, Assemblywoman Audrey Pheifer, to do what
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          2  we can on the state level. We need the City Council

          3  to lead the way in exposing the serious problem of

          4  illegal conversion.

          5                 I urge your vote in the best interest

          6  of our neighborhood and our communities, so that New

          7  York City can thrive and prosper in a healthy and

          8  legal environment.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Can I ask a

         12  quick question?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sure, you can.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: How are you?

         15  Welcome.

         16                 MR. WRINN: Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Most of the

         18  houses that are sold in your district, what is the

         19  nature of those sales, are they completely cash, or

         20  do the people seek mortgages?

         21                 MR. WRINN: Well, I am changing hats

         22  now to my role as a lawyer. I would say the

         23  overwhelming majority are with mortgages, very few

         24  cash transactions.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: From loaning
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          2  institutions that issue mortgages?

          3                 MR. WRINN: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Do you find

          5  as a result of that that when people sit down at the

          6  table for their closing, that they have engineering

          7  reports, are they required by the lending

          8  institution?

          9                 MR. WRINN: The lending institutions

         10  send out an inspector, and they also require a title

         11  report that has the exact type of housing, type of

         12  zoning and the type of house that is built on it.

         13  Most also require a current survey, and the

         14  inspection requires that the inspector go and repair

         15  the structures that are on the property with what is

         16  contained on the survey to make sure they are in

         17  compliance.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Would you

         19  say that the illegal conversions that are done are

         20  done prior to the sale or after the sale?

         21                 MR. WRINN: Well, if it is done prior

         22  to the sale, the bank should find out about it,

         23  otherwise the inspector is not doing his job or

         24  someone at the bank is not doing their job. So they

         25  would know about anything that exists at the time of
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          2  sale.

          3                 The only thing they wouldn't know

          4  about is anything that happens afterwards because I

          5  don't believe it is their practice to reinspect at

          6  any time afterward.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Thank you.

          8                 MR. WRINN: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         10  Watkins.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Mr. Wrinn,

         12  let me ask you this question, if there has been an

         13  illegal conversion and the bank inspector does find

         14  this out, does this in any way stop the issuance of

         15  the mortgage?

         16                 MR. WRINN: It can.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: What is the

         18  usual practice?

         19                 MR. WRINN: Usually you try to get it

         20  taken care of, if you can. If you can't, a lot of

         21  times you will hold money in escrow, to give the

         22  seller an opportunity to cure the violation.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS:  What about C

         24  of O's? Where do they come into the picture?

         25                 MR. WRINN: I would say it would
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          2  depend on the lender, some are stricter than others.

          3                 I mean, they are always going to want

          4  compliance with the proper C of O. If they don't

          5  require compliance with it, usually they didn't

          6  inspect properly.

          7                 They are actually very, very tough on

          8  compliance with the certificate of occupancy right

          9  now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I thought so.

         11                 It is 25 years since I purchased my

         12  home, but I remember there was a big deal about

         13  making sure that there was a proper certificate of

         14  occupancy.

         15                 And I have to say further, being

         16  granddaughter of immigrants who came to this country

         17  in 1905 and purchased a three-family brownstone in

         18  Brooklyn in 1928, one of the things that my

         19  grandmother reiterated over and over was this

         20  business about not having more than three families

         21  because it was a legal three family with a

         22  certificate that said so.

         23                 So, I am a bit confused if people are

         24  not being required at this stage to have and be

         25  knowledgeable about a certificate of occupancy for
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          2  their homes at the time of purchase. And I was of

          3  the impression that the mortgage lenders required

          4  it.

          5                 MR. WRINN: They absolutely do. If I

          6  could, the gentleman who spoke last, they weren't

          7  talking about whether it was a legal one or legal

          8  two or legal three, they are talking about all the

          9  other things that go with it, which is additions or

         10  renovations that may have been made.

         11                 We very rarely have a problem with

         12  whether it is a legal one or a two or a three, that

         13  is usually pretty obvious and people generally know

         14  what they are buying as far as that goes.

         15                 They may not know if they are buying

         16  something that had an illegal addition made, but in

         17  those cases usually it is disclosed prior to closing

         18  because the bank wants it and in those situations

         19  usually either it is corrected or there is an escrow

         20  established, so that gives the seller an opportunity

         21  to cure the violation.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: The last

         23  question, Mr. Wrinn. If it says on a two-family

         24  dwelling that the C of O says and the description

         25  says that it is a two-family dwelling, and it is
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          2  sold with the assurance that there is a rental

          3  apartment in the basement all fitted out, is this

          4  not obviously in violation of that two-family

          5  dwelling C of O?

          6                 MR. WRINN: Yes. But it will be sold

          7  as illegal too. A lot of times won't send an

          8  inspector inside the house, but if the inspector

          9  sees that it is being used as a three-family, they

         10  would raise that as an issue.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I see. Thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Wrinn, I

         14  want to thank you for your testimony on behalf of

         15  the Assemblyman, and please give our best to him.

         16                 We have 33 people who want to

         17  testify, so now we will go to Mr. Howard Goldson. Is

         18  Mr. Goldson in the house? Then we have a long list.

         19  Gentlemen, keep those restraints in mind.

         20                 MR. GOLDSON: Good afternoon, Chairman

         21  Spigner, fellow committee members and staff, thank

         22  you for allowing us the opportunity to testify

         23  before you today.

         24                 I am Randy Kaplan. I am the Manager

         25  of Governmental Relations for the Long Island Board
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          2  of Realtors, to my left is Howard Golden, the

          3  Counsel, and Dialle Gangrum, the Vice President for

          4  Queens for the Long Island Board of Realtors.

          5                 In order to comply with your request,

          6  Mr. Chairman, we are going to expedite this by

          7  allowing Howard Goldson to speak on our behalf.

          8                 MR. GOLDSON: Mr. Chairman, members of

          9  the Committee, the Long Island Board of Realtors is

         10  a trade association made up of over 12,000 licensed

         11  real estate brokers and agents, many of whom conduct

         12  their business in the City of New York, principally

         13  in Queens and Kings County.

         14                 The Long Island Board of Realtors

         15  understands that this proposed legislation is

         16  intended to answer the problem created by illegal

         17  apartments and occupancies.

         18                 We wish to make very clear on this

         19  record that we recognize the problems and that we

         20  support efforts to find solutions to these problems.

         21                 We are not in any way opposed to what

         22  you are trying to accomplish here. We do believe,

         23  however, that this particular legislation, as it is

         24  now written, is ill founded and should not be

         25  passed.
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          2                 Specifically, we are concerned with

          3  the impact that this proposed law will have on real

          4  estate brokers conducting business in the City of

          5  New York.

          6                 As we read the bill, each broker will

          7  have to sign an affidavit, which among other things

          8  must state the number of occupancies actually

          9  existing in the building and the number of

         10  occupancies that are set forth as legal in the C O

         11  or other records of the Building Department.

         12                 We oppose this legislation because

         13  typically the broker and the agent just does not

         14  have this information. They do not have a copy of

         15  the CO, they have not seen a copy of the CO. If it

         16  was built prior to 1938, they certainly do not have

         17  a copy of any records at the Building Department

         18  which would indicate what the legal occupancy of

         19  this building is.

         20                 Not only don't they have the

         21  information, but the obtaining of this information

         22  in most cases, particularly in pre-1938

         23  construction, is beyond their competence and

         24  ability. So, you are really asking the real estate

         25  brokers to make an affidavit here under the threat
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          2  of perjury with respect to knowledge that they

          3  simply do not have.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your point is

          5  well made, sir. That point has been made several

          6  times.

          7                 MR. GOLDSON: What we find puzzling,

          8  quite frankly, is, and it has been alluded to here

          9  this morning, that in virtually every real estate

         10  transaction, which will be covered by this

         11  enactment, there is a title company and an attorney

         12  for a purchaser whose job it is to ascertain the

         13  legal occupancy of the property.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We concede that

         15  as well.

         16                 MR. GOLDSON: Okay. So, if you were

         17  going to want some sort of certification process, it

         18  would seem to us that you ask for certification from

         19  the people who have the knowledge, not for someone

         20  who doesn't have the knowledge, and you have two

         21  prime candidates.

         22                 It would seem to me that this bill,

         23  and I am not saying the certification is necessarily

         24  the answer, but if it is the answer, then that

         25  certification should be made either by the attorney
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          2  representing the purchaser, or by the title company,

          3  because those are the people who get paid to

          4  ascertain that exact information.

          5                 I just want to make one last point.

          6  Ms. Shulman made reference to what she said is a

          7  small minority of brokers who are actually involved

          8  in creating the problem. I want to make it clear we

          9  don't countenance (sic) that action. But more

         10  important, I want to make clear that there is a

         11  remedy with respect to such real estate brokers, and

         12  that is the Department of State of the State of New

         13  York.

         14                 I have over 30 years of experience in

         15  defending brokers in disciplinary proceedings

         16  brought by that Department, and I can assure you

         17  that a complaint that involved a broker creating and

         18  being active in creating an occupancy that was

         19  illegal, would probably result the revocation of

         20  that broker's license.

         21                 And the interesting thing is that in

         22  that proceeding, the standard of evidence against

         23  the brokers is a substantial evidence rule, which

         24  means that if there is any evidence whatsoever, even

         25  if it was not evidence that would be legally
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          2  sufficient in a court, the hearing officer has the

          3  power to make a determination that the broker acted

          4  in an untrustworthy fashion. And if the hearing

          5  officer makes that determination, that determination

          6  cannot be set aside by an appellate court, because

          7  under our administrative law system the courts then

          8  have the power to mess with the finding of facts by

          9  a hearing officer if it is based upon substantial

         10  evidence.

         11                 Now, as I have told you, I have

         12  first-hand experience with Mr. Tredloe and his

         13  enforcement staff. If you have problems with

         14  specific brokers, that is the remedy that you should

         15  follow, and I think if you speak to Secretary

         16  Tredloe's staff, you fill find they are most

         17  cooperative to work with you to rectify that

         18  situation, and we will support you with respect to

         19  that as well.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, I agree

         21  with you, sir, that the attorneys for the buyers and

         22  the sellers have some primaries, but also I

         23  understand that the broker's reason for getting up

         24  in the morning is to effect the closing. He wants to

         25  close that deal so he can move on to the next one.
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          2                 Council Member Marshall has a

          3  question, followed by Council Member Leffler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Very

          5  briefly, the people who are hurt by this the most

          6  are people who are ignorant of that board, all

          7  right? That takes a level of sophistication, and

          8  nobody is going to give them that address.

          9                 Maybe if they come to our offices we

         10  will refer them to the State agency that controls

         11  this and monitors this profession, but many of our

         12  people are immigrants, many of them don't even speak

         13  the language and they get caught up in this. The

         14  people who are talking to them speak the same

         15  language, so therefore there is a certain amount of

         16  trust, they are not familiar with our laws and the

         17  books, they are not familiar with this. Even people

         18  who are born and raised here and lived here all

         19  their lives are not always familiar. I am, I was a

         20  State legislator for nine years, but that takes a

         21  certain level of sophistication and knowledge that

         22  not all people have. And we have found, and you

         23  know, just as the doctors came to us in Albany and

         24  asked, they did not want to have compulsory medical

         25  malpractice insurance placed upon them, and we said

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  to them monitor your own industry. If you monitor

          3  your own industry better, then there wouldn't be a

          4  need for this. So, I would suggest to you,

          5  particularly with your knowledge -- now, you are a

          6  Long Island realtor, do you also sell in New York

          7  City, and do you work with realtors in New York

          8  City?

          9                 MR. GOLDSON: Yes, our brokers sell in

         10  Queens and in Kings County.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Okay. Well,

         12  I would suggest that you, yourself, with your

         13  knowledge of the community and the profession and

         14  what is right and what is wrong would pitch in and

         15  help us and monitor your own industry and that would

         16  be very, very helpful.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         18  Leffler.

         19                 MR. GOLDSON: Council Member Wooten, I

         20  want to inform you that we do have a complaint

         21  procedure, we do hold disciplinary hearings for our

         22  members, and that I think contributes to this, and

         23  we have a code of ethics by the way that requires

         24  brokers not to violate the law and not to create

         25  these type of illegal situations, and we enforce
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          2  that code of ethics.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: If you find

          4  out about it.

          5                 MR. GOLDSON: That is part of the

          6  reason that the vast majority of real estate brokers

          7  are not the problem.

          8                 There is no way that you are going to

          9  get 100 percent compliance with any regulation, law

         10  or code of ethics or anything, but we do make the

         11  effort, and I will assure this Committee and the

         12  City Council that we are available to you as a

         13  resource.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I want your

         15  card.

         16                 MR. GOLDSON: Okay.

         17                 Well, you have the card. We gave the

         18  card of the Long Island Board of Realtors, that is

         19  what I represent here today.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Well, I only

         21  have your testimony, I don't have your phone number

         22  or any other information.

         23                 MR. GOLDSON: Ann has it up front. And

         24  give us a call and we will --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL:
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          2  Sergeant-At-Arms, do you have it?

          3                 MS. HICKS: Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: How many

          5  cards do you have?

          6                 MS. HICKS: One.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We can get

          8  another one. I have too many cards.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Gentlemen, I

         10  think I get the essence of your testimony. What do

         11  you think of the merits of the provision? If we

         12  require the certification without having a

         13  certification to be made by the realtor brokers,

         14  i.e. by the buyer and by the seller in the

         15  transaction? You seem to --

         16                 MR. GOLDSON: You know, to be honest

         17  with you, Mr. Leffler, I don't know if I am

         18  qualified to give you an opinion on that, to be

         19  honest with you. I just know this, all right? I know

         20  that when I work to get --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You know that

         22  you don't want to have the requirement, as to

         23  whether anybody else should have the requirement --

         24                 MR. GOLDSON: Let me try and answer

         25  your question.
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          2                 When I represent a client buying a

          3  house, I know what the legal occupancy is, the

          4  client knows that that legal occupancy is, because I

          5  consider it my job to tell them, and to find out.

          6  And I would have no problem with making a

          7  certification like that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay, then it

          9  seems to me it makes sense to have the requirement

         10  at least with respect to the buyer. What about with

         11  respect to the seller? Or would you prefer not to

         12  answer that question?

         13                 MR. GOLDSON: No, I am not going to

         14  try and duck any question. No, again, I think that

         15  the sellers are also turning notice -- the sellers

         16  are turning the copy of the title report, as you

         17  well know --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Right. It is

         19  even necessary to get title insurance, is it not?

         20                 MR. GOLDSON: I think the title

         21  insurer and the two attorneys involved in this

         22  transaction are the people with the actual

         23  knowledge.

         24                 I am not in the position to comment

         25  on the regulatory wisdom of requiring a
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          2  certification process, but if you go in to require

          3  such a process and it is wise to do so, then

          4  certainly those are the people with the knowledge

          5  and those are the people you should be looking at.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you,

          9  gentlemen.

         10                 MR. GOLDSON: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes, for the

         12  record, we received from the New York State

         13  Association of realtors an extensive memo in

         14  opposition, which will be made a part of today's

         15  proceeding.

         16                 Pat Dolan, Queens Civic Congress. Ms.

         17  Dolan, is she still here?

         18                 MS. DOLAN: Good afternoon. I am

         19  Patricia Dolan, I am Executive Vice President for

         20  the Queens Civic Congress, a Coalition of 95 of

         21  Queens major neighborhoods and community based civic

         22  organizations. Those organizations represent

         23  thousands, if not thousands but hundreds of

         24  thousands of tenants, co-op owners, condo owners,

         25  and home owners living in neighborhoods throughout
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          2  our borough.

          3                 I am also the President of the Kew

          4  Gardens Civic Association, located in Central

          5  Queens, one of the largest and oldest groups in the

          6  Borough.

          7                 We support 363 as it stands, as it is

          8  drafted. The proliferation of illegal conversions is

          9  threatening the safety and stability of Queens

         10  neighborhoods.

         11                 Over the past few years neighborhoods

         12  in Queens have suffered from illegally converted

         13  houses causing death, injuries and huge property

         14  damages.

         15                 For more than ten years, Congress

         16  Member organizations have devoted their resources

         17  and eliminated illegal conversions. Our

         18  neighborhoods are paying an enormous price for these

         19  illegal conversions and other unsanctioned

         20  construction, as overburdened, private and public

         21  services, including schools, sanitation,

         22  infrastructural, libraries, parks and transportation

         23  deteriorates.

         24                 Deterioration of thriving

         25  neighborhoods leads to degradation which inevitably
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          2  results in abandonment, and that is what we are

          3  really frightened of.

          4                 Make no mistake, the effects of these

          5  violations of the zoning resolution and the building

          6  code can be seen in all neighborhoods all over the

          7  Borough of Queens, including Jamaica Estates,

          8  Cambria Heights, Bellrose, Briarwood, Bayside,

          9  Flushing, the Rockaways, Corona, South Ozone Park,

         10  Jackson Heights, Woodhaven, Kew Gardens Hills, and

         11  indeed, in the rest of Queens, of more than 120

         12  diverse neighborhoods and we are proud of those

         13  neighborhoods, we are here to preserve the quality

         14  of life in those neighborhoods.

         15                 The legislation will strengthen City

         16  agencies' ability to enforce regulations against

         17  these illegal conversions by allowing seizure of

         18  vehicles belonging to contractors who defy stop work

         19  orders. And we know it is the contractors who can be

         20  served, because we see them every day.

         21                 One of them is very active in my

         22  neighborhood doing this kind of stuff and his name

         23  is Quality Budget Contracting - beware.

         24                 At the same time, the legislation

         25  encourages violators to correct illegal conditions
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          2  by suspending the daily fines against property

          3  owners involved in eviction proposals.

          4                 Our organization stands by a year's

          5  long effort to work with any community organization,

          6  borough and indeed the City to work for changes in

          7  the zoning resolution, and the zoning of

          8  neighborhoods that need it and qualify for it.

          9                 Most important, Intro. 363 protects

         10  first-time buyers, immigrants and home-buyers who

         11  are unfamiliar with the language by confronting the

         12  ongoing illegal use at the source, the point of

         13  purchase.

         14                 Intro. 363 requires the buyer, the

         15  seller, the broker, and his agents to affirmatively

         16  state that no illegal dwelling units exist in the

         17  house at the time of closing.

         18                 Frankly, we are astounded that any

         19  realtor would object to the truth in selling

         20  provision of this legislation. The congress urges

         21  this Council to enact 363 in its entirety and with

         22  no further delay.

         23                 We do urge the Council to consider

         24  adopting legislation enhancing the agencies' ability

         25  to gain access to buildings and one of our other
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          2  members will speak to that later, and at the same

          3  time, we urge the Council to look into giving DOB

          4  and NYPD, because this is not just an issue of small

          5  homes, it is an issue of buildings where there are

          6  illegal conversions going on in apartments. We asked

          7  for sufficient funding for these agencies to hire

          8  the additional lawyers, architects, inspectors and

          9  plan examiners, as well as support personnel to put

         10  once and for all an end to this kind of illegal

         11  practice.

         12                 We also urge the Council to urge a

         13  multi-agency task force headed by a Deputy Mayor

         14  which will design new and more effective reforms to

         15  deal with this problem.

         16                 In conclusion, we want to make

         17  special thanks to Borough President Shulman of

         18  Queens for her unstinting support on the behalf of

         19  our neighborhoods. And I personally would like to

         20  say one thing to the members of the Council. I want

         21  to thank you, and for those of you who do not

         22  represent neighborhoods in Queens, unfortunately if

         23  you don't have this where you are living, you will

         24  soon.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, Ms.

          3  Dolan.

          4                 Mr. Ed Ahmad. Mr. Ed Ahmad.

          5                 Mr. Ahmad, will you identify

          6  yourself, please, and begin your testimony?

          7                 MR. AHMAD: My name is Ed Ahmad, and I

          8  am the President of the New Concept Democratic Club.

          9  I want to thank you for the opportunity to testify

         10  today before you.

         11                 Honorable chair, other honorable

         12  Council members, distinguished guests, good morning.

         13                 My name is Ed Ahmad, I am the

         14  President of the New Concept of Democratic Club, a

         15  community-based organization in South Queens.

         16                 I am also an owner of Several

         17  Businesses in New York City, as a long-time resident

         18  of Richmond Hill, Queens.

         19                 I will address you as the president

         20  of and on behalf of the New Concept Democratic Club.

         21                 This organization was formed in 1997,

         22  presently a membership for about five or 600

         23  residents of South Queens. Our mission is to empower

         24  the residents of South Queens to political

         25  awareness.
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          2                 As I testify before you at this

          3  public hearing, I strongly urge you on behalf of the

          4  resident of South Queens, not to support the

          5  enactment of proposed legislation Intro. 363. In my

          6  opinion, and in the opinion of members of the new

          7  Concept Democratic Club, and members and residents

          8  of South Queens, the main purpose of this bill is to

          9  give the Department of Buildings and its inspectors

         10  another mechanism to enforce discriminatory practice

         11  against the residents of South Queens.

         12                 In plan language, this bill will now

         13  arm the Department of Buildings and its inspectors

         14  with assault weapons instead of just simple

         15  handguns.

         16                 This bill, and all of the amendments

         17  to the Administrative Code since 1995, all have a

         18  hidden underlining focus, they all have

         19  anti-immigrant sentiments engraved in them. They

         20  especially target the minority community. They

         21  violate our institutional rights to be free of

         22  governmental intrusion into our homes, and they

         23  violate our constitutional rights of religion

         24  freedom.

         25                 My goal here today is not to argue
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          2  the illegal consequence and ramification of this

          3  bill, I will leave that to my colleagues who are

          4  attorneys, I think they testified earlier. But my

          5  goal here is to explain to you as members of the New

          6  York City Council Subcommittee on Housing and Social

          7  Culture and Religion, the reason why this bill

          8  should not be enacted.

          9                 Over the past several years, the

         10  Queens Borough President, in its efforts to crack

         11  down on these so-called illegal conversion

         12  apartments, stated "illegal apartment conversions

         13  are so numerous that the cause is significant strain

         14  on municipal services." I beg to differ, and will

         15  argue to the contrary.

         16                 In my opinion, this justification is

         17  baseless. The occupants of these apartments

         18  contribute millions of dollars in revenue to the

         19  City of New York, and to the Borough of Queens.

         20                 What the Borough President fails to

         21  comprehend, why do residents live in these so-called

         22  illegal conversions, less than 20 years ago these

         23  apartments were called mother/daughter, now they are

         24  called illegal conversions.

         25                 Why you may ask? To answer this
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          2  question, you will need to look at why, by whom

          3  these bills were proposed.

          4                 I challenge you to look at the tax

          5  contribution of residents of Queens and in

          6  particular of Richmond Hill, South Ozone Park, Ozone

          7  Park and Jamaica section.

          8                 I challenge you to look at the

          9  residents of South Queens and in particular,

         10  Richmond Hill, Ozone Park, South Ozone Park, at our

         11  governmental entitlement programs as to compare to

         12  the rest of the City. I challenge you to review the

         13  school budget per student in South Queens, as to

         14  compare to the rest of the City in relation to tax

         15  contribution. In my opinion, there are two major

         16  reasons why the residents live in these apartments

         17  or occupy these apartments, or use these dwellings -

         18  by choice and by necessity.

         19                 First, residents live in these

         20  apartments by their own choice with their family

         21  choosing for them to do so. And in our culture we

         22  call that family uniting together.

         23                 I would suggest that instead of

         24  spending resident tax dollars on writing and

         25  proposing these legislation, if the City and/or the
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          2  Borough President should conduct a survey of who and

          3  why residents live in these apartments or occupy

          4  these apartments, I guarantee you that the results

          5  will show if these apartments are occupied by

          6  extended family members used for praying.

          7                 Council Members, in South Queens

          8  there are three major religions - there are Muslims,

          9  Hindus and Christians. And I will speak, because I

         10  have more knowledge about Hinduism and Islam. These

         11  two religions both require a separate place in a

         12  house to perform their prayer. And the first prayer

         13  of Hinduism and Muslims start at 4:30, 5:30 in the

         14  morning, and the last one ends at 11:30 in the

         15  night. And so, having a separate place in the house

         16  from where it is not occupied or frequently visited,

         17  will most accommodate these religions.

         18                 This bill will seek, for members and

         19  residents of South Queens, to amend the religion

         20  practices.

         21                 As I go on, members of the Council,

         22  residents live in these apartments because of

         23  necessity, because of the shortage of housing, high

         24  apartment rental rates, residents of limited

         25  resources are supposed to live in these apartments
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          2  instead of living on the street.

          3                 The City of New York presently has

          4  not made any reservation for fair, cheap, affordable

          5  housing and for these people moving out of these

          6  so-called illegal conversion.

          7                 Why is it critical about this bill --

          8  others in the past, the Borough President for the

          9  City, and the Borough Presidents of the City and New

         10  York State, and these are all concerned about

         11  well-being safety of all residents, however, neither

         12  the Borough President or the City of New York

         13  addressed the issue of what is to become of these

         14  residents if they are forced out of these

         15  apartments.

         16                 Home owners are using these

         17  apartments in South Queens, particularly there, as I

         18  have mentioned, to house extended family for

         19  religious reasons as I have mentioned. First over

         20  the ten years, these areas have probably seen the

         21  highest increase in population growth and immigrant

         22  influx as compared to the rest of New York City, as

         23  the other speakers have mentioned. But more

         24  important, of culture reasons they choose to live

         25  with families, families who brought them to this
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          2  great country.

          3                 Second, the residents of this area

          4  are of three or four major religions, as I have

          5  mentioned, and members of the Council, as I came

          6  into the room this morning, it is not only an honor

          7  to testify before you, but the first thing I have

          8  seen are the three reasons why most of these

          9  residents have migrated to the United States, and

         10  Abraham Lincoln said it, no one could have said it

         11  better. He said, "A government of the people, by the

         12  people, and for the people."

         13                 If the City is concerned about the

         14  safety issue, and I want to make it very clear, our

         15  community, residents of the community, we are also

         16  concerned about the safety issue.

         17                 Let us amend the Administrative Code

         18  to allow home owners the ability not only to

         19  legalize, but make it safe for the occupants, and

         20  give them permission to use this to practice their

         21  religion rights, or their religious rights. Let us

         22  build more schools in the neighborhood that are

         23  projected to have a significant growth in

         24  population. Let us address the safety concern of the

         25  City of New York in a fair and impartial way.
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          2                 Let us permit our citizens to

          3  practice their constitutional and religion rights

          4  and freedom. Let us permit family to unite by

          5  allowing family members to live together if they

          6  choose to do so.

          7                 Let us address the issue of a housing

          8  shortage in New York City.

          9                 Let us address the issue of the

         10  residents who cannot afford to pay market rent.

         11                 Let us address the issue of racial

         12  unity among neighbors.

         13                 I would also like to address the

         14  issue of enforcement effort by the Buildings

         15  Department. Inspectors over the years, in my

         16  opinion, the way they inspect and enforce the

         17  draconian laws is unconstitutional. We have

         18  documented numerous incidents of the clear

         19  harassment and violation of residents'

         20  constitutional rights by these building inspectors.

         21                 We have also sought legal help in

         22  addressing these issues. An example of the

         23  discriminatory enforcement by the Department of

         24  Buildings include locking doors and walls,

         25  threatening residents, criminal sanction, verbal
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          2  abuse and harassment, late nights, early morning,

          3  Sunday visits when residents are observing sabbath.

          4  Snooping around in residents' property without

          5  owners' permission or proper documentation to do so.

          6                 The Borough of Queens, its president,

          7  requested 15, 20 additional inspectors, and got them

          8  with the support of the Mayor.

          9                 The first question is why 15 or 20 in

         10  Queens alone when the other boroughs got one or two

         11  additional inspectors.

         12                 The second question is why only South

         13  Queens, particularly Richmond Hill, Ozone Park,

         14  South Ozone Park, Jamaica is being targeted, because

         15  the Borough President was pressured by a small

         16  percentage of residents who feel threatened by the

         17  influx of immigrants into South Queens, why these

         18  residents fail to understand that why this is an

         19  influx of new immigrants, has revitalized the

         20  economy of many neighborhoods of South Queens,

         21  compared to other parts of New York City. South

         22  Queens has the highest market value of homes and

         23  business all through the efforts of these immigrants

         24  who came to the United States.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

          3                 Mr. Nelson has a question for you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I don't know

          5  if any of this is true, but for the racial part of

          6  it, do you think if there are white Russians coming

          7  in there, or there were Irish people, that --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Michael, I am

          9  sorry, not you. I meant Council Member Sabini.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, since

         11  you called on me, I was just frustrated and I wanted

         12  to ask a question.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chairman.

         16                 Mr. Ahmad, your testimony takes in a

         17  lot of ground and makes a lot of charges about

         18  people's motives and some of them, I can't describe

         19  them. I represent the most immigrant rich district

         20  in the City and the community of Elmhurst, where

         21  people from 150 lands make it their home, so that if

         22  I don't have immigrants, I don't have constituents.

         23                 Yet, we have scores of wood framed

         24  houses that are filled to capacity with people,

         25  these are homes that were built with the intention
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          2  of two families living in them and now we find 20 or

          3  30 people.

          4                 The Fire Department gives anecdotal

          5  evidence, they liken them, some of our homes, when

          6  they catch fire, to circus cars, when they get there

          7  they don't know how many people are going to come

          8  out. They expect ten to come out, when the fire guys

          9  go in to start putting out the fire, ten more come

         10  out, and while they are in there, they find ten

         11  more.

         12                 But you made a comment that I want to

         13  try and get a solution to, because I think there is

         14  a solution that you can live with and we can live

         15  with in trying to make our neighborhoods work. And

         16  you talked about how we should be planning for more

         17  people, but it is hard to plan for more people if we

         18  don't know what the housing stock is.

         19                 When the housing stock was built for

         20  two families and six families live there, it is kind

         21  of hard to plan.

         22                 You have mentioned that the housing

         23  stock in Southern Queens, and I don't represent the

         24  communities you talked of, is the highest market

         25  value in the City.
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          2                 MR. AHMAD: Among the highest value.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          4                 And I think there is a reason for

          5  that. I don't know if you own any of these

          6  properties?

          7                 MR. AHMAD: I do.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

          9                 Do you live in the one you own or do

         10  you own ones that you don't live in?

         11                 MR. AHMAD: I own ones that I don't

         12  live in.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Okay.

         14                 Well, it seems to me that of course

         15  they are valued very highly, because the tax

         16  structure is subsidizing your renting those

         17  properties out, because you are paying the tax of a

         18  private home owner, when in effect if you own

         19  theoretically, and I don't know what you own, 22

         20  family homes, if they were legal, 22 family homes,

         21  not converted, you in effect would be having the

         22  income of a 40-unit apartment house, but paying the

         23  tax of about a quarter of an apartment house. Total.

         24                 So, to me there is no surprise that

         25  they are highly valued properties, because you can
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          2  make a lot of money off of them, the tax structure

          3  is built that way.

          4                 Additionally, if they are illegally

          5  converted, I am not saying yours are, but if they

          6  are illegally converted, chances are that most of

          7  the rent income goes unreported, because if you

          8  reported the rent income on the newly converted

          9  home, then you would have illegal income, so that

         10  makes it very valuable. So there is no doubt that

         11  the value increases in these properties, but I think

         12  what proponents of this legislation, in an effort to

         13  make sure our neighborhoods exist in the manner in

         14  which they were planned to exist, is that there is

         15  certain order to things, that is why people come

         16  here, and we are happy people come here. But there

         17  has to be that order.

         18                 Don't you think that it would be

         19  fairer if you lived on the property, fine, treat it

         20  like a property you lived in, but if you are making

         21  money off of a property you should be taxed at a

         22  rate that other people are using to use housing as a

         23  business, that that is an appropriate tax rate?

         24                 MR. AHMAD: That is one of the

         25  concessions I would like to make here today, but if
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          2  I can address the statement you make about prices

          3  raised based on illegal conversion or addition to

          4  these houses, I beg to differ and I feel personally

          5  that these prices went up not only because of the

          6  heavy influx of immigrants to the area, but of the

          7  economical contribution that they have brought to

          8  this area.

          9                 And you take a typical one-family in

         10  South Queens, prior to 1986, on the turn-over in

         11  Queens, sold for 80,000 and today, 1999, the same

         12  $60,000 and $70,000 today are selling for $210,000.

         13  So, it is not because of illegal conversion these

         14  prices are going up, it is because of immigrants

         15  moving to these communities and the amount of

         16  renovation and participation in these communities

         17  causing these communities to go up.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And the houses

         19  have become a profit center.

         20                 MR. AHMAD: Well, not necessarily. I

         21  wouldn't say a one-family house, how would a

         22  one-family house become a profit center?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: If you convert

         24  it to six units of housing and you are charging

         25  rents that aren't on the books and paying a tax rate
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          2  of one-quarter what you would pay if you were having

          3  rental properties over six families.

          4                 MR. AHMAD: Councilman, I challenge

          5  the City of New York to show me statistically that

          6  these cars you are talking about that are parking on

          7  the street and a strain on the City services are

          8  coming from illegal apartments. If you have any

          9  statistics or documents, I will happily --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I will be

         11  happy to, and I don't want to get in a colloquy here

         12  at the Chairman's suggestion, we don't want to

         13  prolong this, but anecdotally, if you look at our

         14  litter baskets in the neighborhoods where there are

         15  illegal conversions, where the landlords tell people

         16  don't take your garbage outside the house because

         17  people will find out how many people live here, you

         18  can see that we don't have candy wrappers in our

         19  litter baskets but bags of garbage, bags of

         20  residential garbage.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Very good. Let

         22  me conclude this section. Thank you very much,

         23  Council Member Sabini.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I have a

         25  question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

          3  Marshall has a question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Yes, I will

          5  be brief.

          6                 First of all, the inflated prices is

          7  unified all over this City. Houses no longer cost

          8  what they did when we bought our house in 1960 and I

          9  have seen them go through stages of increasing --

         10                 MR. AHMAD: That's correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: And of

         12  course I have a community that went from a white

         13  community to a black community, and there was an

         14  increase in prices but there has been, any time you

         15  have changed hands and buy a home, you find that the

         16  price increases, nobody sells the house for the same

         17  price that they bought it at. And over the years the

         18  price does escalate.

         19                 The other thing is that, and I hope

         20  that you don't live with that always, there is

         21  prejudice in this world, there is no question about

         22  it, but I would not let that be the guiding factor

         23  here. Prices are high all over, and most of the time

         24  people of color do pay more for houses when they get

         25  them, and we know that to be true.
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          2                 MR. AHMAD: Councilwoman, I am not

          3  debating on that. I am debating of the tactics used

          4  by the Building Department in entering into these

          5  homes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: No, you did

          7  bring that up as a factor, okay? But there are

          8  certain things and now just to try to get something

          9  out of this argument, is that, first of all, the law

         10  of the land protects the concept of family. If it is

         11  family members, that live in the house with you, it

         12  is different than strangers living in the house with

         13  you.

         14                 In addition to that, if you buy a

         15  home, and the home has someone living in the other

         16  apartment, you can say I want that apartment for use

         17  of my family and you will be granted the removal of

         18  those people. It is true. It is the law.

         19                 In addition to that, I would like to

         20  understand better why you feel it is impairing upon

         21  your religious freedom. Even if we don't go into it

         22  now --

         23                 MR. AHMAD: I would like to.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: We need to

         25  know so that -- you know, those are some of the
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          2  suggestions that we need.

          3                 MR. AHMAD: If you give me a moment, I

          4  can.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Sure.

          6                 MR. AHMAD: I kind of explained

          7  earlier today about the hours of praying.

          8                 The Hindus and the Muslims, their

          9  first prayers start about 5:00, 5:30 in the morning.

         10  It is very difficult for them to get out of the

         11  house and go to a temple or a mosque, and so they

         12  find it very convenient to locate a part in the

         13  house that they can use for praying. It is being

         14  done in Richmond Hill, violations are being given

         15  because of a bathroom.

         16                 I can get into specific and detail on

         17  the Muslim aspect. Their first prayer starts at 5:30

         18  in the morning, the last one ends at 11:30 at night,

         19  and bear in mind that the part in the house that is

         20  located for praying purposes, one can not walk

         21  around with shoes. So, when they came to this

         22  community, one of the designated places in a house

         23  they saw to be probably the most appropriate area is

         24  the basement.

         25                 So, certainly if they can't use the
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          2  basement, and not necessarily having a kitchen or a

          3  bathroom, meanwhile the City of New York have

          4  amended zoning laws for the Jewish community and I

          5  applaud my brothers, they now are able to have a

          6  kosher kitchen in the basement, allowing them to

          7  have a separate kitchen. So, in lieu of that, I

          8  think a place in the house is very necessary for us

          9  to pray also, based on the subscribed hours of

         10  praying during the day we are afforded to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Are you

         12  suggesting that this law prohibits you from praying

         13  in the basement?

         14                 MR. AHMAD: Right now, in order for a

         15  Muslim to pray, you need a separate sink, and in the

         16  Arabic world it is called a wudu (phonetic). It

         17  means you not necessarily have to take a shower from

         18  your head to toe, but you have to absorb a water in

         19  ceremony where you have to in order for you to pray.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Without

         21  going into any more detail, I think that this is

         22  very important information that we should be looking

         23  at in reference to this bill. If you would just --

         24  you have two lawyers I know that represent --

         25                 MR. AHMAD: Even better than two
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          2  lawyers, we have a priest that commanded about 6,000

          3  Muslim community also.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That is not

          5  what I am referring to.

          6                 We need to know the specifics of

          7  that. If a bathroom is required for praying, we need

          8  to know that. We need your cooperation to work with

          9  us to make it more viable for us to live together

         10  and for you to live. Certainly we don't want to

         11  impair your religious practices.

         12                 MR. AHMAD: That is the whole reason

         13  of testifying today, I believe that our religion

         14  here, it will not give us religion freedom if this

         15  bill were to go to through, Intro. 363.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Council Member

         17  Clarke has a question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Mr. Chairman,

         19  I wanted to kind of explain to us, because you said

         20  less than 20 years ago, these apartments were

         21  mother/daughter dwellings, now they are considered

         22  legal conversion. How is it different now than it

         23  was when you purchased or when the house was bought?

         24  What kinds of things are being done that creates

         25  this to be an illegal conversion?
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          2                 MR. AHMAD: It is not changed. These

          3  are conditions pre-existed prior to this community

          4  moving to Queens. These are conditions then that all

          5  the ethnic backgrounds have benefitted from. These

          6  conditions preexisted prior to us coming to this

          7  community. Those days they called it

          8  "mother/daughter", that is another word for illegal

          9  conversion. Today they call it illegal conversion.

         10  So, all of these conditions preexisted prior to us

         11  moving to this Committee, nothing has changed. The

         12  only thing that changed was City inspectors,

         13  especially the Building Department inspectors, have

         14  got so much power that they can actually come into

         15  your house any time they choose and whenever they

         16  choose.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Could I just

         18  intercede here?

         19                 If the condition of mother and

         20  daughter existed prior to 1938, before we had

         21  certificate of occupancy, required it is still

         22  legal.

         23                 MR. AHMAD: I am concerned with the

         24  last 20 years, Councilwoman Marshall.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: I am trying
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          2  to tell you what is legal. If the condition when you

          3  moved into the house and it was a mother and

          4  daughter house and it existed according to your deed

          5  prior to 1938 it is still legal. I mean, we need to

          6  have knowledge of what the law is.

          7                 MR. AHMAD: Well, what is happening

          8  out there is totally different from what you are

          9  hearing here.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: That's

         11  possible.

         12                 MR. AHMAD: I am a real estate broker

         13  and I don't condone the real estate practices of

         14  selling illegal conversions. I personally don't. I

         15  own one of the largest real estate companies --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: Then you

         17  should know about the 1938 --

         18                 MR. AHMAD: I do.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARSHALL: --

         20  Grandfathering in.

         21                 MR. AHMAD: Right. And I am not

         22  concerned about that aspect of it. I am concerned

         23  about the practices of building inspectors using the

         24  kind of tactics to go into these people's homes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Mr. Ahmad, your
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          2  concern is duly noted. We will make a response --

          3                 MR. AHMAD: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: -- If in fact

          5  these tactics are being used.

          6                 Let me move now.

          7                 Thank you, gentlemen.

          8                 Mr. Corey Bearak, of the Borough

          9  President of the Bronx.

         10                 Again, gentlemen, ladies, the time is

         11  a factor that we don't want to ignore.

         12                 Identify yourself, Mr. Bearak.

         13                 MR. BEARAK: My name is Corey Bearak,

         14  I am legislative Counsel to the Bronx Borough

         15  President Fernando Ferrer. His testimony is as

         16  follows.

         17                 Thank you, Chairman Deputy Majority

         18  Leader Archie Spigner, and members of the Committee

         19  on Housing and Buildings, for this opportunity to

         20  urge enactment of legislation to strengthen

         21  enforcement against illegal conversions.

         22                 Borough President Ferrer supports

         23  efforts to secure compliance with building and

         24  zoning requirements, regarding the use of one and

         25  two family residents, for two very basic reasons:
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          2  First, public safety - lives are often at stake. And

          3  second, maintaining and strengthening our

          4  communities.

          5                 Long term, we need to take a

          6  comprehensive look at all communities in the City of

          7  New York. We need to understand the existing zoning

          8  in communities, we need to know whether the zoning

          9  makes sense.

         10                 The problems posed by illegal and

         11  inappropriate construction and zoning violations

         12  affect many neighborhoods. In fact, neighborhoods

         13  throughout the City feel the effects of over

         14  development and illegal conversions of one-family

         15  and two-family homes into multiple dwellings.

         16                 Let's look at safety.

         17                 Several houses, most of them

         18  illegally converted to multiple use, burned in

         19  Queens this year. One person died and three others

         20  were seriously injured in these fires.

         21                 More than a decade ago we passed

         22  legislation and established a social club task force

         23  in the wake of the Happy Land tragedy in the Bronx.

         24                 The fires in illegal conversions and

         25  deaths and injuries that resulted make clear the
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          2  need to enact legislation to assure the safety of

          3  those who reside in or visit homes that we expect to

          4  be safe.

          5                 New York City's stringent building

          6  and fire codes assures safety, if followed.

          7                 Let's look at the impact of illegal

          8  conversions on our communities, illegal extra units

          9  burden our City's services. Planners base municipal

         10  services and infrastructure on the development

         11  permitted under zoning and building codes. Illegal

         12  development occurs with no opportunity to plan

         13  needed improvements and services and infrastructure,

         14  including school seats and sewer lines.

         15                 Importantly, low-density communities

         16  - those most threatened by illegal and

         17  inappropriate development, provide within the City

         18  of New York alternative housing options for many

         19  residents who would otherwise leave the city.

         20                 We must recognize that as we maintain

         21  public safety and work to improve our public

         22  schools, many New Yorkers also seek low density

         23  housing choices - especially single family and

         24  two-family homes, that we will see less and less of

         25  if illegal conversions continue unabated.
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          2                 We must enact the legislation to

          3  improve enforcement against illegal conversions. We

          4  need to pass legislation to improve enforcement

          5  against property owners who illegally convert single

          6  family or two-family homes to multiple use.

          7                 As we move to address illegal

          8  conditions, let's not lose sight of the need to

          9  protect the integrity of single-family and

         10  two-family home neighborhoods where zoning permits

         11  larger units have developed in accord with the

         12  building code.

         13                 Most recently, a developer sought to

         14  build a six-story mixed-use building amidst

         15  one-family homes in a small Forest Hills

         16  neighborhood. An error made by the City when it

         17  zoned Queens almost 40 years ago permits that still

         18  inappropriate building as-of-right. Other developers

         19  seek to buy houses there and in other similarly

         20  situated communities. Zoning, however, does protect

         21  many communities. It remains important that City

         22  Hall commits resources and will to the Department of

         23  City Planning to move rezoning and other proposals,

         24  including special districts to protect communities

         25  from inappropriate over-development.
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          2                 Let us commit to passing legislation

          3  to address illegal conversions and to protect our

          4  residents and strengthen our communities.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And our best to

          7  Borough President Ferrer.

          8                 Max William Gurvitch, followed by

          9  Helen Sears and Dr. DhanPaul Narine.

         10                 Mr. Gurvitch, is he here?

         11                 MR. GURVITCH: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Sir, if you will

         13  take a seat.

         14                 Again, points that have been made

         15  need not be necessarily restated. You will begin to

         16  identify yourself, please. Otherwise I will have to

         17  put on time restrictions, and perhaps I should have

         18  been doing that all along.

         19                 MR. GURVITCH: Mr. Spigner, Chairman

         20  of the Committee, members of the Council, I would

         21  like to address you regarding proposed INT. 363-A,

         22  which may have noble intent but is seriously flawed.

         23                 My name is Max William Gurvitch. I am

         24  duly licensed by the State of New York to transact

         25  business as a real estate broker, in which I have
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          2  been actively engaged for more than 25 years.

          3                 With a principle office in Brooklyn,

          4  my practice includes the sale, leasing and

          5  management of commercial and residential properties,

          6  improved or vacant, and the representation of

          7  clients as real estate tax practitioner for the Tax

          8  Commission of the City of New York.

          9                 The properties affected by this

         10  proposed legislation have not been a typical part of

         11  my practice. So, then why appear and speak in

         12  opposition?

         13                 As a member of the Brooklyn Board of

         14  Realtors, I have chaired or sat on numerous

         15  committees, including housing, zoning, property

         16  management and I am currently serving as Chairman of

         17  the Legislative Committee.

         18                 Having served two terms as president

         19  to the Brooklyn Board, I continue to sit on the

         20  Board of directors and the Executive Committee.

         21                 As a member of the New York State

         22  Association of Realtors, I have been Chairman of

         23  both the Legislative Committee and the Government

         24  Affairs Group, have been a member of the Executive

         25  Committee and currently served as a member of the
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          2  NYCER Board of Directors, and Vice Chairman of the

          3  NYCER Legal Action Committee.

          4                 At this point I will depart from my

          5  remarks, because Councilwoman Marshall used the word

          6  realtor, and I have spoken to her privately about

          7  this. This is something which occurs regularly in

          8  the legislative arena and in the media. The word

          9  realtor is a registered trademark of the National

         10  Association of Realtors, there are some 700,000

         11  members nationwide. In Brooklyn there are maybe

         12  2,000 to 3,000 licensees licensed by the State. Of

         13  those 2,000 or 3,000, approximately 300 are

         14  realtors. In order to use the term realtor, you must

         15  apply to membership to a local board, your

         16  membership has to be reviewed, your membership must

         17  be accepted and you must conform to the rule, as Mr.

         18  Goldsman said, regarding the code of ethics.

         19                 Each board is required to have, in

         20  order to be recertified, a Professional Standard and

         21  Grievance Committee. I just want the Council and the

         22  public to be very, very seriously aware of that, and

         23  to please not lump us together, not every licensee

         24  is a realtor.

         25                 Any time legislation affects any
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          2  sector of an industry, it impacts the entire

          3  industry, and ultimately society as a whole, such is

          4  the case here.

          5                 Thus, concern over the potential

          6  results or ramifications of this bill require a

          7  response.

          8                 Our society properly has enacted

          9  zoning resolutions and building codes that are to be

         10  complied with and uniformly enforced. With that

         11  concept, you will find no quarrel here. This

         12  amendment that is proposed, however, places the onus

         13  of enforcement and liability not only upon the

         14  current and successive property owner, where it

         15  rightly belongs, but also upon the agent of either,

         16  not just the seller, where it has no business being

         17  placed. The agent would be held liable to the

         18  actions of others who are not under the agents'

         19  control.

         20                 Moreover, such holding is, and I

         21  quote the law directly, under penalty of perjury.

         22                 Firstly, there is an issue of

         23  interpretation. Real estate brokers and sales people

         24  are generally not qualified as architects, engineers

         25  or inspectors, nor are they attorneys or title
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          2  insurers. These are the parties who have the

          3  training required to compare the actual property

          4  condition to the certificate of occupancy and just

          5  conformity.

          6                 Furthermore, how are we to handle

          7  construction which took place before the

          8  implementation of current code or before C of O's

          9  were first created in 1938; are they exempted or

         10  punished expost facto? What if they were modified

         11  thereafter?

         12                 Secondly, there is an issue of

         13  firsthand knowledge versus the imparted knowledge

         14  and good faith. The agent has no warrant to enter

         15  any part of a property. Access is only as provided

         16  by a property owner or the owner's tenant. If there

         17  is a tenant in possession, and if the tenant is

         18  available and chooses to cooperate.

         19                 This is not always the case. Thus,

         20  the agent's knowledge as to the actual use and the

         21  propriety of such use may be limited and not always

         22  firsthand.

         23                 In many instances the agent relies

         24  upon the information provided by the owner. Let's

         25  examine a logical progression. A grantee's agent may
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          2  be relying in good faith upon information imparted

          3  in good faith by the grantor's agent. Such

          4  information was furnished by the grantor to the

          5  grantor's agent, also in good faith, which

          6  information was originally provided to the grantor

          7  by the previous owner.

          8                 Perhaps this information was

          9  innocently enacted. Where is the line reasonably

         10  drawn to limit due diligence liability?

         11                 And what about bad faith? Can we

         12  ignore the scenario where the agent is misled

         13  deliberately by a property owner? Or can we ignore

         14  the possibility or the likelihood of a grantor and a

         15  grantee when later confronted and saying, oh, the

         16  agent told me it was okay. I believe I heard that

         17  reference from members of the Council.

         18                 Even if the agent is completely

         19  exonerated, we don't know what is going on behind

         20  closed doors. Even if that agent is completely

         21  exonerated, the cost in time, dollars spent in

         22  defense or lost income are unrecoverable, and the

         23  aggravation and damage to reputation are

         24  irreparable.

         25                 Thirdly comes the issue of code
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          2  enforcement. If the City of New York has closed its

          3  eyes by design or neglect to conditions which have

          4  existed as common knowledge for decades, can it now

          5  summarily look to one specific segment of the

          6  private sector to be its surrogate and its

          7  scapegoat?

          8                 Enforcement is a function of HPD and

          9  its inspectors, that is where it belongs, that is

         10  where it should stay.

         11                 Fourth is a question as to the

         12  parameters intended to be set by the makers of the

         13  amendment. The wording at section one, subdivision i

         14  line 14 and 15, "selling, buying or otherwise

         15  transferring an economic interest", does not

         16  automatically exclude leases or life estates, which

         17  under certain circumstances may be considered

         18  conveyances, are recordable and which may requiring

         19  filing.

         20                 Whether the intent is to include or

         21  exclude all or some economic interest, should be

         22  clearly stated.

         23                 Fifth is the issue of disclosure.

         24  Disclosure of the condition of the sellers property

         25  is currently a significant issue in Albany, those
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          2  carrying the realtor designation have been striving

          3  for years to have the New York State Legislature

          4  give priority to passage of such a measure. As

          5  envisioned, this would mandate the seller of a

          6  property to disclose what knowledge he or she has of

          7  the property to the purchaser.

          8                 This is the party best in position to

          9  have the most complete and accurate firsthand

         10  information regarding the property, its condition

         11  and its use.

         12                 This is the party to be properly held

         13  accountable. Sixth is the issue of jurisdiction. The

         14  City of New York, by the enactment of this local

         15  law, as it intends to amend it, tends to require

         16  certain New York State licensees to make affirmative

         17  representations virtually under duress regarding

         18  circumstances under the control of others about

         19  which the licensee has limited knowledge and minimal

         20  expertise, and to accept liability as a result of

         21  such affirmative representation, "under penalty of

         22  perjury", as a requisite of two or more arms length

         23  parties filing a form proscribed by the City with

         24  the City.

         25                 What is wrong with this picture?
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          2  Let's take a look and see. In act with the rules of

          3  conduct regarding the practice of real estate

          4  brokerage is within the jurisdiction of the Senate

          5  and Assembly of the State of New York, subject to

          6  approval by the Governor.

          7                 Licensing is a function of the

          8  Department and State. Enforcement is within the

          9  jurisdiction of the Department of State, and

         10  occasionally the Attorney General; therefore, there

         11  is a serious question here as to whether the

         12  City Council even has the appropriate legal

         13  authority or jurisdiction to enact a local law which

         14  in effect modifies state law.

         15                 If the City does not have that

         16  authority, it is my personal belief that even if New

         17  York is the greatest City in the world, it does not

         18  have that authority, then any application of

         19  enforcement by the City against an agent licensed by

         20  the state, as relates to this mandated affirmation,

         21  is certain to result in lengthy and costly court

         22  challenges.

         23                 The foregoing examines primarily the

         24  legalities and the affects on agents.  Let us shift

         25  our attention to the ramifications of this bill on
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          2  society, the City as a whole.

          3                 Owners faced with violations and

          4  penalties and fearful of losing the ability to

          5  finance the property will be required to either

          6  bring the non-compliance unit into compliance, or

          7  the existing tenant.

          8                 In some instances, evicting the

          9  existing tenant may be required in order to perform

         10  the necessary work.

         11                 Has the eviction issue been thought

         12  through?

         13                 The court system is log-jammed as it

         14  is. Courts routinely grant multiple adjournments of

         15  trial dates. These new cases will worsen already

         16  nightmarish conditions. Months will pass before

         17  cases even come before a judge. Even a judgment in

         18  favor of the petitioner, the owner, is entered, it

         19  is common for the courts to grant repeated

         20  extensions of time for the tenant to find another

         21  apartment.

         22                 The litigation process is very costly

         23  to the owner. There is another somewhat less obvious

         24  cost. It is not uncommon for tenants in such

         25  litigation to withhold rent payment. It is also not
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          2  uncommon for the courts to rule that the owners

          3  should not profit from the unauthorized unit, and

          4  allow the tenant to remain rent-free until a new

          5  apartment is found.

          6                 Somehow the courts overlook the fact

          7  that the tenant has been a willing and happy

          8  participant to the two-party deal, generally

          9  receiving quality accommodations below low market

         10  rent.

         11                 So now we have an owner who has not

         12  only expended cash on legal fees, but it lost a

         13  portion of the rental income which has helped pay

         14  the mortgage, real estate tax and other expenses of

         15  ownership.

         16                 Add to the legal expenses the cost of

         17  architectural plans to bring the property into

         18  compliance, and the owner is deep into the money pit

         19  before any contracting work has even begun.

         20                 Such cases will result in a soon to

         21  be homeless tenant. How many such cases will also

         22  result in the owner reaching foreclosure and

         23  actually losing the property? And what if there is

         24  no mortgage on the property and now no financing

         25  available perhaps to perform the work that is
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          2  required? Perhaps the owner will default on the

          3  payment of real estate tax. Now the City can come in

          4  and take the property in rem. Now there are two

          5  homeless families or more seeking affordable

          6  accommodations in a City where we are told there are

          7  none to be had.

          8                 Well, at least the headache of

          9  compliance would then belong to the City itself.

         10                 And what if any other tenants who may

         11  have lawfully resided in the building, will the bank

         12  or the City properly maintain the property and

         13  provide services?

         14                 If the original home owner could not

         15  cover expenses, how will the bank of the City be

         16  able to afford to do it?

         17                 Of course budget shortfalls can be

         18  made up by levying higher real estate taxes on the

         19  rest of the City's property owners, or perhaps will

         20  end up with another abandoned property, soon to be

         21  inhabited by squatters or enterprising drug

         22  traffickers.

         23                 Elsewhere citywide, as more and more

         24  occupants of these units are displaced, rents for

         25  units which become available will rise. Is this what
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          2  New York really needs?

          3                 If the Council is serious about

          4  eliminating these illegal units, and I believe the

          5  Council is serious, of which there are tens upon

          6  tens of thousands, perhaps other less drastic

          7  alternatives need to be considered.

          8                 First might be a campaign of public

          9  education, as to what is and what is not legally

         10  acceptable. Included would be an easy to understand

         11  explanation of what is required to bring the

         12  non-compliance unit into compliance.

         13                 Secondly, those who wish to

         14  participate could be given help in filing plans,

         15  hiring licensed and insured contractors and

         16  attaining the all critical certificate of occupancy.

         17                 Thirdly, there could be a moratorium

         18  of enforcement penalties. After all, we allow

         19  illegal unregistered weapons to be turned in without

         20  penalty, so why not offer a similar program to

         21  property owners?

         22                 Linked to all of the above, low-cost

         23  loans could be made available and rolled into

         24  permanent financing at market rates once work is

         25  complete and the newly lawfully converted unit is
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          2  occupied.

          3                 Finally, limited real estate tax

          4  abatement on possible increased assessed valuations

          5  imposed as a result of the improvements made during

          6  the compliance phase might also be worthy of

          7  consideration.

          8                 Are these benefits for those who have

          9  violated the Building Code? It could be viewed that

         10  way. Or it could be viewed as an incentive to help

         11  achieve the City's objective, correction and

         12  compliance.

         13                 We can treat the plethora of illegal

         14  conversion units as a disaster situation, and

         15  penalize the offending property owners, thus

         16  creating additional hardships without creating a

         17  viable practical solution.

         18                 Alternatively, we can create an

         19  opportunity to better the City's legal affordable

         20  housing stock.

         21                 The measures briefly outlined here

         22  are designed to achieve the stated objective of the

         23  proposed amendment, without placing additional

         24  hardships on owners or tenants. They seek to avoid

         25  adding to the backlog in the courts. They offer an
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          2  opportunity and method of providing long-term

          3  financial benefits to the City with enhanced quality

          4  of life for its inhabitants. Jobs would be created

          5  in the construction industry for laborers, suppliers

          6  would sell products, the City would immediately

          7  collect sales tax and income taxes. Permit fees

          8  would be a nice side benefit. As an end result,

          9  instead of the City risking and increasing its

         10  unwanted in rem portfolio, increased real estate

         11  taxes on the improved legalized properties would

         12  allow the City to reap the long-term benefits of

         13  significantly increased revenues.

         14                 Real property rehabilitation

         15  management, whether one small property at a time or

         16  citywide, is an art which requires a willingness to

         17  accept creative concepts, the dedication to commit

         18  financial resources to those concepts and the

         19  resolve and patience to bring them all together in

         20  project actualization.

         21                 I implore you, members of the

         22  Council, to take this bill, which harms many and

         23  benefits few, back to the drawing board. Work within

         24  your jurisdiction to formulate a plan which will

         25  benefit many, harm virtually no one, and leave the
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          2  City in a revitalized position as we enter the 21st

          3  Century. Win/win is so much better than lose/lose.

          4                 New York is a City which extols its

          5  winners and has little patience for losers. Please

          6  join the winning team.

          7                 Again, thank you for your time and

          8  your consideration of these comments.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Ms. Helen Sears.

         10  Followed by Leyland Roopnaraine.

         11                 MS. SEARS: Thank you. I want to thank

         12  Chairman Spigner, members of the Committee and

         13  Councilman Sabini, because he is not a member of

         14  this Committee and he is here because it is such an

         15  important issue, and certainly involves a great deal

         16  of his district.

         17                 My name is Helen Sears and I am the

         18  elected district leader in the 34th Assembly

         19  District, that sits in Community Board 3, in Queens.

         20  Those communities are Jackson Heights, East

         21  Elmhurst, North Corona. And as we all know, there

         22  are 59 community boards in the City of New York.

         23                 The housing profile of Board 3 is

         24  made up of multiple dwelling, single-family homes,

         25  cooperatives, condominiums, two and three-family
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          2  homes, legal three-family homes. I don't think

          3  anywhere in those 59 community boards will you not

          4  find some of that profile, and probably in a good

          5  many of those boards in all of the five boroughs, we

          6  just heard from the Borough President of the Bronx

          7  and Queens, I know Manhattan and I certainly know

          8  Brooklyn, that there are violations in every one of

          9  those segments of that housing.

         10                 I would like to bring us back into

         11  focus for a moment, as to why we are here. We are

         12  here because laws are being broken, and building

         13  codes are being violated. That is why we are here.

         14  We are not here because discrimination, we are not

         15  here -- well, you may say it is not true, let me

         16  finish, because you can come up here and speak.

         17                 Laws were not meant to discriminate.

         18  Building codes were not designed for discrimination.

         19  They were designed for all of the people of this

         20  City, and they were designed for safety, for good

         21  housing, and to live comfortably, to live legally

         22  and to live side by side with your neighbor, and I

         23  don't want the Committee to lose sight of that.

         24  Because my comments were going to be very different

         25  from what they are now, but I have been sitting here

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            181

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  since a quarter to ten, 9:00 in the building, and I

          3  have heard many comments and they have all side

          4  tracked what the big issue is, and the questions and

          5  the comments that have been made, is to turn the

          6  cheek to breaking the law and to elasticize the

          7  existing law, so that it suits some people in this

          8  part of the City because it is right, and it is

          9  wrong for other people in the City.

         10                 I am not a lawyer but laws don't work

         11  that way. Laws are for everybody, all the time,

         12  everywhere. And when there is a housing violation,

         13  it just doesn't upset the people who are living in

         14  that house. I know something of housing stock.

         15                 We heard Council Member Sabini talk

         16  about wooden houses and they are row on row and they

         17  are attached. A fire in one house, which I have seen

         18  in Brooklyn, affects an entire block. So, who says

         19  that somebody's right is a right to violate all of

         20  the rights of everybody else? I don't think so.

         21                 If anything, all of you in this room

         22  should be saying, yes, you want to correct the

         23  wrongs and that is what this bill is about.

         24                 If there are some weaknesses in this

         25  proposed bill, then what you do is you join the
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          2  forces of those who have designed it, to show where

          3  those weaknesses are and where you have the

          4  knowledge and the knowhow to correct those wrongs in

          5  the bill. Not to eliminate this bill. Because if you

          6  do that you are saying it is all right to

          7  violations, you are saying it is all right to break

          8  the law, and I can tell you, when you ask government

          9  to start turning the cheek with one law they begin

         10  to turn the cheek in other ways as well, and all of

         11  a sudden it is not only your housing rights that are

         12  violated, it becomes every other right that you

         13  have.

         14                 I would like to get back to the

         15  realtors for a second.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And then close

         17  up, please.

         18                 MS. SEARS: All right.

         19                 The realtors were saying that they

         20  have honorable realtors, and that it is unfair to

         21  the bulk of them. The fact is, those realtors don't

         22  have anything to worry about, except what I call a

         23  poke monsoon (phonetic) is to have a little more

         24  paperwork. Realtors have those who buy and sell for

         25  them and they are not licensed, and they turn over
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          2  time and time again.

          3                 Every real estate office has new

          4  people in the office, the new kid on the block, and

          5  he or she is able to go through that transaction and

          6  the broker has to sign so that it becomes a legal

          7  sale, but that new agent knows very little but he

          8  knows he wants to make the sale and make the quick

          9  buck.

         10                 When a law is broken, it involves

         11  many people and it involves several different

         12  factors. You cannot correct a wrong without looking

         13  at all of the factors that make up that matrix of

         14  the design of this illegality. So this proposed bill

         15  cannot exclude any factor that goes into

         16  contributing to the wrong, and that is what I urge

         17  you to look at.

         18                 I know there will be some

         19  modifications in this, but I hope those

         20  modifications are not so weakened that the bill

         21  becomes frivolous and worthless. At that point,

         22  don't pass it, because it means nothing.

         23                 But what you must have is a bill with

         24  backbone, that is fair, that is reasonable, and that

         25  is just, and this bill should be passed and if there
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          2  are some little parts of it that are not, there is

          3  enough knowledge, there is enough expertise on the

          4  City Council and the Borough President's Office to

          5  correct what isn't right. And I am asking you to do

          6  that.

          7                 And I am also asking everybody in

          8  this room to join forces to make the bill right,

          9  because in the end those who do have this property,

         10  some time you may want to sell it, and it is only

         11  protecting your own interests, your own development

         12  and your own sale at some time.

         13                 So, I urge you to consider this and I

         14  really thank you again for the opportunity.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We thank you.

         16                 Mr. Leyland Roopnaraine.

         17                 MR. ROOPNARAINE: Mr. Chairman, I must

         18  thank you for this wonderful opportunity to make the

         19  views of my community understood. I am from the

         20  Indo-Caribbean Federation, a not-for-profit

         21  organization, as the name implies. It is an

         22  organization that coordinates the festivities and

         23  the culture of the people.

         24                 Allow me to begin my quoting the

         25  mortal words of Emma Lazarus (phonetic): "Perhaps
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          2  the greatest landmark in this blessed nation, the

          3  Statue of Liberty. Bring me your downtrodden, your

          4  weary, your huddled masses yearning to reach for

          5  it."

          6                 Today a huge sector of Queens,

          7  specifically the Indo-Caribbean community, are

          8  prevented from breathing free. They fear the knock

          9  or notice to the door today, and if not today,

         10  tomorrow. Sleeping and awakening in fear has

         11  virtually become a norm for the people of that part

         12  of Queens. And the reason is very simple: The

         13  implications and the provisions of Intro. Bill 363.

         14                 While I have no reservations in

         15  condemning illegal conversions and illegal

         16  occupancy, this bill seeks to pinpoint all the

         17  wrongs of illegal occupancies, but at the same time

         18  offers very little solutions to the problem.

         19                 Under the guise of the strict

         20  implementation of housing codes in this bill, this

         21  bill, along with the enforcers, seeks to ensnare

         22  rather than educate home owners to some of the traps

         23  fabricated in this bill.

         24                 Let me first say that basement and

         25  cellar apartments under occupancy laws were
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          2  fashioned nearly 100 years ago when there were

          3  coal-burning furnaces. Today, with safer oil and

          4  gas, obviously these obsolete laws need to be

          5  revisited.

          6                 Instead of sounding out the reasons

          7  for people breaking these laws, we should look at a

          8  revisitation of these laws. Obviously these laws are

          9  nearly 100 years old, are totally irrelevant.

         10                 The eviction of people living in

         11  so-called illegal apartments, will obviously place a

         12  strain on the City's already strained slopping

         13  housing program.

         14                 Furthermore, with these occupants

         15  given a choice in living in City shelters, filled

         16  with drug addicts, once you look at the very

         17  apartment that they have to be removed from, the

         18  very cellar or basement that is in the apartment

         19  that is condemned, is in far better condition than

         20  the shelters where these people may have to go.

         21                 Obviously this bill is a pathetic

         22  product of shallow talk. In the words of Thomas

         23  Jefferson, "equal and exact justice to all men of

         24  whatever state or persuasion".

         25                 In this country over 20,000 people
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          2  are killed each year through motorvehicle accidents,

          3  but no one is banning motor cars. However, the

          4  manufacturers are aspiring to make motor vehicles

          5  safer, and that is what this bill should focus on -

          6  make certain types of dwellings safer. And the same

          7  school of thought should be applied to basement

          8  cellar usage.

          9                 And to deviate a little, how many of

         10  us realize that more people in Queens are injured

         11  through acts of police brutality? Not in basement

         12  and cellar issues.

         13                 And I don't see anyone dismantling

         14  the NYPD.

         15                 And what is going to be more blatant

         16  prejudice, which has been mentioned over and over

         17  here? The fact that out of the 20 newly recruited

         18  building inspectors hired by the illegal conversion

         19  task force, 15 have gone to Queens. Certainly

         20  taxpayers money should be better spent.

         21                 We can do with plenty more teachers

         22  or plenty more doctors, or social workers who can

         23  make a more meaningful contribution to this society.

         24                 And another remark attributing to

         25  so-called illegal apartments is the readiness of the
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          2  utilities company, like NYNEX, now called Bell

          3  Atlantic, and Time Warner, the cable company, to

          4  promptly install telephone lines and cable lines in

          5  these apartments. Are these companies not part of

          6  aiding and abetting illegality?

          7                 Moreover, when hazardous conditions

          8  in this City are reported to the relevant agencies,

          9  fallen trees, weeks, perhaps months elapse before

         10  these problems are rectified.

         11                 However, when a report is made about

         12  an illegal apartment, as early as the very next day

         13  a notice appears at your door, a so-called notice of

         14  inspection.

         15                 Mr. Chairman, like I indicated to

         16  you, I am not a supporter of illegal apartments, but

         17  the Administration of New York City should ask

         18  itself the very simple question, if there can be gun

         19  control laws where amnesty is given to people

         20  turning in an illegal firearm, that amnesty should

         21  be given to people who have illegal apartments so

         22  that they can rectify that.

         23                 And since when some years ago the

         24  carnage mother and daughter, which was so applicable

         25  to many, many houses in a certain section of Queens,
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          2  since when has that carnage been altered to illegal

          3  occupancy?

          4                 If, for instance, as an example, my

          5  dear friend Mr. Fraser here owns Mercedes and sells

          6  it to the Chairman Mr. Spigner, would we now call it

          7  a Toyota? It is the same scenario. It is the same

          8  house, it is the same laws that were there 80 years

          9  ago. It is the same condition.

         10                 Mr. Chairman, Madam President, I urge

         11  you to revisit some of these laws. Look into more

         12  relevant issues, like school overcrowding, shortness

         13  of doctors, nurses, teachers and social workers,

         14  spend taxpayers' money better. For in this time, at

         15  this great junction in our history, I will say this

         16  to all present here, stop sniffing at the doors of

         17  those who own homes and look to the plight of those

         18  who are homeless.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         21                 Mrs. Ruth Duberry, followed by Dr.

         22  Paul Narine, followed by Paul Kerzner.

         23                 MS. DUBERRY: Good afternoon, to all

         24  of you, and thank you for the opportunity for me to

         25  speak for Intro. 363.
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          2                 Dear Council Members, I would like to

          3  begin my acknowledging that all people need a place

          4  to live, that is a given, but to live in a firetrap

          5  without proper exists in a one- or two-family house

          6  that has been converted to multiple kitchenettes or

          7  rooming houses and having to share a community

          8  bathroom is criminal.

          9                 A one-family house is not constructed

         10  to support that many people. This is unsafe for the

         11  tenants' family members, as well as an owner who

         12  might live there and adjacent home owners and

         13  families.

         14                 In addition to fire, many other

         15  problems result, for example, adding loads on old,

         16  inadequate sewer systems, additional overcrowding in

         17  schools, limited parking spaces and many other

         18  problems that have been outlined here today.

         19                 Our area in Queens and Jamaica are

         20  one and two-family home zoned, R32, they have been

         21  stable for 50 or more years. The location bounded by

         22  Baisely Boulevard, Giar Boulevard and North Conduit.

         23  Changes are seen presently. Some homeowners have

         24  moved south upon retirement, a few chose not to sell

         25  their houses and have converted them to as I have
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          2  described above.

          3                 Contractors are building houses

          4  wherever there is a vacant lot. Buyers are

          5  encouraged by builders to buy and are assured that

          6  they can finish their basements later and rent them

          7  out to pay the mortgage.

          8                 In some cases, unlicensed plumbers,

          9  electricians, contractors, et cetera, are used and

         10  without proper permits from the Department of

         11  Buildings. Even though the number of the Department

         12  of Buildings inspectors has been increased, the time

         13  it takes after a complaint to get an inspection done

         14  is lengthy.

         15                 Community Board 12 has one inspector

         16  one time per month for one-half day. Inspectors have

         17  served home owners for illegal occupancy of cellars

         18  and/or attic levels and also for multiple rentals

         19  here in our community.

         20                 I am including a few examples of such

         21  hearing dates that were given to violators to appear

         22  before the Environmental Control Agency.

         23                 This process must be stopped, it

         24  changes the character of our community and produces

         25  many unsafe conditions.
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          2                 Some type of additional notice must

          3  be given to new home owners or occupants so that

          4  they are made aware of what they cannot legally do

          5  to the house. Information from the guide to illegal

          6  apartment conversion states that in the basement and

          7  attic of one and two-family houses, it is illegal to

          8  finish the basement and add a full bath. It is also

          9  illegal to finish the basement with a washing

         10  machine, family room and one bedroom, and number

         11  three, illegal to finish the attic to be used as a

         12  bedroom.

         13                 May I end by requesting in the future

         14  that we have a hearing also on as of right issues,

         15  which is also causing a threat to R32 zone areas.

         16                 Thank you very much. I am Ruth

         17  Duberry, by the way, a member of the United Neighbor

         18  Civic Association, and that is the area that it

         19  outlines.

         20                 I just would like to say I have also

         21  included the guide to illegal apartment conversion

         22  which comes from the Office of Claire Shulman, the

         23  Office of the Borough President of Queens, and the

         24  New York City Department of Buildings.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we thank

          3  you, Ms. Duberry.

          4                 Dr. Paul Narine.

          5                 Do you have copies of your testimony,

          6  Ms. Duberry?

          7                 DR. NARINE: Good afternoon, Mr.

          8  Chairman. Good afternoon, members --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And you must

         10  remember now we have heard much of the essence of

         11  this discussion, I think maybe a couple of hours ago

         12  so --

         13                 DR. NARINE: I am going to be very

         14  brief, because you look a bit tired too.

         15                 I am very grateful for this

         16  opportunity to address the City Council this morning

         17  -- this afternoon, rather. And as we do that, I

         18  would like members here to know that there are

         19  thousands of people demonstrating in the streets

         20  outside from our community against this bill, there

         21  is great emotion, great public feeling against this.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: On both sides,

         23  sir. On both sides.

         24                 DR. NARINE: On both sides? Well, I

         25  think we probably outnumber the other side today.
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          2                 The Indo-Caribbean community in

          3  Queens is a decent, hard-working community and they

          4  play by the rules. Over the years, Indo-Caribbeans

          5  have had to revitalize Queens, particularly the

          6  Richmond Hill area, where the number today is about

          7  300,000 persons.

          8                 Ten years ago, many Indo-Caribbeans

          9  purchased their homes in Queens. At that time, as we

         10  have been saying repeatedly the basements were known

         11  as mother/daughter and people living there were

         12  renting, children were living there, and no one said

         13  that those apartments were illegal.

         14                 However, when we purchased these

         15  homes and we have lived there decently, in a

         16  law-biding fashion, we are told that they are now

         17  illegal conversions.

         18                 This is followed by round-the-clock

         19  inspections by members of the Building Department,

         20  court appearances, and the imposition of hefty fines

         21  directed mostly at our community.

         22                 Are we wrong to think that our

         23  community is unfairly treated, that we have been

         24  targeted for special treatment? Let us look at the

         25  statistics here. According to the New York Newsday,
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          2  February 8, 1998, Staten Island had 56 inspections

          3  by the Buildings Department for illegal conversions.

          4  Brooklyn, 156, and Queens 6,600, the majority being

          5  in the Richmond Hill area.

          6                 Mr. Archie Spigner, the Chairman of

          7  the Buildings Committee, has repeatedly said that

          8  these inspections are "complaint driven", and you

          9  have heard that said by other members this morning.

         10                 Let me address this briefly.

         11  Complaint-driven means that an individual can

         12  anonymously report the entire neighborhood for

         13  illegal conversion, and according to the law of the

         14  Buildings Department, has to inspect for illegal

         15  conversions.

         16                 Now, aren't we giving one person or a

         17  number of persons faceless and anonymous too much

         18  power? Is this the American way of doing things?

         19                 In June 1998, a survey was undertaken

         20  by the Richmond Hill Coalition of concerned

         21  citizens. We wanted to see how many people lived in

         22  basements, and I was part of that survey. The area

         23  of the survey stretched from Wood Haven to Hollis,

         24  and from South Conduit to the Hillside. It was found

         25  that approximately 50,000 people live in basement
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          2  apartments in that area.

          3                 How will Bill 363 help these 50,000

          4  people? Can the Queens, the Borough Council provide

          5  them a cheap, affordable housing? And Ms. Shulman

          6  has repeatedly stated that she cannot.

          7                 Our community does not find basement

          8  occupancy objectionable. People have been living

          9  there for a long time. Our brothers and sisters in

         10  Borough Park, Brooklyn, live in their basement

         11  apartments at present with the approval of the City.

         12  Why? Because Borough Park was rezoned to accommodate

         13  that population.

         14                 The safety factor applies to the

         15  basement in Borough Park as it does in Richmond

         16  Hill. What is good for Borough Park is also good for

         17  Queens and Richmond Hill.

         18                 Complaint driven has given rise, sir,

         19  and members, to a fair driven policy in Queens.

         20  Building inspectors sit long hours sniffing out

         21  basement apartments. If they don't catch you at six

         22  in the morning, they will catch you at 11:00 at

         23  night. It doesn't matter if it is a Sunday, the day

         24  of the Hindu or Muslim sabbath. Can building

         25  inspectors treat the culture of other communities
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          2  with such scant respect?

          3                 I have in my hand here an article

          4  written by Mr. Jamie Brezlin, in the Newsday. And it

          5  says, "In Queens there is house by house harassment

          6  in South Queens." And he has hit the nail on the

          7  head, and we want to thank all of the newspapers,

          8  Caribbean Journal, Queens Chronicle for writing

          9  about this.

         10                 So, the Building Department issue

         11  violations to decent and hard-working people, but we

         12  are the ones who are violated. Our space is

         13  violated, our families are violated, when there is

         14  nowhere to go and we can't afford to pay exorbitant

         15  rents for first and second floor apartments.

         16                 We feel violated when the City

         17  disrespects our culture.

         18                 Now, where do we go from here? What

         19  should we do? What are we to recommend to the City

         20  Council? We are told that this bill is in our

         21  interest. It will help to protect us. How can it do

         22  so when 50,000 people, mostly from our community,

         23  are forced to vacate their apartments? Where will

         24  they go? An enlightened policy would try to balance

         25  the needs of the City and the community and we would
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          2  like to recommend the following:

          3                 Number one, that there should be a

          4  moratorium placed on the bill, until the City has

          5  time to access full impact on the community. This

          6  will require taking evidence from all sections of

          7  the community.

          8                 Two, that certain parts of Queens

          9  should be rezoned and the Building Code should be

         10  amended to accommodate basement occupancy.

         11                 Three, that architects in the City

         12  should be on hand to give advice as to how to make

         13  basements more livable. We do not have the money to

         14  invite architects and pay them $3,000 to tell us

         15  whether it is livable or not. The City should help

         16  us do that.

         17                 Four, we could call illegal

         18  conversions a housing problem or we could view it as

         19  a solution to the housing problem, and with an

         20  enlightened policy, building illegal conversions or

         21  basement occupancy can help to solve the problem of

         22  housing in Richmond Hill and indeed in Queens.

         23                 Finally, we appeal to members to take

         24  an enlightened and sensible approach to the basement

         25  question.
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          2                 We appeal also to Mrs. Claire Shulman

          3  who will not be the Borough President in the next

          4  election, please do not leave your successor with a

          5  mess which will be too big for him or her to clean

          6  up.

          7                 As I look and I see you distinguished

          8  ladies and gentlemen, I would like you to know that

          9  with 30,000 Indo-Caribbean eligible to vote, and our

         10  massive voter registration drive, it won't be too

         11  long before one or all is sitting in your august

         12  company.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And I look

         15  forward to that day, Doctor, and I hope that they

         16  will conduct themselves in a manner that reflects

         17  good public policies, and I am sure they will. So, I

         18  don't care, and I want to see them wrestle with

         19  these difficult issues, in the interest of all of

         20  the citizens of New York City.

         21                 Mr. Kerzner, please.

         22                 Followed by Vishnu Mahadeo, and then

         23  by Margaret Markey. I haven't seen her. Is she here

         24  or a representative?

         25                 MR. KERNZER: She is over here.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            200

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 Good afternoon. My name is Paul

          3  Kerzner, I am Vice President of the Queens Civic

          4  Congress and Counsel to the Ridgewood Property

          5  Owners and Civic Association. I have been a

          6  life-long resident of my community.

          7                 In 1901, some 98 years ago, New York

          8  City was the first City in the United States to pass

          9  a package of strict Housing Code regulations, to

         10  protect the tens of thousands of immigrants who were

         11  swelling the City's population at that time, and

         12  were living in substandard housing conditions.

         13                 Intro. 363-A is part of that long New

         14  York City tradition which began in 1901, continuing

         15  to protect immigrants in our communities from

         16  overcrowding and substandard housing conditions.

         17                 As good as 363-A is, it does not

         18  address the very serious issue of what should be

         19  done when an owner denies access to the Buildings

         20  Department, when an alleged illegal use is going on

         21  within that building. We have attached a memo that

         22  successfully addresses this issue that protects

         23  owners from unreasonable access and yet protects the

         24  surrounding community from unscrupulous landlords

         25  who are milking their buildings through illegal
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          2  means.

          3                 Safeguards include no fines for

          4  refusing to gain access if the owner within 30 days

          5  of a notice makes an appointment with the Buildings

          6  Department to inspect the premises and without

          7  providing for this access provision, unscrupulous

          8  landlords will continue to frustrate the enforcement

          9  process and get away with continuing their illegal

         10  uses.

         11                 Our Borough President's illegal task

         12  force last month unanimously recommended that this

         13  access provision be made part of Intro. 363-A, to

         14  deal with many of the loopholes in the present

         15  enforcement procedure against illegal uses. The

         16  proposed amendment to 363-A deals with access and is

         17  modeled after an existing section of the New York

         18  City's Department of Environmental Protection right

         19  to know statute which addresses the asbestos issue.

         20                 This access proposal has already

         21  withstood constitutional challenge. The New York

         22  State Court of Appeals has upheld that this access

         23  provision is a valid use of a municipality's power

         24  to protect its citizenry from a potential health

         25  hazard.
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          2                 Our own experience with illegal uses

          3  in Ridgewood is alarming and a clear health hazard.

          4                 Over one four-year period Ridgewood

          5  experienced a number of fires in our residential

          6  buildings both frame and brick. We analyzed the data

          7  from each of those fires, this is what we have

          8  learned:

          9                 There were two, and only two, common

         10  threads of information that occurred in all of these

         11  Ridgewood fires. One, all of the fires were in

         12  buildings that were owned by absentee owners.

         13                 Two, all of these fire damage

         14  buildings have illegal uses in them when fires

         15  occurred. We do not know whether these fires began

         16  within these illegal uses. The Fire Department would

         17  not release this information. But it is telling that

         18  absentee owners and illegal uses were the only two

         19  trends that we found with all of our Ridgewood

         20  fires.

         21                 It is clear that we need Intro. 363-A

         22  and the proposed access provisions to deal with

         23  these absentee owners in Ridgewood who are

         24  threatening the stability of our community, by

         25  creating an environment that encourages building
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          2  fires.

          3                 It is not fair to the overwhelming

          4  majority of owners in our community that our

          5  association represents, that are law-abiding and

          6  live in our community, to have to be subjected to

          7  these illegal uses.

          8                 Please pass Intro. 363-A and the

          9  proposed access provision.

         10                 I would like to add three points that

         11  I heard earlier.

         12                 After 24 years of legal practice and

         13  being an active real estate broker, I have no

         14  problem with complying with the terms of Intro.

         15  363-A, either as an attorney or as a broker.

         16                 Two, cyclical enforcement by the

         17  Buildings Department was part of the New York City

         18  budget process prior to New York City's 1976 fiscal

         19  crisis.

         20                 It should be reinstated so that

         21  enforcement is not complaint driven.

         22                 Give the Buildings Department

         23  sufficient budget funds which will reinstate

         24  cyclical enforcement.

         25                 And one question does hit me, in
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          2  terms of some of the prior speakers who are against

          3  the 363-A: I wonder how many individuals who claim

          4  innocence, who have illegal uses in their buildings,

          5  are reporting that additional income on their income

          6  taxes.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Kerzner.

         10                 Is Mr. Vishnu Mahadeo here? Did I

         11  pronounce the name right?

         12                 MR. MAHADEO: Yes.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And

         14  followed by Ms. Margaret Markey.

         15                 MR. MAHADEO: I must apologize for not

         16  bringing my speech with me, and you will be spared

         17  the burden of a long lengthy speech.

         18                 My testimony here is that I am from

         19  the Richmond Hill South Queens Environment, and I am

         20  very active in the community and I do believe in

         21  quality of life issues. In fact, my testimony

         22  towards quality of life issue is that I was one of

         23  the three people who was responsible for Liberty

         24  Avenue for the first time in the history of Liberty

         25  Avenue.
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          2                 Now, the reason why I bring this up

          3  here is I am very active in voter registration for

          4  the new Americans that are in Richmond Hill that are

          5  in South Queens.

          6                 I am very active because I feel there

          7  is a need for them to be part of a system. What I

          8  have seen is that level of the way ECB is

          9  implementing this local 65 plus this new bill, the

         10  level of fear and anxiety that is introduced is

         11  causing people not to want to participate in the

         12  system.

         13                 A rental rally on Monday where there

         14  were no less than 1,200 people there, I handed out

         15  1,500 Board of Election Board of Election

         16  Registration forms. I was lucky to only get 29 back.

         17                 Now, I am very active with the

         18  Borough President's Census 2000 Committee in terms

         19  of getting to inform our community. People in our

         20  community are not going to comply because they are

         21  fearful of this information will be mishandled. And

         22  one of the things I am asking here is that here is a

         23  local law, it is now going to jeopardize the City of

         24  New York's ability to raise funds because Census

         25  2000, if it is mishandled, and people do not comply,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            206

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  it will cause a drain of additional income from New

          3  York City, and I am asking specifically if the New

          4  York City Council can look very carefully and stop

          5  this implementation until after Census 2000, because

          6  it is going to have a detrimental effect on Census

          7  2000. My experience in my community is telling me

          8  exactly that.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: We have

         11  testimony received and being submitted from

         12  Community Board 14, a Mr. Jonathan Gaska. Just for

         13  in the record.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Mahadeo.

         15                 Ms. Markey. Assemblywoman Markey, I

         16  am sorry.

         17                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN MARKEY: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: You are

         20  welcome.

         21                 ASSEMBLYWOMAN MARKEY: Yes, I am a

         22  State Assembly Member and I serve the communities of

         23  Maspeth, Woodside, Elmhurst, Jackson Heights, Middle

         24  Village and Sunnyside.

         25                 I am also a member of Borough
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          2  President Claire Shulman's Task Force on Illegal

          3  Conversion.

          4                 I support Intro. 363, and commend the

          5  Borough President on her efforts to address this

          6  very serious issue. There are many obvious reasons

          7  for addressing illegal conversions, the burden of

          8  overcrowding on our City services, the hidden money

          9  and uncollected taxes to name two. But the most

         10  important one to me is the issue of safety. Safety

         11  for the tenants and safety of the neighbors.

         12                 In the Maspeth community about two

         13  years ago, residents living in an illegal apartment

         14  were killed in a tragic fire. The blatant refusal to

         15  adhere to zoning and building codes caused their

         16  death. Zoning regulations and building codes serve a

         17  real purpose. They allow people to live in a

         18  community of their choice, be it a multiple

         19  dwelling, or single-family homes. When people make

         20  major purchases of a home, there is often a lifetime

         21  investment and they have the right to expect their

         22  neighbors who adhere to the same laws.

         23                 They do not expect them to subdivide

         24  apartments or conduct illegal businesses in

         25  residential neighborhoods.
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          2                 Responsibility must be taken by those

          3  who profit from the sale of illegal conversions in

          4  order to protect human lives, financial investments

          5  and the stability and safety of our communities.

          6                 This proposed law puts the burden on

          7  real estate agents, the purchaser and the seller to

          8  certify at closing that a home does not have any

          9  illegal dwelling units.

         10                 The inference of the ability to rent

         11  an illegal apartment must stop. The Department of

         12  Buildings should be given the power of enforcement

         13  by expanding upon the vehicle seizure powers of the

         14  Department of Consumer Affairs. I support the per

         15  diem penalty and the prohibition against new

         16  building permits for violators.

         17                 Intro. 363 is a real attempt to

         18  address this issue of illegal conversion. And it

         19  helps those who want to legalize existing

         20  apartments. Some have doubts about it. They say it

         21  is a step in the right direction.

         22                 In addition, when our City's budget

         23  is negotiated, I strongly advise increasing the

         24  budget for the Department of Buildings. There is no

         25  sense in creating laws without the people power to
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          2  enforce them.

          3                 Safety of all of our residents, the

          4  stability of our community and the protection of

          5  families and their real estate investments are all

          6  important and the passage of Intro. 363 will help

          7  accomplish these goals.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         10  Assembly Member Markey.

         11                 Is Mr. Clive Williams here, please?

         12  Welcome, sir.

         13                 MR. WILLIAMS: Mr. Chairman, members,

         14  thank you very much for the opportunity?

         15                 I represent the New Immigrant

         16  Community Empowerment.  I am a founder and a

         17  Director for this group out of Queens, and NICE,

         18  which is the acronym for New Immigrant Community

         19  Empowerment, is currently made up of over 150

         20  individuals representing over 20 organizations in

         21  Queens. Our members speak over ten languages, and

         22  our literature is multilingual.

         23                 NICE has been effective in reaching

         24  out to immigrant communities by visiting people in

         25  subway stations, bus stops, laundromats and all over
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          2  the City, in order to get pretty much a take on

          3  Intro. 363. And as I sit and listened to the various

          4  presentations this morning, as you certainly have,

          5  what seems to be emerging is a fractionalization of

          6  people, and in order to address this, I think 363 is

          7  of noble intent, however, we believe that it is

          8  flawed, and the presentation, I want to share with

          9  you that I want to submit with you, although

         10  somewhat repetitious, will seek to emphasize some of

         11  the very grave and real concerns that are being

         12  manifest in our communities.

         13                 The recent introduction of proposed

         14  amendment number 363 to the Administrative Code of

         15  the City of New York, in regard to illegal apartment

         16  conversions, does not address the basic fundamental

         17  issue of the lack of existing rental housing stock

         18  in the Borough of Queens. The current unmet demand,

         19  or need for low to moderate income rental housing,

         20  is at a crisis level for immigrant communities,

         21  residents of rental communities across Queens

         22  County.

         23                 The recent arrival of new immigrants,

         24  the lack of any new construction of low to moderate

         25  income housing and the consistently increasing
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          2  demographic shifts in Queens neighborhoods have

          3  contributed significantly to an increased demand

          4  that far exceeds the current existing supply of

          5  rental housing units.

          6                 This higher demand has not been

          7  adequately acknowledged or addressed by any public

          8  policy initiatives in strategically planning for and

          9  developing low to moderate income housing units for

         10  Queens residents.

         11                 This lack of planning and the lack of

         12  sufficient development of housing units have

         13  significantly contributed to the creation of the

         14  existent level of illegally converted rental housing

         15  units.

         16                 And to those people who would

         17  immediately say we have such an overabundance of

         18  immigrants coming into this great country, let me

         19  say that it is this immigrant community who is

         20  adding a fuel, who is actually adding a fire in the

         21  belly of this great country, that is contributing to

         22  the production and to the industrialization, to the

         23  service economy of this country.

         24                 And so, as we consider ways as to how

         25  to make a compromise here, rather than being

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            212

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  factionalized and fractionalized, we want to suggest

          3  that in addition, that while maintaining code

          4  enforcement of illegal apartments is important, it

          5  is unacceptable, irresponsible and incomprehensible

          6  for the City of New York to threaten the personal

          7  civil liberties of home owners by conducting

          8  questionable field visits at unacceptable times

          9  after 9:00 p.m. at night at the crack of dawn in

         10  people's homes.

         11                 Finally, there has been no proposed

         12  short or long-term strategic housing plan for the

         13  development of affordable and safe housing units to

         14  meet this crisis environment in rental housing needs

         15  that currently exists in Queens County.

         16                 This densely populated Borough of

         17  Queens of communities and residents of rental

         18  communities are looking for shelter, they need

         19  shelter.

         20                 This demand and competition for the

         21  scarce supply of rental units is exemplified daily

         22  in many rental units across Queens.

         23                 For example, it is not unusual for a

         24  one-bedroom apartment listed for rent to be visited

         25  by over 200 applicants, competing renters, in one
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          2  week, following the apartment listing. Clearly, this

          3  lack of rental housing unit creates an unmet crisis

          4  level and justifies the need for planning and

          5  development of low to moderate income housing and

          6  rental units for all residents of the Borough of

          7  Queens.

          8                 In closing, let me just quickly add

          9  that in Borough Park and in Crown Heights, rezoning

         10  has been effectively done to accommodate members of

         11  one community.

         12                 Could that be the answer, for yet

         13  another community who are contributing more than $19

         14  billion annually in taxes?

         15                 It was Socrates who said that a life

         16  that is unexamined is not worth living. I would like

         17  to invite this honorable chamber to look at the

         18  metaphorical inference of that and to maybe

         19  translate it, thus a legislation not through

         20  thoroughly examined might not be worth implementing.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Williams. Thank you, sir.

         24                 Council Member Sabini.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Yes.
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          2                 Mr. Williams, if I might, since I am

          3  familiar with your organization and have had the

          4  pleasure of being a guest there, it concerns me that

          5  you use in your testimony a couple of points.

          6                 The development of additional

          7  housing, one of the problems that we have in the

          8  City of New York, and the reason people kill to get

          9  on our Land Use Committee, as I did, is because land

         10  is our most valuable resource. It is what oil is to

         11  Texas. And we don't have a lot of space in this

         12  City, so what you build, how big you build it, how

         13  big you build it, where you build it are big issues

         14  in this City.

         15                 I don't know that we have lots and

         16  lots of space to build more housing, and one of the

         17  concerns that zoning has is that the order of the

         18  zoning, zoning has established a great sort of order

         19  so that neighborhood services can service the amount

         20  people designed for that zoning.

         21                 You used the example of Crown Heights

         22  and Borough Park, and I am glad you did. Do you know

         23  why they rezoned that? Because I don't know how much

         24  attention people pay to the full spectrum of what

         25  goes on here, the reason some of those areas were
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          2  rezoned recently was that there was a proposal, it

          3  came to this Council, to rezone the whole City, or

          4  rezone many of our residential neighborhoods to the

          5  levels they wanted and I and other members of the

          6  Council said, whoa, why are we doing this? And they

          7  said, well we have this problem in Crown Heights and

          8  Borough Park. And we said fine, rezone them, don't

          9  rezone the whole City, because we, the

         10  representatives of these neighborhoods that you live

         11  in don't want it. So, that is why they were rezoned.

         12  Now to use their rezoning as a tool to get us to

         13  move on additional, they were rezoned specifically

         14  because the other neighborhoods in the City didn't

         15  want to do it, because that was their problem, not

         16  our problem. They wanted that done for their family,

         17  we don't want it to happen in our particular

         18  neighborhoods because our particular neighborhoods

         19  aren't in the same condition, because our particular

         20  neighborhoods are not owner occupied dwellings, they

         21  are non-owner occupied dwellings.

         22                 And I got to tell you that when

         23  people, and I am sympathetic to many in the

         24  community that have concerns of the housing, but the

         25  real villain here is the people who are profiteering
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          2  over substandard housing who are renting substandard

          3  wired houses, that are renting rooms, sometimes in

          4  shifts, because that happens in our communities, and

          5  we all know it, those are the villains here. Not

          6  people who are seeking to keep neighborhoods being

          7  vital and reasonable places to live, those to me are

          8  the villains, not the people that are trying to

          9  somehow keep some sort of order that was originally

         10  designed, these neighborhoods were originally

         11  designed for. And I got to tell you that at some

         12  point many will wake up and figure out that instead

         13  of being the victim of what they see as big

         14  government or some have said they are trying to keep

         15  neighborhoods white - that is long gone. I mean, my

         16  district is very proudly and very happily the most

         17  immigrant rich district in the City. When people

         18  figure out that the real villain is not people

         19  trying to keep an order on things, but the people

         20  profiting off this housing shortage, then maybe we

         21  can come to some accommodation and figure out that

         22  our neighborhoods are really suffering because of in

         23  some cases corporations owning these homes and

         24  profiting off of them.

         25                 MR. WILLIAMS: Mr. Council Member, I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            217

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  truly wish that I had the benefit and the facility

          3  of the time that you have been afforded. If I did

          4  have that benefit I certainly be able to wax as

          5  eloquent as you did.

          6                 The fact is that we have a real

          7  concern in the Borough of Queens, a very real and

          8  present concern, and it is an intractable one. And I

          9  think when you have such a situation, then all of

         10  the attention must be focused on that, rather than

         11  you or I speaking in cliches here.

         12                 The fact is that most of what you

         13  have said, and I have listened very carefully to

         14  you, and other members, much of what has been said

         15  has been anecdotal.

         16                 What we long for is some kind of

         17  statistical basis, some kind of numbers on the real

         18  gravity of the situation as it exists in Queens. We

         19  need numbers.

         20                 And if the City Council would seek to

         21  act in making sure that we get very real numbers,

         22  very real statistical measures of the problem --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: I will tell

         24  you that from the Department of Finance that there

         25  are census tracked in western Queens that are 85
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          2  percent un-owner-occupied Class 1 homes. That is

          3  unacceptable as a neighborhood. That means that 85

          4  percent of single and two-family homes are entirely

          5  rental occupied. That is not what that was designed

          6  to do, okay? And that is not anecdotal.

          7                 Your testimony, however, talks about

          8  people breaking down doors. Man, I have gone on

          9  Building Department inspections, most of the time

         10  they say they can't get in, I am the one breaking

         11  down the door.

         12                 MR. WILLIAMS: Does this speak, sir,

         13  to the laxity of our City fathers? It does not speak

         14  to immigrants.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: You are using

         16  anecdotal --

         17                 MR. WILLIAMS: This is not immigrants.

         18  We are not the people who created this problem.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: That's

         20  correct. That is exactly the point, that the laws

         21  have to have some teeth, otherwise they are

         22  meaningless, and that the real victims here may be

         23  the people who are paying ridiculous amounts of

         24  money to live in substandard housing. Those are the

         25  real victims.
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          2                 MR. WILLIAMS: And so maybe we should

          3  begin to address that problem, shouldn't we?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: And that is a

          5  regional problem. That is not a New York City

          6  problem. That is a regional problem. There is no law

          7  that says that everyone has to live in, you know,

          8  within one block of a subway station. It is a

          9  regional problem.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Sabini.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Williams.

         13                 MR. WILLIAMS: Thank you, sir.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: If we

         15  could have, before people come towards the front,

         16  first a Mr. Michael O'Donald to speak first, and

         17  then if we could have, and forgive me if I am

         18  pronouncing the names wrong, but it looks like

         19  Pandit Dhan Raj, is that close?

         20                 MR. DHAN RAJ: Yes.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: And Mary

         22  Sarro. See, Indian names, American names, Irish

         23  names, it doesn't matter. Sometimes it is hard to

         24  read.

         25                 Pandit Motiram. And if the other
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          2  people can just get ready to come up, thank you. And

          3  this is Mr. O'Donald, right?

          4                 MR. O'DONALD: Right. Thank you.

          5                 Good afternoon. I am going to read a

          6  statement from Committee Board 10. I was asked to

          7  read it for the community board and then I will read

          8  the civic.

          9                 Good morning, or actually right now

         10  it is good afternoon. My name is Michael M.

         11  O'Donald, and I am a member of Community Board 10,

         12  Queens. The Chairperson is unable to be here today

         13  and has asked me to read into the record Community

         14  Board 10's position on Intro. 263-A -- actually, it

         15  should be 363-A.

         16                 As the Council knows, the

         17  ever-growing problem of illegal conversions is a

         18  serious concern in the Borough of Queens. Community

         19  Board 10 has stated in its community district

         20  statement of needs that illegal residential

         21  conversions and illegal commercial uses continue to

         22  escalate to an alarming degree. And that it is

         23  essential that this very serious problem continue to

         24  be recognized as such and be addressed. The illegal

         25  uses must not just be cited and financial penalties
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          2  imposed.

          3                 They must not be allowed to continue.

          4  The Board believes that Intro. 363-A is a means

          5  towards that end, and that also addresses concerns

          6  that have been raised by those cited for violations

          7  about the per diem penalties which resulted from

          8  prior council legislation in 1997.

          9                 Therefore, we support the limited

         10  waiver provision.

         11                 Although the overwhelming majority of

         12  the real estate agents in our board area conduct

         13  their businesses honorably and honestly, there are a

         14  few who are unscrupulous. Over the past few years we

         15  have regularly been told by those who have received

         16  violations that they were unaware that there actions

         17  were illegal, that they were told by real estate

         18  agencies that they could take these actions, while

         19  ignorance of the law is no defense, we believe that

         20  certification at closing proviso of Intro. 363-A

         21  addresses this problem, therefore we support it.

         22                 We also believe that the provisions

         23  dealing with stop work orders and new building

         24  permits violators will help to prevent the problem

         25  of illegal conversion from continuing to escalate;
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          2  therefore, we support them.

          3                 We realize that this bill is not a

          4  panacea, but we believe that it is an appropriate

          5  step to take toward alleviating the serious problems

          6  and the effects of illegal conversions.

          7                 We urge the Council to pass it. Thank

          8  you for the opportunity to speak today.

          9                 That is the community board. Now I am

         10  going to give you mine.

         11                 Again, it is no longer good morning,

         12  it is good afternoon. We are still here. Members of

         13  the City Council, I am Michael M. O'Donald,

         14  President of the South Ozone Park Civic Association

         15  West, commonly known as SOPCAW.

         16                 Our civic association covers the area

         17  from Lefferts Boulevard to the Van Wyck Expressway,

         18  Rockaway and Parch Boulevards to North Conduit

         19  Avenue, the Belt Parkway.

         20                 The SOPCAW community of one and

         21  two-family homes has a substantial minority

         22  population consisting of Afro-Americans, West

         23  Indians, and a recent influx are people from the

         24  Indian descent.

         25                 The one constant complaint at our
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          2  civic meetings has been illegal apartments and the

          3  problems that they bring. Trucks parking in the

          4  driveways, lack of parking on the street, and

          5  overcrowding in the schools, et cetera.

          6                 Owners of one and two-family homes

          7  with apartments in the basement, some of whom are

          8  recent immigrants, say they were told they could do

          9  this, have an apartment in the basement. Who told

         10  them? The real estate agent who sold them their

         11  home, that is who.

         12                 The owner would say, he would not lie

         13  to me. And besides he knows the law, he is a guy

         14  from my own country. Welcome to America, where the

         15  dollar rules and your own are the first to screw

         16  you.

         17                 This has been the way it has been

         18  with each new ethnic group, whether Irish, Italian,

         19  German, black, white, whatever.

         20                 The provisions in this bill answers

         21  the residents other frustrations in correcting their

         22  problem of an illegal apartment.

         23                 How to get rid of their tenant? The

         24  courts would allow the tenant to stay rent-free for

         25  six months and receive up to two years back rent.
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          2                 When our Borough President Claire

          3  Shulman was made aware of this, she was quite upset.

          4  She worked out a compromise as to Section 26-126.1

          5  of the amended administrative code to the Queens

          6  County Illegal Apartment Task Force.

          7                 We in South Ozone Park have found we

          8  are not alone in our complaints. Through our

          9  membership in the Queens Civic Congress, we have

         10  found the same problems and other communities are

         11  addressing the illegal apartment problem.

         12                 This bill points out the

         13  unenforceability of a stop work order. The police

         14  are still worried about now.

         15                 Intro. 363 will give some teeth to

         16  stop work orders. The contractor, legal or

         17  otherwise, does not want to lose his truck and

         18  tools. Most of our members on our mailing list of

         19  over 1,000 families agree with the compromises. And,

         20  remember, this is a compromise, like our

         21  constitution and everything else. And Intros 363,

         22  certification, allows the buyer up front at closing

         23  to know the status of their new home. The real

         24  estate agent can no longer lie to the new owner,

         25  take advantage of the recent arrival in America.
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          2                 SOPCWA urges the Council to pass this

          3  bill. Help the new American. They are very

          4  hard-working people. They want to do right by

          5  America. As they have said at our civic meetings, I

          6  could not achieve at home what I have achieved here.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 I have just one comment to make, and

          9  I take severe umbrage at what I have heard some

         10  speakers say here today.

         11                 They are blaming the new immigrants

         12  especially those from the Indian descent. They are

         13  implying, and I take severe umbrage at this, my

         14  grandparents were immigrants, we came here and they

         15  used to hang us for what we were. The disdain that

         16  these new immigrants are a bunch of criminals? I

         17  have heard people, speaker after speaker, the

         18  implication is that, oh, the Indian community is

         19  nothing but a bunch of criminals. Now, something is

         20  wrong here. They are saying they are all committing

         21  crimes, violating the law deliberately. I think some

         22  of these people that got up here as speakers today

         23  better get their act straight and quit pointing the

         24  finger at the immigrant community and saying they

         25  are the only ones that are violating the law.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON NELSON: Thank you,

          4  Mr. O'Donald.

          5                 Is this Pandit Motiram? When you get

          6  there you can mention your name, please, so you can

          7  say it correctly.

          8                 MR. MOTIRAM: The name is Pandit

          9  Motiram. I am an Indian Priest.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and members

         11  of the Council, for giving us this opportunity to

         12  address you.

         13                 I will not be long. Our problem is we

         14  agree, we live in an overcrowded city, for which

         15  this City has no solution. The Borough President

         16  agrees that the City is overpopulated and she has no

         17  solution.

         18                 And there is another part that was

         19  raised here, Mr. Chairman, saying about families,

         20  what constitutes a family? How many members

         21  constitute a family? They are people who are

         22  migrating into this country, has a family member of

         23  19, 19 members in their family, they acquire a home

         24  and it is their moral obligation to provide their

         25  family with a roof over their head.
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          2                 Now, they bought a home. They are not

          3  renting it, but they would like to occupy all the

          4  space that is necessary for the upkeep of their

          5  family, bringing their family together.

          6                 Where are these people going to put

          7  these families if they cannot use their basements?

          8                 Mr. Chairman, I do not know how much

          9  members you have in your family. I do not now the

         10  space you have in your home. But you tell me, if my

         11  family consists of 19 members, why can't I use my

         12  basement to house my family there?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Your point is

         14  well made. I want to thank you for your testimony,

         15  sir.

         16                 MR. MOTIRAM: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Bishop Persaud.

         18                 BISHOP PERSAUD: Good afternoon,

         19  ladies and gentlemen, Majority Speaker. I have given

         20  you a book which I would like you to keep and read,

         21  what the Honorable Eva Clayton had said, "All God's

         22  children deserve a home." And I repeat: "All God's

         23  children deserve a home."

         24                 Some of these people have racial

         25  imbalance in them. It is either Indian people,
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          2  Indian immigrants have come over, educated

          3  themselves and become one of the American family.

          4                 I am here 32 years, before most

          5  Indian every arrived in Queens. I am the first

          6  Indian that lived in Queens. I live an honorable and

          7  decent life. I am the Bishop of the District. I know

          8  our honorable member, I know our Congresswoman who

          9  has retired, I insist Gregory W. Meeks to become our

         10  new Congressman. These are the gentlemen who should

         11  have come up here to say something for these people.

         12                 We know we have overcrowding, but

         13  where could they go? They cannot sleep in the

         14  street. Nobody wants them to be homeless, and make

         15  destruction.

         16                 It is the duty of the City, at least

         17  to see what provisions can be made for this

         18  overcrowding.

         19                 We know a lot of wrong things have

         20  been done, but there are things that can be said,

         21  things can be done to modify this, and having these

         22  criminal inspectors picking on those 4:00 in the

         23  morning. If it was my door, I will use my shotgun. I

         24  know they will charge me with murder, but I will use

         25  it. You don't kick my door. My house is my property,
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          2  I own it, and by God's right I do what I think best

          3  if you come inside.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 I just come from Washington D.C., I

          6  told them the harassment we are having in Queens,

          7  they say go to your Council Member. You sir, you

          8  know that.

          9                 Thank you and thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         11                 Ms. Gonzalez, followed by Dhan Raj,

         12  149-43 120th Street. Paul Dhan Raj, are you here?

         13                 Okay, you may go, Ms. Gonzalez.

         14                 MS. GONZAELZ: My name is Haydee

         15  Gonzalez. I am from your block association and other

         16  organizations in Queens. The reason that I came, and

         17  I favor this amendment that the Borough President

         18  say is -- because everybody come into this country

         19  with one purpose, but we have to respect the laws of

         20  this country, too. We don't live no more with the

         21  laws in our country. And I think that when it is

         22  illegal, it is illegal.

         23                 One of the reasons that I came, in

         24  September in my area one was converted, a garage to

         25  an apartment. They put a computer name, but they
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          2  live there.   I have a picture that they live there

          3  at night. They live there, three children and two

          4  adults. In 10 foot, 30 foot long. No door in the

          5  back, one glass door in the front. If a fire come in

          6  the front, five people would die, they would put

          7  blame to the City of New York.

          8                 It is time for you, Chairperson, and

          9  the other City Council members, to take more in

         10  consideration that we cannot live like that. If this

         11  person have the money to buy a car, he should have

         12  money to live in an apartment, not in a garage that

         13  he convert for that family.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you.

         15                 Mr. Methoolall Mangal, followed by

         16  Mary Sarro.

         17                 MR. MANGAL: Mr. Chairman, I

         18  appreciate this opportunity to present the views of

         19  the Guyanesse Solidarity Movement.

         20                 We are a community-based

         21  organization, operating in Ozone Park, Richmond

         22  Hill, South Ozone Park.

         23                 We are in full support of decent

         24  housing, and if this bill would have achieved that

         25  end, it would have had our support.
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          2                 We believe, however, that that is not

          3  the intention, and therefore we strongly recommend

          4  that there be a reconsideration of this bill.

          5                 The bill, Mr. Chairman, is introduced

          6  on the heels of a long dead law revised to

          7  facilitate the crackdown on home-owners for building

          8  and having housing violations.

          9                 The crackdown has been -- the

         10  crackdown has caused serious dislocation in Richmond

         11  Hill. The passing of 363 would cause a major

         12  catastrophe.

         13                 The present direction of the Council

         14  is confrontational. The crackdown and the bill have

         15  generated strong emotions on all sides, residents

         16  and Council.

         17                 The GSM urges a reasonable and just

         18  solution for this issue.

         19                 We urge a return to the status quo,

         20  that is to the position before the crackdown. We

         21  believe that a crackdown and the increase in

         22  penalties are not the solution. It addresses the

         23  effects, not the cause.

         24                 We urge Council to shelf the bill,

         25  and sit down with residents to work to amend the
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          2  building codes and revise the zoning regulations, to

          3  reflect the build up in the Richmond Hill area.

          4                 This approach is necessary because of

          5  the acute housing shortage that exists.

          6                 There must be compromises, the

          7  Council should be concerned about the impact of the

          8  actions on tenants. As it is, tenants are left out

          9  in the cold. We suggest that tenants be assisted by

         10  the City in finding apartments.

         11                 The home owners should be given

         12  guidelines and opportunity to rectify

         13  irregularities.

         14                 The rules and passages of the

         15  rectification must be simplified. We don't believe

         16  that we should put the cart before the horse.

         17                 We have a task force, but we think we

         18  should have another one. We should have a task force

         19  comprising of the City, the State and the federal

         20  government to examine the serious dilemma that we

         21  face.

         22                 This is our position and I thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you, sir.

         24

         25  Mary Sarro, please.
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          2                 Cathryn Keeshan, is she here?

          3                 MS. KEESHAN: Yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: You are next.

          5                 MS. SARRO: Mr. Chairman, Council

          6  Members.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: No, I made a

          8  mistake. Susan Gibson O'Gara, is she here?

          9                 MS. O'GARA: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Okay, you are

         11  after Ms. Sarro.

         12                 MS. SARRO: I am Marry Sarro, and I am

         13  the former District Manager of Community Board 3.

         14  And an active Jackson Heights resident.

         15                 It is respectfully requested that the

         16  Council vote in favor of Intro. 363-A. This added

         17  legislation is another positive step forward to

         18  eliminate unacceptable overcrowded illegal basement

         19  apartments and boarding house operations which has

         20  and is methodically destabilizing the residential

         21  character of our neighborhoods and severely drain

         22  all of our essential services.

         23                 I applaud the Borough President for

         24  keeping her shoulders to the wheel in support of

         25  Queens' citizens' demands to wipe out illegal
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          2  conversions in their neighborhoods and get back on

          3  the road to law and order.

          4                 It is hoped will, too, hear their

          5  cry, and return them to stability and tranquility

          6  and level of respect and responsibility who many as

          7  former immigrants proudly maintain for the benefit

          8  of their family, their neighbor, their community,

          9  their country, as a whole.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Susan

         12  Gibson-O'Gara.

         13                 MS. GIBSON-O'GARA: Good afternoon.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Followed by

         15  Cathryn Keeshan.

         16                 MS. GIBSON-O'GARA: Good afternoon,

         17  Mr. Chairman, and thank you for the opportunity to

         18  appear before this Committee on Housing and

         19  Buildings.

         20                 The Legal Aid Society appreciates the

         21  opportunity to comment on the proposed Intro. 363 in

         22  relation to illegal apartment conversions.

         23                 As you know, the Legal Aid Society

         24  provides the civil legal services through a network

         25  of neighborhood-based offices in all five boroughs
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          2  in New York City, and several Citywide units.

          3                 Annually, our civil legal services

          4  handles some 25,000 client cases, involving housing

          5  government benefits, HIV disability health care, and

          6  so on.

          7                 Many of our cases are referred to us

          8  by the constituent services staff of elected

          9  officials. The Legal Aid Society supports the intent

         10  of the proposed legislation introduced today, and

         11  recognizes the dedication and hard work of the

         12  Council Members and the Queens Borough President

         13  Claire Shulman, encountering the problem of illegal

         14  conversions.

         15                 The Queens Civil Division offices at

         16  the Legal Aid Society participated in the Borough

         17  President's Task Force on illegal conversions, over

         18  the past two years, and commends her for her

         19  willingness to tackle this difficult policy issue.

         20                 The Legal Aid Society comes to the

         21  issue of illegal conversions by way of our

         22  representation of tenants who, because of the lack

         23  of affordable housing alternatives, are often forced

         24  into housing of last resort.

         25                 Our primary concern is that no family
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          2  be placed in jeopardy of their life, health or

          3  safety because as the failure of an illegal unit to

          4  meet applicable building and fire codes.

          5                 Often these units are basement units

          6  which are below ground and have inadequate egress.

          7                 Recognizing the real danger to people

          8  inherent in apartments which do not undergo

          9  inspection, the approach taken in this bill, to hold

         10  sellers and purchasers to the law, is laudable.

         11                 However, as the principle

         12  organization providing legal services to the poor,

         13  we have also significant concern for the tenants who

         14  innocently rent illegal units and are suddenly

         15  informed that their only choice is to vacate those

         16  units immediately.

         17                 Sometimes the owner will exercise

         18  self-help and lock the tenant out of the apartment

         19  to minimize its penalties and avoid the legal

         20  system. Even where the owner takes legal action

         21  against the tenant, the tenant must find other

         22  housing in a very short time in an impossibly tight

         23  market.

         24                 Queens County is seeing a huge rise

         25  in its immigrant population, given the lack of
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          2  available space and its housing stock, predominantly

          3  a mix of one and two-family houses and three-unit

          4  buildings, allowing zoning variances may be the key

          5  to preserving housing alternatives for the

          6  burgeoning population without putting them in danger

          7  and keeping the dream of owning a home alive.

          8                 Many home-owners have purchased

          9  private homes by relying on income-producing

         10  apartments to pay the mortgage. Where the apartment

         11  can be in compliance with the building code, a

         12  change in zoning may allow the home owner to

         13  maintain the property and provide safe additional

         14  housing, which could ease the housing market. It is

         15  not clear how exactly to fashion the solution to

         16  enable an owner of a building containing an

         17  apartment which could be brought to code with little

         18  effort, but we should attempt to do so.

         19                 Our ability to think of innovative

         20  approaches to this problem is the key to preserving

         21  viable housing for all of the residents of the

         22  borough, such as Queens.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: I want to thank

         25  you, too, for participating. I don't know whether I
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          2  understand what you were saying, but you are a

          3  lawyer and therefore you are entitled to confuse me.

          4  Thank you so much.

          5                 MS. GIBSON-O'GARA: Well, --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: It's okay, I

          7  understand.

          8                 Cathryn Keeshan.

          9                 Mr. Chan Jamoona, is he here?

         10                 Okay, go ahead, Ms. Keeshan.

         11                 MS. KEESHAN: Thank you, sir. Thank

         12  you, Chairman Spigner, for permitting me to speak at

         13  this late hour, although I was the third person here

         14  this morning, I have been waiting until now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, thank you

         16  for your patience.

         17                 MS. KEESHAN: Thank you for saying

         18  that. For awhile there, I thought I wasn't speaking

         19  to an audience of one.

         20                 However, be that as it may, I could

         21  not reiterate everything that has been said here

         22  today at this hour, and I would not be in order if I

         23  did.

         24                 Just to introduce myself, I am

         25  Cathryn Keeshan. I am President of United Forties
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          2  Civic Association.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: United which?

          4  The United Forties?

          5                 MS. KEESHAN: Yes. United Forties

          6  Civic Association, which is registered with New York

          7  State and we are located in Lower Woodside Queens,

          8  or Western Woodside Queens. We are in Councilman

          9  McCaffrey's district.

         10                 Whatever has been said here today,

         11  that could be reiterated, however, there is one

         12  thing that I would like to bring before this group.

         13                 In my area of Queens, which is

         14  predominantly one and two-family homes, with many

         15  frame buildings going back to the 1920s, and where

         16  there is much need for the attention of the Building

         17  Department; however, I recognize the fact along with

         18  others that finding housing for all of the illegal

         19  people and legal people who are immigrants in our

         20  community is a Herculean task.

         21                 We do have, however, many abandoned

         22  factories in the Long Island City Woodside,

         23  Sunnyside area. It has come to my attention and I

         24  have thought about it, that many of these factories

         25  could be turned into affordable living conditions.
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          2  If

          3  Tribecca could be carved out of factories and lofts,

          4  I question why affordable housing could not be

          5  carved out of former factories in that area.

          6                 This would not mean that people who

          7  work and live in the area and want to continue to

          8  stay there would be greatly inconvenienced. That is

          9  one point that I wanted to make.

         10                 I also would like to take exception

         11  with one of the two things that was said at this

         12  meeting.

         13                 The definition of mother/daughter

         14  apartments in one and two-family houses, does not

         15  mean living below street level.

         16                 I have lived in Woodside all of the

         17  days of my life and I can tell you that the

         18  mother/daughter apartments that exist in that area

         19  were usually built somewhere in the late fifties or

         20  early sixties and they are walk-in. They are not

         21  below street level.

         22                 In addition to that, the only other

         23  point that I want to make is, I am also very

         24  familiar with Borough Park and Brooklyn, the housing

         25  stock there is far better constructed, usually being
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          2  brownstones or graystones, than those in my area of

          3  Queens.

          4                 I submit to the Council to please

          5  look into the fact that unoccupied buildings are

          6  good stock in the Woodside, Sunnyside area to be

          7  considered for reconversion into livable dwellings.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We thank you,

         10  Ms. Keeshan.

         11                 Chan Jamoona. I guess he is gone.

         12                 Michael Duvalle. Dorothy William

         13  Percy.

         14                 MS. WILLIAMS-PERERRA: My name is

         15  Dorothy Williams-Perrera.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Pererra, excuse

         17  me.

         18                 MS. WILLIAMS-PERERRA: Yes. I am not

         19  going to repeat a lot of things, because even people

         20  on both sides, I did not put a side that I took,

         21  even people on both sides have said some very

         22  important things and very significant things.

         23                 But I would like to say a few things

         24  in particular that bother me. Number one, I do

         25  believe that racial and religious problems have been
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          2  created by this. And I think that some of the people

          3  that have created them have done it deliberately.

          4                 I also find, and from personal

          5  experience, know that the inspectors are not doing

          6  the right jobs. There is a great deal of harassment

          7  going on through inspections. There is people who

          8  have horrible illegal basements that are in very bad

          9  condition who, for some reason, don't get inspected

         10  for six months, who have wiring, the Lilco Company

         11  can't seem to get out for a year to do an

         12  inspection, and yet, another place the inspection is

         13  done in the middle of the night the next day.

         14                 I mean, this is just incredible. And

         15  I think there should be inspectors on the

         16  inspectors. I think the Department of Buildings

         17  should be held responsible for the situation because

         18  if they were doing their job, these illegal

         19  conversion laws didn't start here. They weren't

         20  enforced.

         21                 The real estate brokers, some of

         22  them, not all but some of them are literally

         23  advertising the illegal conversions. Something is

         24  radically wrong here and it is radically wrong in a

         25  very basic level.
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          2                 The Department of Buildings is

          3  obviously the root of the problem, and somebody

          4  ought to recognize that it is not right for

          5  disparate enforcement of the law, it is

          6  unconstitutional.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Adrienne Sumouicz.

         11                 Followed by Dhan Raj.

         12                 MS. SUMOUICZ: Thank you, Mr. Spigner.

         13  I also thank you for sponsoring this bill, along

         14  with your colleagues Helen Marshall, and John Sabini

         15  who have been very active in helping us with the

         16  illegal conversion problem. And thanks to our

         17  Borough President, Claire Shulman, who took the bull

         18  by the horns, and also I must say thanks to the

         19  Building Department who has been very helpful to us

         20  with this, and they have come an awful long way in

         21  working with us and helping us, so I thank you

         22  personally.

         23                 My name is Adrienne Sumouicz, I am

         24  the Housing Director for the Jackson Heights

         25  Beautification Group and the Chair for the Post
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          2  Inspection Subcommittee of the Illegal Conversion

          3  Task Force of the Borough President.

          4                 This is a very serious issue. I urge

          5  you to vote for this intro. I like it as it stands,

          6  we have gone through some of the language with it,

          7  in fact we felt some of it was even too lenient with

          8  the per diem fines and waivering them. But there are

          9  concessions because you do see there are home owners

         10  that are making a valiant effort to correct the

         11  situation.

         12                 And it is a very simple situation. It

         13  is a health and safety issue. No other issues are

         14  involved in this. If you live in a bad apartment

         15  that is endangering people, whether they are renters

         16  or your family. I don't think your family is

         17  fireproof. I have never seen that happen. So, if you

         18  do not allow a form of egress, and you do not allow

         19  this to be a compliant apartment, it is illegal.

         20  People want to legalize it and it is an apartment

         21  that can be legalized, well go for it. Spend the

         22  money. Have the inspector come in, have your

         23  architect go over the plans, do it the right way and

         24  legalize the apartment, but nobody seems to want to

         25  spend money, which is the issue behind this.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            245

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2                 The realtors have an issue with money

          3  and the people that are making money on the illegal

          4  conversion, it is a money-making issue. So, nobody

          5  wants to spend money, yet everybody is yelling about

          6  where is everyone going to live. If people didn't

          7  extort people for $100 and $150 a week, two or three

          8  people could get together and live in a nice

          9  apartment.

         10                 There are apartments that are

         11  affordable in the area, including my area. I have

         12  gone to open houses where realtors have winked at me

         13  and said there is a basement here, you can make your

         14  mortgage.

         15                 I have seen it, I have gone there, we

         16  have done it. This is ridiculous. If good legal

         17  realtors would be happy to sign an affidavit, then I

         18  don't see why there should be any problem. Inform

         19  the tenant, and inform the people buying it, inform

         20  anybody, and including the mortgage, the banks,

         21  anything, that this apartment has an illegal

         22  dwelling, it is corrected. Again, there is the issue

         23  of escrow, money can be put aside, deals can go

         24  through, they know how to do it. But let's be up

         25  front with people, because all we hear in ECB
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          2  complaints is that I didn't know. I am sorry, I

          3  didn't know.

          4                 Well, now they will know, and if

          5  there is a problem facing any of these things, it is

          6  very up front and people shouldn't duck the issue.

          7                 Also, we have a problem here with

          8  overcrowding, which is an obvious issue if people

          9  can't see that all of our subsidies and everything

         10  that we have that are put out from the government

         11  are being over taxed, it is ridiculous. Because we

         12  are at the point now where we are busting at the

         13  seams. We have cars in driveways, people in schools.

         14  Look at the normal school situation, it is an

         15  obvious matter of fact. We must control the

         16  situation, but most of all, we must keep people

         17  safe, and I think that is the issue here, safety

         18  health conditions.

         19                 Also, we have per square foot law.

         20  When people are asking about family, or asking about

         21  who would live there, it is 80 square feet per

         22  person. Okay, you have your family in there, but

         23  there are normal living conditions where people

         24  don't bump into each other and kill each other in a

         25  normal household.
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          2                 The private homes that are being used

          3  for this are poorly maintained, therefore it sets a

          4  precedence for the rest of the homes in the area and

          5  everything else goes down the tubes very easily,

          6  because you don't want to live next to a house that

          7  the shutters are falling off and it has 10 million

          8  people coming in and out. The quality of life is

          9  very, very poor, but mostly the City is losing

         10  revenue.

         11                 There are people collecting this

         12  money that is illegal money and no one is reporting

         13  it.

         14                 The City itself should be angered

         15  over this and say if you want to get the money, if

         16  the apartment can be legalized, legalize it. If not,

         17  close it down. And I understand the problem with

         18  prayer and all of that stuff, that is wonderful. If

         19  the basement is used for prayer, it is also not used

         20  for living, unless someone is living there. We had

         21  an issue brought up to the task force, they want day

         22  care centers put in basements. Now, there are

         23  existing laws to protect children, day care centers

         24  don't belong in basements without forms of egress.

         25                 So, rather than to come forward to a
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          2  task force and see where everybody is studied up on

          3  their law, and studied up on basic things they can

          4  see in the community, come with resolution, and if

          5  people had come with resolution to this hearing

          6  today, we wouldn't have heard the arguments we

          7  heard.

          8                 And also as far as seller realtor and

          9  all of that, where they were talking about having

         10  inspections, they do an inspection for termites. I

         11  guess termites are more important than if you see

         12  somebody live in an illegal apartment that can be

         13  burned.

         14                 I mean, I find it totally illogical.

         15  People should not have a problem with signing off on

         16  these affidavits, and it is a very, very simple

         17  issue.

         18                 We have laws here that are enacted

         19  for 200 years. They are good laws, some need

         20  modification, you go along and we change them, that

         21  is why we are here, to work together. But to come in

         22  and say throw all the laws out, well, I don't know

         23  where you came from then, because this country did

         24  pretty good with these laws, and I am pretty happy

         25  with our representation.
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          2                 And as far as everything goes, I urge

          3  you again to please vote on this legislation

          4  positively, and the answer to illegal conversions is

          5  very simple, if people legalize them if they can be,

          6  legalize can save lives. It is a very simple issue,

          7  and that is all we are fighting for. It is not

          8  against anyone, it is complaint-driven agencies that

          9  we ask, just ask for what is right is right. Save

         10  our communities and save our people in them.

         11                 Thank you very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we thank

         13  you.

         14                 Bart Goft.

         15                 Will you identify yourself, sir?

         16                 MR. GOFT: Yes. My name is Bart Goft,

         17  and I am presently the Program Director of the

         18  Housing Assistance Unit at the Pomanac Neighborhood

         19  Center (phonetic), and Chair of the Housing

         20  Committee of CB 3, Queens, one of the most diverse

         21  communities in the City, not only technically, but

         22  financially as well. It also has its share of

         23  illegally converted apartments. I am also a member

         24  of the Queens Borough President's Task Force on

         25  Illegal Conversions. I was previously a fair housing
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          2  counselor and Housing Court mediator under contract

          3  with HPD. The mandate of that contract was to

          4  prevent discrimination and homelessness.

          5                 I would like to focus my testimony on

          6  the component that is being proposed to amend the

          7  Administrative Code that requires certification at

          8  closing by the purchaser, seller and real estate

          9  agent. I submit to you the following situation that

         10  occurred in my office last week.

         11                 A property with a two-family house

         12  came to see me. She was referred by Community Board

         13  8 in Queens. She agreed that she had an illegal

         14  cellar apartment in her house because the HPD code

         15  enforcement inspector said so on the tenants'

         16  request for inspection.

         17                 The tenants requested this inspection

         18  as part of an HPD action against the owner, because

         19  according to the owner, she asked the tenants to

         20  move out since she was selling the house. The

         21  tenants on the second floor had already moved out.

         22                 The owner told me that the tenant,

         23  two adults and two school-aged children moved in

         24  approximately four or five years ago. At that time

         25  the tenants said they would only be there a few
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          2  months and that the husband was a doctor.

          3                 In the tenants' request for

          4  inspection no less than eight conditions for

          5  validation by the inspector were listed, including

          6  no heat, no radiators, no proper lighting for a

          7  walkway, and here is the kicker - continues to

          8  harass us, meaning the tenant is saying that the

          9  owners continue to harass us, while still cashing

         10  social service checks for rent. Social services

         11  checks, as we know, is from Human Resources, Public

         12  Assistance, Income Maintenance, that is what it is

         13  all about.

         14                 One of the purposes of the task force

         15  on the illegal conversions is to be an educational

         16  tool for owners, especially newly arrived immigrant

         17  tenants and any others, like real estate dealers,

         18  insurance underwriters, banks and also government

         19  agencies.

         20                 When a person or a family requests a

         21  shelter allowance from public assistance, the IM

         22  center needs to see a lease or a letter from the

         23  owner stating the address and location of the

         24  apartment.

         25                 Is there no site visit prior to the
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          2  expenditure of the shelter allowance to validate the

          3  actual resident?

          4                 There is currently a unit in the

          5  Human Resources Administration known as EVR,

          6  Eligibility Verification Review, that goes usually

          7  unannounced to make site visits at the residences of

          8  public assistance recipients.

          9                 If a recipient is not home, there is

         10  a good possibility that this would be considered

         11  non-compliant and a notice of intent to discontinue

         12  public assistance is sent to the recipient.

         13                 During the past four to five years,

         14  while this family received taxpayer public

         15  assistance, no one from HRA felt it might be wrong

         16  to give a shelter allowance in an illegal apartment.

         17  As part of the educational process, an early

         18  detection by HRA could have instructed the tenant on

         19  another lodging, and also advise the owner of the

         20  alleged violation with HPD/DOB validation.

         21                 I would like to quickly point out

         22  that while the Board of Education is building

         23  schools to take care of their overcrowding, they do

         24  not take a proactive role in finding out where or

         25  what are the living conditions of their children.
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          2                 If the City does not take a holistic

          3  approach to the needs and solutions of our citizens,

          4  we are just spinning our wheels in quicksand.

          5                 Now, I have just two suggestions:

          6  There should be, and I made these suggestions last

          7  week or two weeks ago at Assemblyman Vito Lopez'

          8  Housing Committee on Affordable Housing, one is to

          9  possibly enact legislation that would put a

         10  surcharge, a very small surcharge, similar to what

         11  they have with Safe City- Safe Streets on the

         12  utility bill and for the MTA, but a small surcharge

         13  on home owner's rent insurance that will be set

         14  aside specifically for building inspectors, of DOB

         15  and HPD to do the cyclical inspections as you

         16  alluded to before that stopped and not have been

         17  continued, of every house, and just use the excuse,

         18  one little excuse, I want to see your smoke

         19  detector.

         20                 But anyway, and I am not being

         21  facetious, but the surcharges be set aside for

         22  inspectors to go out to every type of house, whether

         23  it be a one family or the Trump Towers.

         24                 The other thing, if in fact we do

         25  find illegal conversion in the basement, that could
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          2  be brought up to code. That could be brought up to

          3  code. They should be used as set-asides, like we

          4  used to do in discrimination suits, and we still do,

          5  the set aside for senior citizens who are being

          6  displaced, and you are going to see over the next

          7  ten years a lot of senior citizens being displaced

          8  who are living in non-regulated apartments, and they

          9  must have a place to live if there is no senior

         10  housing for them.

         11                 This would be a set-aside, instead of

         12  throwing this Al Capone type, as Mr. Fraser would

         13  allude to as the Department of Buildings, into jail

         14  for tax evasion, to force the landlord to put that

         15  apartment up to code and put the senior in there as

         16  the set-aside with SCRIE provisions, as opposed to

         17  putting them in jail.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Richard Wessely, is he here? Mr.

         22  Wessely? Followed by, and we are winding down, Fran

         23  Lieu. Is she here? John Liu, I don't see him.

         24                 Identify yourself, sir, please, and

         25  we will be pleased to hear your testimony.
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          2                 MR. WESSELY: Good afternoon. My name

          3  is Richard Wessely, and I am a member of the Board

          4  of Directors of the Ridgewood Property Owners and

          5  Civic Association and a member of the Queens Civic

          6  Congress.

          7                 For over ten years I have been

          8  reporting to the Buildings Department illegal uses

          9  in our community. Finally, after many false starts

         10  we are starting to see results, although modest.

         11                 Intro. 363-A, and the proposed access

         12  statue would go a long way to continuing to help the

         13  Buildings Department to do a better job.

         14                 Helping us community volunteers at

         15  the grassroots level get better results on our

         16  enforcement efforts, let me give the Council

         17  Committee a sample of what we are up against at the

         18  grassroots level.

         19                 I have attached a chart on the

         20  buildings in Ridgewood and Glendale that have been

         21  purchased by a husband and wife team over the recent

         22  past years.

         23                 It is our understanding that the

         24  husband is a former New York City Fire Department

         25  employee, and I can vouch for that, and his wife is
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          2  an attorney. They live out on Long Island. They had

          3  bought some 17 two, three and four-family homes in

          4  our community. Every one of their properties they

          5  purchased was soon after they purchased it,

          6  converted to an illegal use.

          7                 Here we have absentee owners who are

          8  milking their properties with illegal uses and the

          9  Buildings Department can't get in to inspect their

         10  properties.

         11                 Intro. 363 and the access provision

         12  will stop this couple from destroying our community.

         13                 Please pass both provisions to help

         14  protect our communities from unscrupulous absentee

         15  owners like the ones I have just described.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We thank you,

         18  sir, for your time.

         19                 Amelia Kent?

         20                 MS. KENT: I am here.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Followed by

         22  Amelia Kent, and then John Liu, I don't see him.

         23                 MS. LIEU: My name is Fran Lieu. I am

         24  Zoning Chair for Jamaica Estates Association in

         25  Queens. We have approximately 1,900 homes and were
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          2  zoned all on --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is that both

          4  sides of Grand Central Parkway?

          5                 MS. LIEU: No, we are north of

          6  Hillside, east of --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: South of Grand

          8  Central?

          9                 MS. LIEU: Union Turnpike. Do you know

         10  where St. John's is?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: So it is both

         12  sides of the Grand Central Parkway?

         13                 MS. LIEU: Yes. I am sorry. Okay.

         14                 Let me just say I am here to urge --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Let me just say,

         16  how do you have a cohesive group on both sides of

         17  that ditch? That has got to be a psychological, as

         18  well as a philosophical -- you know, the physical

         19  division.

         20                 But anyway, that is another meeting.

         21                 MS. LIEU: Okay, I will come back.

         22                 Let me just say that for many years

         23  we thought it was unstoppable, the steamroller of

         24  illegal conversions. We have had landlords openly

         25  dividing their homes, I have been spit at, I have
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          2  had my windows smashed three times for turning them

          3  in, real nice people.

          4                 1997 finally came along and there was

          5  hope with Intro. 959, which was supported by Mayor

          6  Giuliani, and our Queens Borough President, Claire

          7  Shulman. And I am very proud that the City Council

          8  unanimously, I think it was 45 to zero past that, it

          9  increased the fines and was really a wonderful step

         10  forward.

         11                 However, I said to myself well I will

         12  wait and see, is this going to work.

         13                 I am very happy to report that in

         14  Jamaica Estates there has been a noticeable change.

         15  Violations are being issued, fines are being

         16  imposed, and one unexpected result is that many of

         17  these illegally converted homes that we have turned

         18  in are suddenly on the market for sale.

         19                 You can speculate on this, but I have

         20  a feeling that these landlords are getting the

         21  message that the cashcow died. That is the good

         22  news.

         23                 There is also bad news. Many of these

         24  houses that were illegally converted, I am going to

         25  talk about sales prices. Midland Parkway, which is
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          2  probably our premiere street, you know, it is the

          3  big houses. One of my duties is to track sales, our

          4  civic association.

          5                 A couple of months ago we had a house

          6  on Midland Parkway that had been illegally

          7  converted, a one family, into four. We went after

          8  him for two years, he gave up. Now, ten years ago

          9  that house sold for 433 --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Where was that

         11  house located?

         12                 MS. LIEU: 8535 Midland.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: That is on this

         14  side --

         15                 MS. LIEU: South.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Is that right

         17  near the Grand Central?

         18                 MS. LIEU: Do you know where Wexford

         19  Terrace is?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Yes.

         21                 MS. LIEU: It is about halfway up that

         22  block.

         23                 Anyway, after two years of really

         24  pursuing him, he gave up.

         25                 A couple of months ago that house
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          2  sold for 287. Now in this market that house should

          3  have gone up. That is a steep, steep drop. Now it's

          4  not an anomaly because I had another house on

          5  Chelsea which had been a rooming house, these were

          6  not related people, these were all young men, I

          7  would say from 19 to 20, using it as an auto repair

          8  shop, we got after them. The absentee landlord

          9  finally put it on the market for $150,000. Now that

         10  is in a block where the houses sell for 350. Let me

         11  tell you what we feel about illegal conversions, it

         12  is not good for us. And unfortunately we still have

         13  too many. The legislation has helped tremendously

         14  and I thank the Buildings Department. I know they

         15  hate me, I am after them constantly, but they are

         16  there and they have helped.

         17                 And I do believe this additional 363

         18  will further help the Buildings Department.

         19                 Our neighborhood density is

         20  determined by zoning, the law is the law, and I just

         21  hope this passes and I thank you all very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: And we thank you

         23  for your time and testimony.

         24                 Yes, identify yourself, please.

         25                 MS. KENT: I am Amelia Kent, Vice
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          2  President of the Queens Village Civic Association,

          3  and I was supposed to speak for --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: What side of

          5  Queens, the north side or the south side?

          6                 MS. KENT: The south side.

          7                 MR. RAMGARAB: Our boundaries are

          8  Springfield Boulevard on the East, Jamaica Avenue on

          9  the South, Hollis Court Boulevard on the West, and

         10  Hillside Avenue on the North.

         11                 My name is Nagasa Ramgarab, I am the

         12  president of the Queens Village Civic Association.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: We have met.

         14                 MR. RAMGARAB: We have met.

         15                 Dear Council members, this testimony

         16  is in support of proposed Intro. 363-A. Let me state

         17  clearly that we are not, and I stress, we are not

         18  against conversion, renovation or basement

         19  apartments, providing that these places all meet

         20  safety, fire, health, zoning and building codes.

         21                 Basement rentals, rooming houses,

         22  illegal conversions, have plagued Queens Village for

         23  a long, long time.

         24                 These activities have put severe

         25  strain on all municipal services from health care to
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          2  classrooms. There is a direct correlation to

          3  overcrowded classrooms, to increase asthma and air

          4  quality illnesses created by illegal activities.

          5                 We, in Queens Village, are

          6  desperately trying to preserve the quality of life

          7  in our village.

          8                 This bill is only a small help in

          9  that direction. Enforcement will hopefully reverse

         10  the decay of our beloved Queens Village.

         11                 Twenty years ago I moved to Queens

         12  Village because I wanted something better for my

         13  children, my wife and myself. I do not want to live

         14  in any area where on street parking is hazardous to

         15  one's health or life.

         16                 We do not want Queens Village to

         17  become another Richmond Hill, and may I say that

         18  again. We do not want Queens Village to become

         19  another Richmond Hill.

         20                 My religion Hinduism preaches and

         21  teaches us to abide by the laws of our country, the

         22  state, the city, the village and even the care

         23  system and we have family laws also. We have to

         24  abide by those.

         25                 I fail to see the connection of
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          2  family extension and total disregard for the law of

          3  the City. One does not place a dear parent or

          4  relative in a basement or attic and demand cash

          5  rental every month. This is shear greed.

          6                 Most basement renters move into homes

          7  and the cycle starts all over again.

          8                 This is something that nobody

          9  addressed nowhere. In this country you do not have

         10  to be a legal resident or a citizen, anyone can buy

         11  a home. Anyone can buy a home, and many illegal

         12  immigrants are falsely led to believe that by

         13  ownership of property they will automatically become

         14  or gain resident alien status.

         15                 Again, this whole illegal stuff is

         16  driven by greed and greed alone.

         17                 Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Thank you for

         19  your testimony.

         20                 I just want to ask one question. How

         21  do you respond to some of the statements by those

         22  who testified before, who I can believe by their

         23  testimony Hindu or Muslim, that they say that their

         24  religion is compromised?

         25                 MR. RAMGARAB: What they are talking

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            264

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  about, basement area to pray, and whatnot -- I am a

          3  practicing Hindu, I am the former president of a

          4  large Hindu group in East Elmhurst, and no where in

          5  our tenets it states that.  I am telling you they

          6  are outright lying to you. It is not that way. You

          7  just have to visit these facilities and see what

          8  they are talking about.

          9                 It is shear greed. Nothing else but

         10  greed. Unreported income that don't have to be

         11  taxed.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SPIGNER: Well, sir, I

         13  want to thank you for your testimony.

         14                 We will close on that note, and since

         15  there are no other requests to testify, then this

         16  meeting is adjourned.

         17                 MR. RAMGARAB: Thank you very much.

         18                 (Hearing concluded at 3:02 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 19th day of November 1999.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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